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(i) 

QUESTION PRESENTED 

When a criminal statute requires proof of 
knowledge, may the defendant be convicted upon a 
finding of deliberate indifference? 



 

(ii) 

PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING 

Petitioner Todd S. Farha was defendant-appellant 
below.  Respondent United States was appellee below.  
Peter E. Clay, Paul L. Behrens, and William L. Kale 
were also defendants-appellants below. 
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IN THE 

Supreme Court of the United States 
 

No. 16- 
 

TODD S. FARHA, 
Petitioner, 

v. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
Respondent. 

 
ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

 

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

 

Todd S. Farha respectfully petitions for a writ of 
certiorari to review the judgment of the United States 
Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. 

INTRODUCTION 

This case presents the question whether petitioner 
Todd Farha could lawfully be convicted of “knowingly” 
executing a healthcare fraud by submitting false state-
ments to the government, on the basis of a finding that 
he was deliberately indifferent to the truth or falsity of 
the statements.  This Court’s decision in Global-Tech 
Appliances, Inc. v. SEB S.A., 563 U.S. 754 (2011), an-
swers that question:  A statutory knowledge require-
ment cannot be satisfied by proof of deliberate indiffer-
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ence.  The Eleventh Circuit’s contrary holding that de-
liberate indifference is a permissible standard for prov-
ing knowledge of falsity—on the theory that Global-
Tech was “a civil patent-infringement case,” “not a 
criminal fraud case,” and therefore inapplicable, App. 
100a—cannot be squared with Global-Tech or the many 
decisions of other courts of appeals that have applied 
Global-Tech in criminal cases.  Indeed, although the 
prosecution urged that rationale below, the Solicitor 
General has now conceded it is wrong. 

The prosecution arose from an ambiguity in Flori-
da’s regulation of managed healthcare plans.  Farha 
was the CEO of WellCare Health Plans, Inc., a sponsor 
of such plans.  A Florida statute required two of Well-
Care’s subsidiary plans to report annually how much 
money they had expended for “the provision of behav-
ioral health care services.”  Fla. Stat. § 409.912(4)(b) 
(2006).  But it was unclear how that requirement ap-
plied to healthcare plans that chose to subcontract the 
provision of behavioral healthcare to specialized behav-
ioral health organizations, known as BHOs:  Should 
plans report as their expenditures for “the provision of 
behavioral health care services” the amounts they paid 
the BHOs to provide such services, or only the amounts 
the BHOs paid to third-party behavioral-health profes-
sionals?  The state regulator was aware of this ambigui-
ty but chose not to resolve it. 

WellCare’s plans adopted the former approach, 
basing their expenditure reports on the amounts they 
paid to a BHO affiliated with WellCare.  The State had 
ample civil options to investigate and challenge that 
calculation, but it never did.  Indeed, not until after 
federal investigators raided WellCare’s headquarters 
did the State ever articulate an interpretation of the 
statute contrary to the one WellCare adopted.  Instead, 
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the federal government charged Farha and four col-
leagues with healthcare fraud and related offenses, al-
leging that they had executed the fraud by submitting 
false expenditure reports to the State. 

The federal healthcare-fraud statute required the 
government to prove the “knowing[] … execut[ion]” of 
a fraud.  18 U.S.C. § 1347(a).  The Eleventh Circuit has 
held (and the panel below agreed) that this statutory 
requirement means “the defendant must be shown to 
have known that the claims submitted were, in fact, 
false.”  United States v. Medina, 485 F.3d 1291, 1297 
(11th Cir. 2007); see App. 95a.  And the government 
proceeded on that understanding, charging the defend-
ants with having executed the fraud by “knowingly and 
willfully engag[ing] in the … [s]ubmission of false and 
fraudulent” reports to the State.  C.A. App. 1 ¶ 32 (in-
dictment).1 

Thus, a key dispute at trial was whether Farha and 
his colleagues knew the expenditure reports were false.  
That question was hotly contested.  Ample evidence 
showed that the defendants had good reason to believe 
the methodology they adopted was legally defensible.  
Yet the district court did not require the jury to find 
knowledge of falsity before convicting Farha and his 
codefendants of healthcare fraud.  Instead, the court 
allowed the jury to convict if it found that the defend-
ants acted “with deliberate indifference as to the 
truth.”  App. 137a.  The district court gave that instruc-
tion over the defendants’ objection, based on Global-
Tech.  The Eleventh Circuit affirmed, holding that 
Global-Tech did not apply. 

                                                 
1 “C.A. App. 1” refers to document 1 on the district court 

docket. 
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The opinion below conflicts not only with Global-
Tech, but also with the many appellate decisions apply-
ing it in criminal cases.  And it defies bedrock principles 
of how to interpret criminal statutes.  This Court has 
repeatedly held that mental-state elements of criminal 
offenses are sacrosanct—so much so that the Court has 
been willing to read them into statutes even where 
Congress was silent.  Yet the Eleventh Circuit held 
that a statute explicitly drafted to require proof the de-
fendant acted “knowingly” could be satisfied by proof of 
deliberate indifference.  The Eleventh Circuit’s holding 
will dilute the statutorily specified mens rea require-
ment in the many healthcare-fraud prosecutions 
brought in that Circuit, allowing defendants to be con-
victed for statements that they did not know were 
false.  And its logic extends to the many other federal 
statutes containing knowledge elements. 

This case exemplifies the importance of the mens 
rea requirement undermined by the Eleventh Circuit, 
which is why the National Association of Criminal De-
fense Lawyers, the Washington Legal Foundation, the 
Cato Institute, the Reason Foundation, and twelve pro-
fessors of criminal and business law urged the Eleventh 
Circuit to grant rehearing en banc.  The district court 
in effect allowed the jury to convict Farha—a non-
lawyer and the busy chief executive of a large compa-
ny—by finding that he was insufficiently cautious in 
adopting an interpretation of an ambiguous regulatory 
statute that the state and federal governments only 
later decided was incorrect.  By undermining the statu-
tory knowledge requirement, the Eleventh Circuit de-
prived Farha of his liberty over an interpretive dispute 
that should have been resolved in civil litigation and 
does not amount to the crime Congress defined. 
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OPINIONS BELOW 

The court of appeals’ opinion (App. 1a-109a) is re-
ported at 832 F.3d 1259.  The court of appeals’ order 
denying rehearing (App. 111a-112a) is unreported.  The 
judgment of conviction (C.A. App. 884) is unreported. 

JURISDICTION 

The court of appeals entered judgment on August 
11, 2016.  The court of appeals denied a timely petition 
for rehearing on October 18, 2016.  This Court’s juris-
diction rests on 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1). 

STATUTE INVOLVED 

The federal healthcare-fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1347, provides: 

(a) Whoever knowingly and willfully executes, or 
attempts to execute, a scheme or artifice— 

(1) to defraud any health care benefit program; or 

(2) to obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pre-
tenses, representations, or promises, any of the money 
or property owned by, or under the custody or control 
of, any health care benefit program, 

in connection with the delivery of or payment for health 
care benefits, items, or services, shall be fined under 
this title or imprisoned not more than 10 years, or both.  
If the violation results in serious bodily injury (as de-
fined in section 1365 of this title), such person shall be 
fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 
years, or both; and if the violation results in death, such 
person shall be fined under this title, or imprisoned for 
any term of years or for life, or both. 
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(b) With respect to violations of this section, a per-
son need not have actual knowledge of this section or 
specific intent to commit a violation of this section. 

STATEMENT 

This healthcare-fraud prosecution arose out of the 
defendants’ compliance with a Florida statute.  A key 
issue was whether the defendants knew their interpre-
tation of that statute was incorrect. 

1. In 2002, the Florida Legislature enacted a law 
colloquially known as the “80/20 statute.”  Until its re-
cent repeal, the statute governed all healthcare plans 
receiving state Medicaid funds as premiums to provide 
behavioral-health (i.e., mental-health) services to Flori-
da residents under contracts with Florida’s Agency for 
Health Care Administration (AHCA).  The statute re-
quired plans to spend 80% of the premium funds on 
“the provision of behavioral health care services” or re-
fund any shortfall to AHCA.  Fla. Stat. § 409.912(4)(b) 
(2006).  To effectuate that requirement, the contracts 
between AHCA and the WellCare plans at issue in this 
case required the plans to report their behavioral-
health expenditures each year using a “spreadsheet 
template” to be provided by AHCA.  C.A. App. 699 
(GX-3305 at .0166).  The relevant contracts defined the 
expenditures in question as “the total amount, in dol-
lars, paid directly or indirectly to community behavior-
al health services providers solely for the provision of 
community behavioral health services, not including 
administrative expenses or overhead of the plan.”  Id. 
(GX-3305 at .0167).2 

                                                 
2 The quoted contract language is from the contract between 

AHCA and one of the Plans for 2006-2009, the period that included 
the 80/20 expenditure reports for which Farha was convicted. 
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Because of the unique challenges of behavioral-
health services, it is common for general healthcare 
plans to subcontract provision of those services to spe-
cialized behavioral health organizations, known as 
BHOs.  AHCA’s contracts expressly permitted that 
approach. 

From the start, however, AHCA recognized a seri-
ous ambiguity in the 80/20 requirement’s application to 
any healthcare plan that subcontracted the provision of 
behavioral-health services to a BHO.  Such a plan 
would pay the BHO a portion (known as a “sub-
capitation”) of the premium (known as a “capitation”) 
that the plan received from AHCA.  The BHO would 
provide case-management services and also pay behav-
ioral-health professionals who provided care for pa-
tients.  The ambiguity was whether the plan should re-
port as its expenditures for “the provision of behavioral 
health services” the amount it paid the BHO to provide 
such services or only the amounts the BHO ultimately 
paid to the third parties who contracted with the BHO 
to serve patients.  That ambiguity was apparent even 
to AHCA, the state agency charged with enforcing the 
80/20 statute.  In an email sent the year the 80/20 stat-
ute was enacted, an AHCA employee observed that 
“[t]he HMO’s capitate the BHO’s and the BHO’s sub-
capitate the community mental health centers who per-
form the mentioned services,” and asked:  “Who do we 
want the 80/20 from[?]”  C.A. App. 51-1 (2). 

AHCA officials considered whether to resolve that 
ambiguity by inserting language in their contracts with 
healthcare plans to clarify that the plans could not re-
port as expenditures the amounts they paid to BHOs.  
C.A. App. 474 (52-53).  But AHCA never took that step.  
Id. (53).  Nor did AHCA ever promulgate a regulation 



8 

 

on the subject, as would have been necessary to set 
binding policy.  Fla. Stat. §§ 120.52(16), 120.54(1)(a).3 

2. In 2002, the year the 80/20 statute was enacted, 
Farha became CEO of WellCare Health Plans, Inc.  He 
oversaw WellCare’s rapidly growing, multibillion-dollar 
enterprise in numerous states. 

Two of WellCare’s subsidiary healthcare plans (the 
“Plans”) received premiums from AHCA to provide 
behavioral-health services to Florida residents and 
were thus required to comply with the 80/20 statute.  
Confronted with what one government witness called 
the “quagmire” resulting from AHCA’s failure to regu-
late (C.A. App. 563 (43)), Farha turned to his trusted 
in-house and outside legal counsel—including a former 
Florida Medicaid director—to oversee the Plans’ com-
pliance with the statute. 

WellCare ultimately determined that it would sub-
contract the Plans’ provision of behavioral-health ser-
vices to a BHO created by WellCare—a company 
known as Harmony Behavioral Health, Inc.  The Plans 
then based their reported expenditures for “the provi-
sion of behavioral health care services” on the amounts 
they paid Harmony to provide such services. 

WellCare concededly pursued this approach in part 
to save the Plans money, relative to the alternative of 
basing the Plans’ 80/20 submissions on the amounts 
paid by Harmony to third parties who delivered behav-
ioral-healthcare services.  But there was ample evi-
dence from which the jury could have found that Farha 
and his colleagues reasonably believed the approach 
was permissible. 

                                                 
3 Cover letters that AHCA sent to the plans together with the 

annual reporting templates did not address the BHO issue either. 
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First, the Plans were unquestionably permitted to 
subcontract behavioral-health services to a BHO.  Their 
contracts with AHCA expressly allowed them to do so.  
C.A. App. 699 (GX-3305 at .0164).  As the government 
acknowledged at trial, Harmony was no sham corpora-
tion; it was a nationally accredited BHO that provided 
services exceeding AHCA’s standards, according to an 
agency audit.  C.A. App. 473 (35-36, 77), 474 (7-8, 11), 
487 (105-111), 488 (81), 489 (72), 677 (40).  And the only 
witness to opine on the competitiveness of the rates 
paid by the Plans to Harmony testified that they were 
“reasonable” and “appropriate.”  C.A. App. 647 (47). 

Second, WellCare’s in-house and outside counsel 
believed that it was reasonable under the statute and 
contracts to use payments to an affiliated BHO (like 
Harmony) as a basis for calculating 80/20 expenditures.  
C.A. App. 559 (71), 563 (59, 76), 584 (99), 760 (22).  In 
particular, counsel advised the company that the pay-
ment to Harmony was one option for reporting (C.A. 
App. 699 (GX-1131a.0003)) and that AHCA had never 
objected when other major healthcare plans calculated 
their 80/20 expenditures on the basis of payments to 
affiliated entities (C.A. App. 584 (94-96)).  And AHCA 
was aware that Harmony and WellCare were affiliated.  
C.A. App. 466 (102-103), 588 (10-11), 761 (143). 

Third, although the Plans’ contracts with AHCA 
required them to report only the amounts they “paid 
directly or indirectly to community behavioral health 
services providers” (C.A. App. 699 (GX-3305 at .0167)), 
Farha and his colleagues had good reason to think 
Harmony qualified as a “provider.”  The contracts de-
scribed subcontracts with BHOs like Harmony as “Be-
havioral Health Provider Contracts.”  Id. (GX-3305 at 
.0164) (emphasis added).  And multiple government 
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witnesses testified that Harmony was a type of provid-
er.  C.A. App. 465 (86), 584 (91). 

3. In 2011, the United States indicted Farha and 
four of his WellCare colleagues—Thaddeus Bereday, 
Paul Behrens, William Kale, and Peter Clay—on charg-
es of conspiracy, healthcare fraud, and false statements 
relating to healthcare matters.4  This petition challeng-
es Farha’s convictions for healthcare fraud. 

The federal healthcare-fraud statute makes it a 
crime to “knowingly and willfully execute[], or at-
tempt[] to execute, a scheme or artifice” either “to de-
fraud any health care benefit program” or “to obtain, 
by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representa-
tions, or promises, any of the money or property owned 
by, or under the custody or control of, any health care 
benefit program.”  18 U.S.C. § 1347(a).  The indictment 
defined the “[e]xecution” of the alleged fraud in this 
case as the “[s]ubmission” to AHCA “of false and 
fraudulent … behavioral health care services expendi-
ture information” for both Plans, for the 2005 and 2006 
calendar years—submissions that occurred in June 
2006 and April 2007, respectively.  C.A. App. 1 ¶ 32. 

Because § 1347 criminalizes only the “knowing[] … 
execut[ion]” of a fraud, and because the execution 
charged in this case was the submission of false state-
ments, the government could convict Farha and his 
codefendants only by proving that they “knowingly” 
submitted false statements to AHCA—i.e., that they 
knew the Plans’ submissions were false.  See, e.g., Unit-
ed States v. Medina, 485 F.3d 1291, 1297 (11th Cir. 
2007) (“[I]n a health care fraud case, the defendant 
                                                 

4 The government also indicted Clay on two counts of false 
statements to federal agents.  Bereday’s prosecution was later 
severed. 
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must be shown to have known that the claims submit-
ted were, in fact, false.”).  The government was similar-
ly required to prove the defendants’ knowledge of falsi-
ty to convict them of making false statements relating 
to healthcare matters in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1035—
charges that rested on precisely the same statements 
that were the subject of the healthcare-fraud counts.  
C.A. App. 1 ¶ 28 (indictment); App. 136a (jury instruc-
tions). 

4. The case proceeded to a three-month trial in 
2013.  A central factual dispute at trial was whether 
Farha and his codefendants knew it was impermissible 
to base the Plans’ submissions on amounts paid to 
Harmony, and thus knew the submissions were false.5  
As noted above, there was ample evidence from which 
the jury could have found that Farha and his codefend-
ants did not possess the required knowledge.  See su-
pra pp. 8-10.   

But the district court did not require the jury to 
find that Farha and his colleagues knew the submis-
sions were false in order to convict them of healthcare 
fraud.  Instead, the court allowed the jury to convict 
the defendants of healthcare fraud in two alternative 
ways.  First, the jury could convict by finding that the 
defendants actually knew the submissions were untrue 

                                                 
5 The prosecution also argued—largely on the basis of the re-

porting methodologies used in years for which Farha was either 
acquitted or not even charged—that the reported amounts were 
made up to meet predetermined targets, and did not reflect the 
amounts actually paid to Harmony.  But the government’s star 
witness explained that the reported amounts for the sole year of 
conviction were the actual payments to Harmony, adjusted down-
ward—i.e., in the State’s favor—to exclude a portion of the subcap-
itation corresponding to services that AHCA contended did not 
count.  Behrens C.A. Br. 27-31. 
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or were willfully blind to their falsity—in other words, 
that they were “aware of a high probability” the sub-
missions were false and “took deliberate action to avoid 
learning” the truth.  App. 135a, 137a.  Second, the jury 
could convict by finding that the defendants acted with 
“deliberate indifference as to the truth” of the submis-
sions.  App. 137a (emphasis added). 

The district court gave that instruction over the de-
fendants’ objections that it contravened this Court’s 
holding in Global-Tech Appliances, Inc. v. SEB S.A., 
563 U.S. 754 (2011), that a knowledge requirement can-
not be satisfied by proof of deliberate indifference.  
App. 113a-134a.  Arguing for the instruction, the gov-
ernment dismissed Global-Tech as a case about “actual 
knowledge of patent infringement,” contended that the 
Eleventh Circuit had “limit[ed] Global-Tech to one spe-
cific area of intellectual property law,” and asserted 
that Global-Tech did not set “the standard of intent for 
a fraud case.”  App. 119a, 124a. 

In contrast to the deliberate-indifference instruction 
that it gave on the healthcare-fraud counts, the district 
court instructed the jury, consistent with Global-Tech, 
that it could convict the defendants of false statements 
relating to healthcare matters only if they “acted … 
knowing that the statement[s] [were] false” or were will-
fully blind to the statements’ falsity.  App. 135a-136a.6 

                                                 
6 The statute criminalizing false statements relating to 

healthcare matters provides in relevant part that “[w]hoever, in 
any matter involving a health care benefit program, knowingly and 
willfully … makes any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent 
statements or representations, or makes or uses any materially 
false writing or document knowing the same to contain any mate-
rially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry, in connec-
tion with the delivery of or payment for health care benefits, 



13 

 

After receiving the erroneous healthcare-fraud in-
struction—and after protracted deliberations and an 
Allen charge—the jury convicted Farha of two counts 
of healthcare fraud for the Plans’ April 2007 submis-
sions to AHCA.  But it acquitted Farha of false state-
ments for the same set of submissions—charges for 
which the district court properly required the jury to 
find knowledge of falsity rather than mere deliberate 
indifference.  The jury also acquitted Farha of both 
healthcare fraud and false statements for the June 2006 
submissions, and hung on the conspiracy count. 

The district court dismissed the hung counts 
against Farha and the other defendants and sentenced 
Farha to three years in prison and two years of super-
vised release.  The court permitted Farha to remain 
free pending appeal to the Eleventh Circuit. 

5. The Eleventh Circuit affirmed.  The court reaf-
firmed that “in a health care fraud case such as this, 
‘the defendant must be shown to have known that the 
claims submitted were, in fact, false.’”  App. 95a.  But 
the court declined to test the knowledge-of-falsity in-
structions given to the jury against the standard this 
Court set in Global-Tech.  Instead, the Eleventh Cir-
cuit “reject[ed] the claim that Global-Tech alone con-
trols this criminal § 1347 fraud case,” on the theory that 
Global-Tech was “a civil patent-infringement case,” 
“not a criminal fraud case.”  App. 100a.  The court held, 
notwithstanding Global-Tech, that “a defendant’s 
knowledge can be proven in more than one way,” and in 
particular that “[r]epresentations made with deliberate 
indifference to the truth and with intent to defraud ad-

                                                                                                    
items, or services, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not 
more than 5 years, or both.”  18 U.S.C. § 1035(a). 
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equately satisfy the knowledge requirement” of the 
healthcare-fraud statute.  App. 95a. 

In reaching that conclusion, the Eleventh Circuit 
relied heavily on the fact that the “deliberate indiffer-
ence” instruction comported with the Circuit’s pattern 
jury instruction for healthcare fraud, adopted prior to 
Global-Tech.  The pattern instruction “provides that a 
‘statement or representation is “false” or “fraudulent” 
if it is about a material fact that the speaker knows is 
untrue or makes with reckless indifference as to the 
truth and makes with intent to defraud.’”  App. 95a 
(emphasis added).  The court regarded the district 
court’s substitution of “deliberate indifference” for 
“reckless indifference” as heightening the burden re-
quired by the pattern instruction.  App. 95a-96a.  The 
court further relied on Eleventh Circuit precedents ap-
plying the reckless-indifference standard to the mail- 
and wire-fraud statutes—which, unlike the healthcare-
fraud statute, do not contain an express textual re-
quirement that the defendant “‘knowingly and willful-
ly’” execute a fraud.  App. 96a; compare 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1347(a) with id. §§ 1341, 1343.  In addition, the court 
reasoned that the trial had “proceeded under a theory 
of actual knowledge rather than deliberate indiffer-
ence,” because “[t]he indictment charged that the de-
fendants knew the information in the” Plans’ submis-
sions to AHCA “was false,” and the government’s 
summation “hammered” that assertion “over and over 
again.”  App. 97a-98a.  And the court observed that the 
district court separately gave a “willful blindness” in-
struction that was consistent with Global-Tech.  App. 
98a-99a.   

The Eleventh Circuit denied rehearing and rehear-
ing en banc.  App. 111a-112a.  Farha moved for a stay of 
the mandate or continued release pending certiorari, 
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which the Eleventh Circuit denied.  Farha then filed an 
application with this Court seeking similar relief.  Far-
ha v. United States, No. 16A431 (U.S. Oct. 27, 2016).  
After calling for a response to the application, Justice 
Thomas denied it.  Farha has since begun serving his 
prison sentence. 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION 

The opinion below conflicts with Global-Tech Ap-
pliances, Inc. v. SEB S.A., 563 U.S. 754 (2011), and 
with the decisions of numerous courts that have applied 
Global-Tech in criminal cases.  If uncorrected, the 
Eleventh Circuit’s holding will diminish statutory mens 
rea requirements not just in healthcare-fraud cases but 
also in other criminal prosecutions, and will thus allow 
defendants to be incarcerated for conduct Congress 
never defined as criminal. 

I. THE OPINION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH GLOBAL-TECH 

AND OTHER CIRCUITS’ INTERPRETATIONS OF GLOBAL-

TECH 

A. Under Global-Tech, Deliberate Indifference 
Cannot Establish Knowledge 

This Court held in Global-Tech that a plaintiff can-
not prove induced patent infringement—which “re-
quires knowledge that the induced acts constitute pa-
tent infringement”—by showing that the defendant 
acted with “deliberate indifference to a known risk that 
a patent exists.”  563 U.S. at 766.  In reaching that con-
clusion, the Court distinguished between “willful blind-
ness,” which has long been regarded in criminal law as 
a substitute for actual knowledge, and “deliberate indif-
ference,” a lesser mental state that cannot substitute 
for knowledge.  Id. at 766, 769-770.  The Court ex-
plained that willful blindness is equivalent to 
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knowledge, because defendants who “deliberately 
shield[] themselves from clear evidence of critical facts 
that are strongly suggested by the circumstances,” and 
thus meet the test for willful blindness, “are just as cul-
pable as those who have actual knowledge.”  Id. at 766.  
Given the “long history” of the willful-blindness stand-
ard in the criminal context, the Court found “no reason 
why” that standard, which has “an appropriately lim-
ited scope that surpasses recklessness and negligence,” 
“should not apply in civil lawsuits” where knowledge is 
an element of liability.  Id. at 768, 769.  The same was 
not true, the Court held, of “‘deliberate indifference,’” 
id. at 770—a standard “equivalent [to] reckless[ness],” 
Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 836 (1994), rather 
than to knowledge. 

Global-Tech requires that Farha’s convictions be 
reversed.  The district court allowed the jury to convict 
Farha of “knowingly” executing a fraud by submitting 
false statements to AHCA if he acted “with deliberate 
indifference as to the truth” of those statements—that 
is, recklessly.  App. 137a.  But under Global-Tech, a 
finding of “deliberate indifference” cannot establish the 
required knowledge. 

B. The Eleventh Circuit’s Reasoning Conflicts 
With Numerous Decisions 

The Eleventh Circuit held that Global-Tech does not 
apply in “this criminal § 1347 fraud case” because Glob-
al-Tech was “a civil patent-infringement case.”  App. 
100a.  That reasoning conflicts with Global-Tech itself 
and with the many decisions of other courts of appeals 
that have applied Global-Tech in criminal cases, and the 
government has now recognized that it was incorrect. 
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1. As noted above, Global-Tech imported its hold-
ing from the criminal context, relying extensively on 
criminal precedents and the Model Penal Code.  See 563 
U.S. at 766-770 & n.9.  Indeed, the Court’s analysis was 
so intertwined with criminal law that Justice Kennedy 
recognized its holding would affect “all federal criminal 
cases.”  Id. at 774 (Kennedy, J., dissenting).7  The Elev-
enth Circuit did not acknowledge Global-Tech’s crimi-
nal-law roots or explain why the proof of knowledge re-
quired to send a defendant to prison for healthcare 
fraud should be less stringent than what Global-Tech 
requires in a civil patent-infringement case. 

Most courts of appeals have had little trouble ap-
plying Global-Tech in criminal cases.  The Fifth Circuit, 
for example, has observed that “[a]lthough Global-Tech 
was a civil case, [its] standard seems to apply equally to 
criminal deliberate ignorance cases.”  United States v. 
Brooks, 681 F.3d 678, 702 n.19 (5th Cir. 2012).  The Sev-
enth Circuit has likewise “noted that although Global-
Tech was a civil case, several courts of appeal have 
deemed its definition of willful blindness applicable to 
criminal cases.”  United States v. Macias, 786 F.3d 
1060, 1062 (7th Cir. 2015).  And the First, Fourth, 

                                                 
7 Justice Kennedy criticized the Court’s apparent “en-

dorse[ment of] the willful blindness doctrine … for all federal crim-
inal cases involving knowledge.”  Global-Tech, 563 U.S. at 774 
(Kennedy, J., dissenting).  He opined that “[w]illful blindness is not 
knowledge; and judges should not broaden a legislative proscrip-
tion by analogy.”  Id. at 772 (citing United States v. Jewell, 532 
F.2d 697, 706 (9th Cir. 1976) (en banc) (Kennedy, J., dissenting) 
(“When a statute specifically requires knowledge as an element of 
a crime, … the substitution of some other state of mind cannot be 
justified even if the court deems that both are equally blamewor-
thy.”)).  It follows a fortiori that courts should not allow a lesser 
finding of deliberate indifference to substitute for statutorily re-
quired proof of knowledge. 
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Sixth, Eighth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuits have all ap-
plied Global-Tech in criminal cases.  See United States 
v. Patel, 651 F. App’x 468, 472 (6th Cir. 2016), cert. de-
nied, 137 S. Ct. 184 (2016); United States v. Sorensen, 
801 F.3d 1217, 1233 (10th Cir. 2015), cert. denied, 136 S. 
Ct. 1163 (2016); United States v. Galimah, 758 F.3d 928, 
931 (8th Cir. 2014); United States v. Potter, 583 F. 
App’x 178, 180 (4th Cir. 2014) (per curiam); United 
States v. Yi, 704 F.3d 800, 804-805 (9th Cir. 2013); Unit-
ed States v. Denson, 689 F.3d 21, 24-25 (1st Cir. 2012).8 

The Eleventh Circuit created a lopsided conflict by 
refusing to apply Global-Tech.  The only authority on 
which the court relied for its crabbed reading of Global-
Tech was a prior case in which the Eleventh Circuit had 
declined to apply Global-Tech’s patent-infringement 
standard to a trademark dispute.  App. 100a n.28 (citing 
Sovereign Military Hospitaller Order of Saint John of 
Jerusalem of Rhodes & of Malta v. Florida Priory of 
Knights Hospitallers of Sovereign Order of Saint John 
of Jerusalem, Knights of Malta, Ecumenical Order, 702 
F.3d 1279, 1291 (11th Cir. 2012)).  But as Farha argued 
both to the panel and in seeking rehearing en banc, 
Sovereign Military Hospitaller Order provides no basis 

                                                 
8 Farha is aware of one case—the unpublished decision in 

United States v. Holden, 625 F. App’x 316, 318-319 (9th Cir. 2015), 
cert. denied, 2016 WL 4083069 (U.S. Dec. 5, 2016)—in which a 
court held that Global-Tech did not invalidate a healthcare-fraud 
jury instruction similar to the one given here.  Holden, however, 
relied on Ninth Circuit precedent that predated Global-Tech, and 
the court devoted just one sentence to a halfhearted attempt to 
distinguish Global-Tech on the theory that it “addressed the mens 
rea of willful blindness.”  Id. at 318-319.  This Court called for a 
response from the United States to the petition for certiorari in 
Holden, but the Ninth Circuit’s scant analysis of the issue in an 
unpublished decision made that case an exceedingly poor vehicle 
for considering the question presented. 
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for refusing to apply in a criminal context a standard 
derived from criminal law.  See C.A. Reply Br. 24; C.A. 
Reh’g Pet. 8 n.2. 

2. Unconstrained by Global-Tech, the Eleventh 
Circuit attempted to defend the deliberate-indifference 
instruction on a variety of rationales, which conflict 
with precedents of this Court. 

First, the Eleventh Circuit held that the district 
court’s instruction was proper because it followed the 
Circuit’s pre-Global-Tech pattern instruction for 
healthcare fraud, which permits conviction on a finding 
of “‘reckless indifference as to the truth.’”  App. 95a.  
But pattern instructions are not the law and certainly 
cannot nullify intervening decisions of this Court.  The 
Eleventh Circuit thought the district court had im-
proved on the pattern instruction by “us[ing] the even 
stronger phrase ‘deliberate indifference’ instead of the 
phrase ‘reckless indifference.’”  App. 95a-96a; see App. 
99a-100a.  But that unexplained assertion again con-
flicts with Global-Tech, which considered and rejected 
a “deliberate” indifference standard.  563 U.S. at 770.  
It also defies this Court’s holding that “deliberate indif-
ference” is typically considered “equivalent [to] reck-
less[ness],” not stronger.  Farmer, 511 U.S. at 836. 

Second, the Eleventh Circuit relied on decisions 
holding that “[i]n the mail and wire fraud context, … 
[f]raudulent conduct that will establish a scheme to de-
fraud includes … statements made with reckless indif-
ference to their truth or falsity.”  App. 96a (internal 
quotation marks omitted).  But the mail- and wire-fraud 
statutes lack the textual requirement of a knowing and 
willful execution and have thus sometimes been inter-
preted not to require knowledge of falsity at all.  See, 
e.g., United States v. Sawyer, 799 F.2d 1494, 1502 (11th 
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Cir. 1986) (mail-fraud statute punishes not just “know-
ingly making false representations” but also “state-
ments made with reckless indifference to their truth or 
falsity”).  By contrast, the Eleventh Circuit reaffirmed 
in this case that the healthcare-fraud statute does re-
quire the defendant to have known that the statements 
alleged to constitute the execution of the fraud were 
false.  App. 95a.  The mail- and wire-fraud cases are 
therefore inapposite:  The fact that a showing of reck-
lessness as to falsity might suffice to show intent to de-
fraud or participation in a scheme to defraud—under a 
statute that does not require knowledge of falsity—
does not mean a similar showing should suffice to prove 
knowledge of falsity under a statute that does require 
that element. 

Third, the Eleventh Circuit held that proof of delib-
erate indifference sufficed because the jury also had to 
find that Farha and his codefendants acted “with intent 
to defraud” (App. 137a).  The court held that 
“[r]epresentations made with deliberate indifference to 
the truth and with intent to defraud adequately satisfy 
the knowledge requirement in § 1347 cases.”  App. 95a.  
But knowledge of falsity and intent to defraud are dis-
tinct elements of healthcare fraud, both of which are re-
quired to convict.  See App. 137a (jury instructions).  
The government must prove every element of a criminal 
charge; proof of one cannot relieve the government of 
its burden to prove any other.  See, e.g., In re Winship, 
397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970).  Even if recklessness as to 
truth or falsity can support an inference of intent to de-
fraud, cf. United States v. Kennedy, 714 F.3d 951, 958 
(6th Cir. 2013), it cannot prove the independent element 
of knowledge that the statements alleged to constitute 
the execution of a healthcare fraud were false.  Indeed, 
the fact that some courts have held that intent to de-
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fraud can exist where a defendant is only reckless as to 
a statement’s accuracy means that a finding of intent to 
defraud does not imply a finding of knowing falsity. 

The requirement for the jury to find both 
knowledge of falsity and intent to defraud is no formali-
ty.  It would have served an important function in this 
case, where the government invited the jury to find 
that Farha and his codefendants intended to defraud 
AHCA because they did not disclose to AHCA the 
Plans’ calculation methodology.  E.g., C.A. App. 677 (70-
71).  To the extent the jury credited the government’s 
evidence of non-disclosure, it might have inferred an 
intent to deceive; but such non-disclosure could not 
alone have rendered the submissions false at all, much 
less knowingly false.  The jury should not have been 
permitted to convict Farha without making the addi-
tional finding that he knew the submissions were 
false—an element that could not be satisfied by proof of 
deliberate indifference. 

Fourth, the Eleventh Circuit held that the deliber-
ate-indifference instruction was not erroneous because 
the district court gave a separate, proper instruction 
that actual knowledge could be proven by willful blind-
ness.  App. 98a-99a.  But that instruction did not negate 
the jury’s option to convict Farha of healthcare fraud 
by finding mere deliberate indifference.  The 
healthcare-fraud instruction told the jury that it could 
convict if Farha either (1) knew the 80/20 submissions 
were false, or (2) acted “with deliberate indifference” to 
the submissions’ truth.  App. 137a.  The willful-
blindness instruction simply specified that the first of 
those options—knowledge—could be satisfied by proof 
of willful blindness.  App. 135a.  It erroneously left open 
the option for the jury to convict Farha under the sec-
ond option, the standard Global-Tech rejected.  See 
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Hedgpeth v. Pulido, 555 U.S. 57, 58 (2008) (per curiam) 
(“A conviction based on a general verdict is subject to 
challenge if the jury was instructed on alternative the-
ories of guilt and may have relied on an invalid one.”). 

3. In opposing Farha’s application to this Court 
for a stay of the Eleventh Circuit’s mandate, the gov-
ernment acknowledged—contrary to the Eleventh Cir-
cuit’s opinion and the government’s arguments below—
that Global-Tech in fact does apply to “the knowledge 
element of 18 U.S.C. 1347.”  U.S. Mem. in Opp. 19, Far-
ha v. United States, No. 16A431 (U.S. Nov. 2, 2016).  
Unable to defend the Eleventh Circuit’s holding that “a 
defendant’s knowledge [of falsity] can be proven in 
more than one way”—including by a showing of “delib-
erate indifference to the truth and … intent to defraud,” 
App. 95a (emphasis omitted)—the government instead 
argued that “[t]he false and fraudulent representations 
that make up [a scheme of healthcare fraud] need not be 
known to be false.”  U.S. Mem. in Opp. 23.  But that ar-
gument is not just wrong; it is contrary to both the 
premise of the decision below and the entire theory on 
which the government charged and tried this case. 

The Eleventh Circuit has repeatedly interpreted 
§ 1347’s knowledge requirement to mean “the defend-
ant must be shown to have known that the claims sub-
mitted were, in fact, false.”  United States v. Medina, 
485 F.3d 1291, 1297 (11th Cir. 2007); see United States 
v. Sosa, 777 F.3d 1279, 1292 (11th Cir. 2015); United 
States v. Vernon, 723 F.3d 1234, 1273 (11th Cir. 2013).9  
                                                 

9 The Fourth Circuit has similarly held that the requirement 
for the government to prove a healthcare-fraud defendant “‘know-
ingly and willfully’” executed a scheme to defraud insurers “neces-
sarily entails proof that” the defendant knew the procedures rep-
resented as necessary “were unnecessary.”  United States v. 
McLean, 715 F.3d 129, 137 (4th Cir. 2013). 
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It adhered to that view in this case.  App. 95a.  Con-
sistent with that body of circuit law, the government 
charged Farha with having executed the fraud by 
“knowingly and willfully engag[ing] in the … 
[s]ubmission of false and fraudulent” reports to the 
State.  C.A. App. 1 ¶ 32 (indictment).  Thus, contrary to 
the government’s newfound position that knowledge of 
falsity was not required, both the Eleventh Circuit’s 
precedents and the indictment say the opposite.  And it 
is now the law in the Eleventh Circuit that where 
knowledge is required as an element of an offense, 
proof of deliberate indifference suffices (notwithstand-
ing Global-Tech, which the court considers inapplica-
ble).  The government’s new argument—which makes 
no attempt to defend the court of appeals’ rationale—
has nothing to do with the law under which Farha was 
charged, the law under which his convictions were ob-
tained and affirmed, or the law that will control future 
prosecutions within the Eleventh Circuit under stat-
utes requiring proof of knowledge. 

The government’s argument is also wrong on its 
own terms, because the healthcare-fraud statute (un-
like the mail- and wire-fraud statutes) expressly re-
quires the government to prove that the defendant 
“knowingly and willfully execute[d], or attempt[ed] to 
execute,” a fraudulent scheme.  18 U.S.C. § 1347(a).  
That language requires, at the least, applying the men-
tal-state elements of knowledge and willfulness to the 
actions alleged to constitute the execution of the fraud.  
Having defined the “[e]xecution” of fraud in this case as 
the “[s]ubmission” to AHCA “of false and fraudulent … 
behavioral health care services expenditure infor-
mation” (C.A. App. 1 ¶ 32 (indictment)), the govern-
ment could hardly prove a “knowing[] … execut[ion]” 
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without proving the defendants knew the submissions 
to AHCA were false. 

II. THE QUESTION PRESENTED IS IMPORTANT 

The Eleventh Circuit’s holding will have significant 
effects, undermining statutory mens rea requirements 
in a wide range of prosecutions. 

This Court has in case after case emphasized the 
importance of mens rea elements in criminal statutes.  
As Justice Jackson wrote for the Court in Morissette v. 
United States, 342 U.S. 246 (1952), “[t]he contention 
that an injury can amount to a crime only when inflict-
ed by intention is no provincial or transient notion.  It 
is as universal and persistent in mature systems of law 
as belief in freedom of the human will and a consequent 
ability and duty of the normal individual to choose be-
tween good and evil.”  Id. at 250 (emphasis added).  The 
Court’s “cases have explained that a defendant general-
ly must ‘know the facts that make his conduct fit the 
definition of the offense.’”  Elonis v. United States, 135 
S. Ct. 2001, 2009 (2015) (emphasis added) (quoting Sta-
ples v. United States, 511 U.S. 600, 607 n.3 (1994)).  Or 
as Morissette puts it:  “[W]rongdoing must be conscious 
to be criminal.”  342 U.S. at 252. 

Subject to the constraints of due process, Congress 
may of course choose to draft a criminal statute to ex-
pressly permit conviction without a particular mens 
rea, or without any mens rea at all.  But “some indica-
tion of congressional intent, express or implied, is re-
quired to dispense with mens rea as an element of a 
crime.”  Staples, 511 U.S. at 606.  The presumption of 
mens rea is so sacrosanct, in other words, that it “has 
been ‘followed in regard to statutory crimes even 
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where the statutory definition did not in terms include 
it.’”  Id. at 605-606. 

The opinion below turns that jurisprudence on its 
head, by allowing conviction on the basis of a mental-
state finding less demanding than the one Congress ex-
plicitly required.  Courts err when they disregard any 
language in a statute; as this Court has repeatedly held, 
“courts must presume that a legislature says in a stat-
ute what it means and means in a statute what it says 
there.”  Connecticut Nat’l Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 
249, 253-254 (1992).  But the Eleventh Circuit’s error is 
magnified by the fact that the statutory language in 
question defines the mental-state element of a crime.  
See, e.g., Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 57 (1997) 
(“‘Courts in applying criminal laws generally must fol-
low the plain and unambiguous meaning of the statuto-
ry language.’”); Kordel v. United States, 335 U.S. 345, 
348-349 (1948) (“A criminal law is not to be read expan-
sively to include what is not plainly embraced within 
the language of the statute[.]”). 

The effects of this error will be significant.  First, 
even if the panel’s holding were cabined to healthcare-
fraud cases, the government prosecutes many such cas-
es in the Eleventh Circuit.  The Southern District of 
Florida alone saw more than fifty such prosecutions 
during the 2016 fiscal year.10  Second, a number of other 
federal criminal statutes require proof of both 
knowledge and intent to defraud, and there is no ap-
parent reason why the panel’s diminution of the mens 
rea threshold for healthcare fraud would not apply to 
those other statutes as well.  E.g., 18 U.S.C. § 545 

                                                 
10 Transactional Records Access Clearinghouse, Florida 

South Prosecutions for 2016, http://tracfed.syr.edu/results/9x70586
e751b1e.html (last visited Jan. 5, 2017). 
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(smuggling); id. § 1002 (possession of false papers to de-
fraud United States); id. § 1030(a)(4) (Computer Fraud 
and Abuse Act).  Finally, dozens if not hundreds of ad-
ditional statutes contain a knowledge element.  Now 
that the Eleventh Circuit has held in one context that a 
finding of deliberate indifference and intent to defraud 
suffices to establish knowledge, the government may 
similarly seek to diminish its burden of proof in other 
contexts.  

This case well illustrates the concerns posed by the 
Eleventh Circuit’s approach.  Unlike the vast majority 
of healthcare-fraud cases, this case involves no fake pa-
tients, unnecessary treatments, or substandard care.  
Rather, this case turns on a legal dispute over the in-
terpretation of an ambiguous statute and contracts.  In 
cases like this one, the requirement that defendants 
knowingly execute a healthcare fraud plays an essen-
tial role; it marks the point at which an otherwise civil 
dispute over the interpretation of healthcare regula-
tions can properly become the subject of a criminal 
prosecution.  By diluting the statutory knowledge re-
quirement, the Eleventh Circuit blurred that boundary.  
As a result, Farha is serving a three-year prison term 
for conduct that should at most have given rise to a civil 
suit.11 

III. THIS CASE IS A GOOD VEHICLE TO REVIEW THE 

QUESTION PRESENTED 

This petition presents a clean opportunity for the 
Court to resolve the question whether a knowledge re-

                                                 
11 Indeed, AHCA sought only monetary compensation from 

another leading health plan that had pursued a similar reporting 
methodology—and ultimately wound up settling for nothing.  C.A. 
App. 650 (18-19). 



27 

 

quirement in a criminal statute can be satisfied by proof 
of deliberate indifference. 

First, the defendants objected to the deliberate-
indifference instruction on the ground that it contra-
vened Global-Tech, and the district court considered 
those objections at length.  App. 113a-134a.  The issue 
was then fully considered by the court of appeals, which 
analyzed it extensively in a published opinion.  App. 
95a-101a.  And the Eleventh Circuit refused to recon-
sider the case en banc, despite the panel’s departure 
from Global-Tech and the many decisions of other 
courts of appeals that have applied Global-Tech in crim-
inal cases. 

Second, the issue is outcome-determinative:  If the 
deliberate-indifference instruction was incorrect, Farha 
would certainly be entitled to a new trial.  For good 
reason, the Eleventh Circuit did not purport to find—
and the government did not even argue—that any er-
ror in the deliberate-indifference instruction could be 
overlooked as harmless.  An error in defining the ele-
ments of an offense is harmless only if it appears “‘be-
yond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of 
did not contribute to the verdict obtained.’”  Neder v. 
United States, 527 U.S. 1, 15 (1999).  And here, not only 
was Farha’s knowledge hotly contested; the verdicts 
show that the instructional error was decisive. 

The jury convicted Farha of healthcare fraud for 
the Plans’ 2006 submissions to AHCA, while acquitting 
him of false statements for the same submissions.  In 
most respects, convicting Farha of executing a fraud by 
making false submissions required more than was nec-
essary to convict him only of making the false submis-
sions, since the fraud counts required a finding of intent 
to defraud while the false-statement counts did not.  
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The only explanation for the jury’s acquittal on false 
statements and conviction on fraud—consistent with 
the instructions, which the jury is presumed to have 
followed, Penry v. Johnson, 532 U.S. 782, 799 (2001)—is 
that for the false-statement counts, the district court 
correctly instructed the jury that it needed to find Far-
ha knew or was willfully blind to the falsity of the 
statements, while on the fraud counts the jury was 
permitted to convict if it found deliberate indifference.  
App. 135a-137a.  Not only was the district court’s delib-
erate-indifference instruction not harmless; it appears 
to have been dispositive. 
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CONCLUSION 

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be 
granted. 
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APPENDIX A 

[PUBLISH] 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR 
THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

 
No. 14-12373 

D.C. Docket No. 8:11-cr-00115-JSM-MAP-5 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
Plaintiff-Appellee, 

v. 

PETER E. CLAY, TODD S. FAHRA, PAUL L. BEHRENS, 
WILLIAM L. KALE, 

Defendants-Appellants. 
 

Appeals from the United States District Court for the 
Middle District of Florida 

 
August 11, 2016 

 

Before TJOFLAT and HULL, Circuit Judges, and 
HALL,∗ District Judge. 

HULL, Circuit Judge: 

In this Medicaid fraud case, defendants Todd Far-
ha, Paul Behrens, William Kale, and Peter Clay appeal 
their convictions on multiple grounds, including insuffi-
cient evidence, evidentiary errors, and improper jury 

                                                 
∗ Honorable J. Randal Hall, United States District Judge for 

the Southern District of Georgia, sitting by designation. 
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instructions.  At the time of the fraud, the defendants 
were all high-level executives of WellCare Health 
Plans, Inc. (“WellCare”) or one of its two Florida sub-
sidiaries.  Those subsidiaries were Wellcare of Florida, 
Inc. doing business as Staywell Health Plan of Florida 
(“Staywell”) and HealthEase of Florida, Inc. 
(“HealthEase”). 

At trial, the government proved that together the 
defendants participated in a fraudulent scheme to file 
false Medicaid expense reports that misrepresented and 
overstated the amounts Staywell and HealthEase spent 
on medical services for Medicaid patients, specifically 
outpatient behavioral health care services.  By overstat-
ing these expenses, the defendants helped Staywell and 
HealthEase retain millions of dollars in tax-subsidized 
Medicaid funds that they should have refunded to the 
Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 
(“AHCA”).  This, in turn, inflated the profits of Stay-
well, HealthEase, and WellCare and earned the defend-
ants financial rewards.  The jury found Farha, Behrens, 
and Kale guilty on two counts of substantive health care 
fraud and found Behrens and Clay guilty on two counts 
of making false representations or statements. 

After reviewing the extensive trial record and with 
the benefit of oral argument, we affirm the defendants’ 
convictions. 

I.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

A. Indictment 

On March 2, 2011, a federal grand jury in the Mid-
dle District of Florida returned an 11-count indictment 
against defendants Farha, Behrens, Kale, and Clay.  
The defendants were executives at WellCare, a public-
ly-held corporation headquartered in Tampa, Florida.  
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Todd Farha was CEO and President of WellCare and 
one of its directors.  Farha assumed leadership at 
WellCare in July 2002.  Paul Behrens was CFO.  Beh-
rens joined WellCare in September 2003.  Both Farha 
and Behrens held similar positions with Staywell and 
HealthEase, WellCare’s two subsidiaries.  William Kale 
was Vice President of Clinical Services at WellCare.  
Kale joined WellCare in the fall of 2002.  Peter Clay 
joined WellCare in April 2005 as Vice President of 
Medical Economics and reported to Behrens. 

Count 1 of the indictment charged the defendants 
with conspiracy to defraud the United States, to make 
false statements relating to health care matters, and to 
commit Medicaid health care fraud from 2003 through 
2007, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.1  Counts 2 through 5 
charged the defendants with making false statements in 
Medicaid health care expense reports submitted to state 
officials, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1035 and 2.  Counts 2 
and 3 covered the calendar year (“CY”) 2005 reports, 
and Counts 4 and 5 covered the CY 2006 reports.2 

Counts 6 through 9 charged the defendants with 
Medicaid health care fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

                                                 
1 The indictment also charged Thaddeus Bereday, WellCare’s 

general counsel and a Senior Vice President.  Bereday’s case was 
severed and is not at issue here. 

2 Since WellCare made submissions for both Staywell and 
HealthEase each calendar year, the defendants were charged sep-
arately for submissions made on behalf of each company.  For 
Counts 2 through 9, the even counts pertained to Staywell and the 
odd counts pertained to HealthEase.  For purposes of our analysis, 
these distinctions do not matter since each defendant’s conduct 
generally related to both companies.  We consider each of the pair-
ings—Counts 2 and 3, Counts 4 and 5, Counts 6 and 7, and Counts 
8 and 9—together. 
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§§ 1347 and 2.  Counts 6 and 7 covered CY 2005, and 
Counts 8 and 9 covered CY 2006. 

Counts 10 and 11 charged Clay with making false 
statements to federal agents in 2007, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 1001. 

B. Jury Verdict 

After a trial lasting almost three months, the jury 
returned a mixed verdict.  It was unable to reach a 
verdict as to any defendant on Count 1, the conspiracy 
charge.  The jury acquitted the defendants of Counts 2 
and 3, involving the CY 2005 expense reports.  As to 
Counts 4 and 5, involving the CY 2006 expense reports, 
the jury convicted Behrens, acquitted Farha, and was 
unable to reach a verdict as to Clay and Kale.  As to 
Counts 6 and 7, involving the health care fraud in CY 
2005, the jury acquitted Farha and Kale, and was una-
ble to reach a verdict as to Behrens and Clay. 

As to Counts 8 and 9, involving the health care 
fraud in CY 2006, the jury convicted Behrens, Farha, 
and Kale, but was unable to reach a verdict as to Clay.  
As to Counts 10 and 11, the jury convicted Clay of mak-
ing false statements to federal agents in 2007. 

In sum, Behrens was convicted of Counts 4 and 5, 
making false statements in the Medicaid CY 2006 re-
ports, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1035 and 2; Behrens, 
Farha, and Kale were convicted of Counts 8 and 9, 
Medicaid health care fraud in CY 2006, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2; and Clay was convicted of Counts 
10 and 11, making false statements to federal agents in 
2007, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 

After trial, the defendants filed renewed Rule 29(c) 
motions for judgment of acquittal, which the district 
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court denied.  The district court eventually dismissed all 
counts on which the jury was unable to reach a verdict. 

C. Sentences 

The district court sentenced the defendants well 
below their advisory guidelines ranges.  The district 
court sentenced:  (1) Farha to three years’ imprison-
ment on Counts 8 and 9 (to run concurrently), two 
years’ supervised release, and a $50,000 fine; (2) Beh-
rens to two years’ imprisonment on Counts 4, 5, 8, and 9 
(to run concurrently) and two years’ supervised re-
lease; (3) Kale to a prison term of one year and one day 
on Counts 8 and 9 (to run concurrently) and two years’ 
supervised release; and (4) Clay to five years’ probation 
on Counts 10 and 11 (to run concurrently), 200 hours of 
community service, and a $10,000 fine.  Farha and Clay 
paid their fines. 

The defendants appeal their convictions, primarily 
challenging the sufficiency of the evidence.  We thus 
recount the trial evidence in great detail. 

II.  MEDICAID PROGRAM IN FLORIDA 

The Medicaid program is a cooperative federal and 
state health care benefit program, which assists states 
in paying for and providing medical services to qualify-
ing, often disabled or low-income, individuals and fami-
lies.  While the program is jointly run, the federal gov-
ernment provides most of the funding.  As part of the 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) au-
thorizes and administers the states’ Medicaid pro-
grams.  The states must regularly report to CMS re-
garding their expenses and operations.  If a state Medi-
caid program does not expend all of its federal money in 
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a given reporting cycle, the state must refund that 
money to the federal government. 

In Florida, AHCA administers the state Medicaid 
program.  AHCA contracts with a variety of private 
health care companies, known as managed care organi-
zations or health maintenance organizations, such as 
Staywell and HealthEase, to pay health care providers 
for the care delivered to Medicaid patients.  For our 
purposes, we refer to these entities as HMOs. 

Medicaid and, in turn, AHCA cover medical and 
behavioral health care services.  This case involves ex-
pense reports for only two types of outpatient behav-
ioral health care services:  (1) Community Mental 
Health (“CMH”) services, and (2) Targeted Case Man-
agement (“TCM”) services.  We refer to them as 
“CMH/TCM” services.3 

A. AHCA Contracts 

Staywell and HealthEase operated under contracts 
with AHCA to cover medical and behavioral health 
care services for Medicaid enrollees.  Staywell and 
HealthEase received a monthly premium from AHCA.  
AHCA calculated the premium, which is sometimes 
called a “capitation” payment, based on the number of 
Medicaid patients Staywell and HealthEase covered.  

                                                 
3 CMH services are provided at a Community Mental Health 

Center and include certain medical, psychiatric, behavioral health 
therapy, community support and rehabilitation, therapeutic behav-
ioral on-site day treatment, crisis intervention, and substance 
abuse services. 

TCM is intensive outpatient care provided by certified per-
sonnel trained to provide one-on-one life-coordination services, 
including home visits, to high-risk patients with severe emotional 
or mental conditions. 
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For each covered member, AHCA paid a flat, capitated 
rate, known as a per-member-per-month or “PMPM” 
payment.  This flat capitated rate was based on the es-
timated cost of providing a typical Medicaid patient’s 
needed health care services and did not vary based on 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s actual costs for covered 
members. 

This capitation system allowed AHCA to shift risk 
to Staywell and HealthEase.  If Staywell and 
HealthEase on average spent more per enrolled Medi-
caid patient than the capitated rate, they would incur a 
loss.  But if they spent less, they made a profit.  In the-
ory, AHCA was incentivizing Staywell and HealthEase 
to provide preventive care to decrease total health care 
costs. 

Staywell and HealthEase used different methods to 
provide behavioral health care services to patients.  
Staywell contracted directly with health care provid-
ers.  Staywell reimbursed some providers on a fee-for-
service basis but paid other providers a flat sub-
capitated rate for each patient treated. 

HealthEase, on the other hand, subcontracted with 
CompCare, an independent behavioral health organiza-
tion (“BHO”) with a network of providers.  HealthEase 
paid CompCare a sub-capitated rate per enrolled pa-
tient, and, in turn, CompCare subcontracted with its 
network’s providers to treat HealthEase’s Medicaid 
patients.  A sub-capitation arrangement with a subcon-
tractor mirrors a capitation arrangement, but the rate 
is lower and the suite of covered services is generally 
more limited. 

As of July 1, 2002, AHCA’s contracts started re-
quiring coverage for the two types of outpatient behav-
ioral health care at issue here, CMH/TCM services.  
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AHCA identified what particular services would quali-
fy as CMH/TCM services in two coverage and limita-
tions handbooks. 

In exchange for this new coverage obligation, 
AHCA increased the capitated rate for behavioral 
health care.  AHCA piloted the CMH/TCM program in 
a limited geographic area (called Areas 1 and 6) that 
included Pensacola and Tampa.  For reporting purpos-
es, AHCA notified Staywell and HealthEase each year 
what portion of the capitation payment was intended to 
cover CMH/TCM services. 

B. Florida’s 80/20 Rule 

CMH/TCM services were a very profitable part of 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s business.  But those prof-
its were threatened when Florida enacted restrictions 
on companies that received Medicaid money. 

Effective June 7, 2002, Florida amended its Medi-
caid statute as to “comprehensive behavioral health 
care services.”  This amendment, which created the 
“80/20 rule,” was intended to ensure that most Medicaid 
money was spent on patients’ medical treatment rather 
than yielding high profits for HMOs.  2002 Fla. Laws 
4662, 4693-94.  To achieve this goal, the 80/20 rule re-
quired AHCA to include in its contracts a requirement 
that an HMO spend at least 80% of its capitation pay-
ment on providing behavioral health care services.  If 
an HMO spent less than 80% of the premium on behav-
ioral health care services, the HMO was required to re-
fund the difference to AHCA.  An HMO could retain no 
more than 20% of the premium for administrative costs, 
overhead, and profit.  The 80/20 law read as follows: 

To ensure unimpaired access to behavioral 
health care services by Medicaid recipients, all 
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contracts issued pursuant to this paragraph 
shall require 80 percent of the capitation paid 
to the managed care plan, including health 
maintenance organizations, to be expended for 
the provision of behavioral health care services.  
In the event the managed care plan expends 
less than 80 percent of the capitation paid pur-
suant to this paragraph for the provision of be-
havioral health care services, the difference 
shall be returned to the agency. 

Fla. Stat. § 409.912(4)(b) (2006). 

Upon the amendment’s enactment, AHCA’s con-
tracts with Staywell and HealthEase imposed the 80/20 
rule on only premium money for outpatient behavioral 
health care services, specifically CMH/TCM services.  
AHCA required Staywell and HealthEase annually to 
submit expense reports certifying that 80% of the 
AHCA premium was spent on CMH/TCM services.  To 
facilitate and standardize expense reporting, AHCA an-
nually provided Staywell and HealthEase with a spread-
sheet template (the “Worksheet”).  The Worksheet was 
designed to calculate the portion of the premium Stay-
well or HealthEase spent on CMH/TCM treatment that 
year and the amount of any refund due to AHCA. 

To illustrate the expense-reporting process, we 
discuss Staywell’s Worksheet for CY 2006.  The Work-
sheet had five line items:  (1) AHCA’s CY 2006 capita-
tion payment to Staywell for CMH/TCM services; (2) 
the total amount Staywell spent on CMH/TCM services 
in CY 2006; (3) the ratio of line 2 to line 1, expressed as 
a percentage; (4) the difference between line 3 and the 
80% minimum ratio; and, (5) if line 3 was less than 80%, 
the refund Staywell owed AHCA to reach the 80% min-
imum.  The Worksheet for CY 2006 appears below: 
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The Worksheet referenced the 80/20 rule and instruct-
ed Staywell that the purpose of the Worksheet was to 
determine whether it had spent at least 80% of its pre-
mium on “only” CMH/TCM services, stating: 

Pursuant to Section 409.912(4)(b), F.S., man-
aged care entities that provide behavioral 
health services must expend at least eighty (80) 
percent of the capitation paid by the Agency on 
those services, defined as community mental 
health and targeted case management services 
only.  If less than eighty (80) percent of the 
capitation is expended on these services, the en-
tity shall return the difference to the Agency. 

(emphasis added).  The Worksheet required Staywell’s 
CEO or President to certify the accuracy of Staywell’s 
reported expenses. 

When AHCA sent the Worksheet to Staywell or 
HealthEase, AHCA had already filled in line 1, identi-
fying how much premium money AHCA had paid them 
for CMH/TCM services.  All Staywell and HealthEase 
had to do was fill in their actual expenses on line 2.  The 
rest of the calculations automatically flowed from those 
two numbers.  This case concerns the defendants’ 
fraudulent reporting of false and inflated expenses on 
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line 2 to keep Staywell and HealthEase from having to 
pay larger refunds. 

In July 2002, shortly after the 80/20 rule took ef-
fect, Farha joined WellCare as CEO.  Later that fall, 
Farha’s team acquired Staywell and HealthEase.  Dur-
ing Farha’s tenure, Farha signed several amendments 
to the Staywell and HealthEase contracts with AHCA, 
wherein Farha as CEO repeatedly agreed to the con-
tracts’ underlying terms. 

C. Profit and Refund Studies 

In the spring of 2003, Farha asked WellCare actuary 
Todd Whitney to analyze Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
profitability as to their Medicaid components.  On May 7, 
2003, Whitney emailed Farha a spreadsheet titled “FL 
Medicaid Projected Behavioral Health Profit.”  The 
spreadsheet tracked what Whitney called the “contribu-
tion margin,” that is, premium revenue for behavioral 
health minus Medicaid claim costs.  Whitney’s calcula-
tions revealed how much of the premium payment 
Staywell and HealthEase kept for administrative costs, 
overhead, and profit after paying medical claims. 

As to Staywell, Whitney’s calculations showed that, 
after paying all CMH/TCM claims, in some areas of 
Florida Staywell was keeping approximately 70% of its 
premium money for administration, overhead, and prof-
it (much more than the 20% that the 80/20 rule al-
lowed).  For CMH/TCM claims, Staywell’s most profit-
able area was Area 6, in which Staywell received $15.00 
per-member-per-month, or PMPM, but paid on average 
only $4.69 PMPM.  In Area 6, Staywell paid only 31.3% 
of its premium on CMH/TCM claims and retained the 
remaining 68.7% for administration, overhead, and 
profit.  Given Staywell’s total membership in Area 6, 
Staywell’s annual contribution margin in Area 6 was 
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$5,925,691, almost double its margin in all other areas of 
Florida combined.  HealthEase had similar results. 

Staywell’s and HealthEase’s large contribution 
margins for Areas 1 and 6 were due to the much higher 
capitated rates of $15.00 PMPM that AHCA paid for 
Areas 1 and 6, as opposed to $4.00 PMPM for all other 
areas.  The additional $11.00 PMPM more than made up 
for the marginal increase in claim costs in Areas 1 and 
6, the areas where AHCA required coverage of 
CMH/TCM services. 

WellCare executives quickly recognized the impli-
cations of Florida’s new 80/20 rule.  As early as Febru-
ary 2003, Kale circulated an email expressing concern 
about WellCare’s “potential exposure regarding the 
new requirement that Medicaid HMO’s must expend 
80% of the capitation for [CMH/TCM] services.”  Kale 
projected a potential refund to AHCA of almost $6.5 
million (enough to dramatically reduce WellCare’s large 
behavioral health care profits). 

Thereafter, Whitney evaluated various refund sce-
narios for Staywell and HealthEase in Areas 1 and 6.  
The scenarios considered different definitions of 
CMH/TCM expenses.  From July 2002 through Sep-
tember 2003, based on a strict definition of CMH/TCM 
expenses, Staywell had spent just 23% of its premium 
on CMH/TCM expenses and would have to pay back as 
much as $6,289,863.  In the best case scenario, based on 
a looser definition of CMH/TCM expenses, Staywell had 
spent just 36% on CMH/TCM expenses and would have 
to pay back at least $4,803,645, or $400,000 per month. 

D. Creating New Subsidiary 

In light of the size of the potential refunds, Well-
Care began setting up a scheme to evade the 80/20 rule 
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and keep its large profits.  Under the scheme:  (1) 
WellCare would create a new wholly-owned subsidiary; 
(2) Staywell and HealthEase would transfer their pro-
vider contracts to the new subsidiary; (3) Staywell and 
HealthEase would each pay 85% of their premium re-
ceived for CMH/TCM services to WellCare’s new sub-
sidiary; and (4) the new subsidiary would continue to 
pay the much smaller portion of the premium for 
CMH/TCM services.  This structure would enable 
Staywell and HealthEase to report expenses in excess 
of 80%, while the new subsidiary would continue to pay 
only 45% or less directly to providers.  Under the 
scheme, WellCare would preserve its large profit mar-
gins in these two types of behavioral health care ser-
vices in spite of the new 80/20 rule. 

The defendants began planning for the new subsid-
iary at least as early as mid-2003.  On July 16, 2003, 
Farha emailed Kale stating, “[W]e really need to think 
about how to setup a BH [behavioral health] subsidiary, 
that will be capped at 80% of premium.”  Kale respond-
ed, “OK Todd…” 

By the fall of 2003, Farha grew impatient with the 
slow progress of implementation.  On September 17, 
2003, Farha sent an email to Kale with a subject line 
reading, “Status of BH Subsidiary / Need update.”  
Kale responded that the incorporation documents for 
the new subsidiary, “WellCare Behavioral Health, Inc. 
(WCBH),” were near completion and that outside coun-
sel would begin drafting contracts for Staywell and 
HealthEase to subcontract with WCBH.  Kale also ex-
plained that “a subsidiary corp is necessary for our Ar-
eas 1 & 6 programs” but that this “would change if the 
State would somehow repeal the 80% … requirement 
….”  Farha imposed a deadline:  “Bill, Given the stakes 
involved (potentially 400k/Month of giveback), the pace 
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of this project is not acceptable.  We must execute 
these intercompany contracts asap, and get this subsid-
iary operating by 10/1.  Why would we delay and in-
crease the amount of our potential giveback?  We must 
finalize this.”  (emphasis added).  Farha sent an even 
testier follow-up message to general counsel Thad 
Bereday:  “This Goddamn thing is costing us 
400K/Month.  OUTSOURCE:  Get it done, GT/ OTher/ 
Spend $$.  I don’t care.  This is absolutely stupid.”  On 
September 22, 2003, Kale wrote Farha:  “As we agreed, 
setting up the corporation is easy; it is the questions 
that follow (and probably many more not included in 
this work plan) that will determine if we create a viable 
organization if we were to be audited by AHCA.”4 

In September 2003, WCBH was finally incorpo-
rated.  Farha was WCBH’s president, CEO, and direc-
tor-chairman.  Behrens later became CFO and a direc-
tor.  Kale became Vice President of Clinical Operations.  
Like Staywell and HealthEase, WCBH did not provide 
any Medicaid-reimbursable health care services.5 

Lest there be any doubt, a WellCare slide titled 
“Fund Allocation Model” painted a clear picture of how 

                                                 
4 The “work plan” to which Kale referred appears to be a 

WellCare document titled “Behavioral Health Subsidiary Corpora-
tion Work Plan.”  It included such action items as (a) “Develop 
Business Justification for all lines of business”; (b) “Justify why 
HMOs would pay 80% premium”; and (c) “Separate sub-lease for 
WCBH:  Advantages in AHCA audit of distinctly standalone space 
at WellCare.” 

5 At one point, HealthEase owned and operated a clinic in the 
Pensacola area.  This exception aside though, Staywell and 
HealthEase were HMOs and did not provide health care services 
to patients and certainly not CMH/TCM services. 
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WellCare was creating and using this new subsidiary to 
evade the 80/20 rule: 

 
WellCare’s slide shows that WellCare’s Staywell 

and HealthEase would:  (1) receive the full premium 
from AHCA; (2) keep 15% for administration and over-
head; and (3) pay 85% to WCBH.  In turn, WCBH 
would pay only 45% of the whole for “direct behavioral 
health care services” and would keep 40% for admin-
istration, overhead, and profit.6  Under this fund alloca-
tion scheme, WellCare entities retained 55% of the be-
havioral health care premium for administration, over-
head, and profit, well over the 20% the 80/20 rule per-
mitted.  A jury could reasonably infer that Whitney’s 

                                                 
6 As the slide shows, out of that 40%, WCBH kept 24% and 

paid 16% to CHMI, another internal WellCare subsidiary, for 
management. 
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$400,000-per-month refund projection spurred the crea-
tion of the new subsidiary. 

A company email explained that the 85% rate paid 
to the new WCBH subsidiary was “based on the histor-
ical premiums received by” Staywell and HealthEase 
from AHCA and “based on a conceptual pass through 
of 85%” of the total premium received from AHCA.  
(emphasis added).  As WellCare financial analyst Greg 
West testified, the 85% pass-through figure was “[s]o 
[WellCare] wouldn’t pay anything back on the 80/20 
payback.”  Staywell and HealthEase each used a sub-
capitated rate to pay WCBH.  West testified he was 
told that the sub-capitated rate Staywell and 
HealthEase each paid WCBH was a “back-of-the-
envelope calculation,” which to him meant the kind of 
“calculation you do in your head or on a piece of paper 
that you’re going to throw away; so you have no record 
of how it was calculated.  And also that that would be 
round numbers, it wouldn’t be real-specific.” 

Another WellCare internal slide presentation 
framed WCBH as WellCare’s “[p]ro-active response to 
potential implications” of the “New Medicaid Mental 
Health Law in Florida” (the 80/20 rule).  The slides 
listed as an action item that WellCare needed to 
“[p]repare [a] rationale for WCBH and answers to All 
AHCA inquiries, if any.”  Staywell and HealthEase, by 
paying 85% of their behavioral health premium to 
WCBH, would pay at least twice as much as the market 
rates they would pay an independent, third-party BHO 
like CompCare. 

After WCBH was incorporated (and after the first 
round of 80/20 reporting discussed below), Farha in-
structed Kale to change WCBH’s name to Harmony 
Behavioral Healthcare—“and quickly.”  Farha ex-
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plained, “Let’s put some distance between BH [Har-
mony] and the WellCare name.”  On August 26, 2004, 
WCBH changed its name from WellCare Behavioral 
Health, Inc. to Harmony Behavioral Health, Inc. 
(“Harmony”). 

III.  80/20 EXPENSE REPORTS 

Because the relevant limitations period precluded 
fraud charges relating to 2004 and earlier, the 2011 in-
dictment charged the defendants with fraud only as to 
the CY 2005 and 2006 reports.  We nevertheless con-
sider the defendants’ conduct in submitting the CY 
2002-04 reports because it shows their acquired 
knowledge and motive by the time they submitted the 
CY 2005 and 2006 reports. 

A. CY 2002 and 2003 Reports 

In 2004, Staywell and HealthEase each received a 
set of two Worksheets, one for expenditures from July 
1 through December 31 of 20027 and one for all of 2003.  
The Worksheets showed on line 1 the amount of premi-
um AHCA allocated to CMH/TCM services.  In a June 
3, 2004 email, AHCA reminded Staywell and 
HealthEase that they were “required to expend at 
least 80 percent of the capitation paid on such services.”  
A cover letter reminded Staywell and HealthEase of 
their 80/20 obligations and explained how to fill out the 
Worksheets.  The cover letters quoted the contract 
language relating to the 80/20 rule: 

                                                 
7 The letters accompanying the CY 2002 Worksheets ex-

plained that AHCA’s general counsel elected to impose the 80/20 
requirements for only the second half of 2002, after the 80/20 law 
took effect, rather than for the full year, and AHCA had adjusted 
the premium figures in the Worksheets for CY 2002 accordingly. 
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By April 1 of each year, plans with members in 
Areas 1 and 6 shall provide a breakdown of ex-
penditures related to the provision of behavior-
al health care, using the spreadsheet template 
provided by the agency.  Pursuant to Section 
409.912(3)(b), F.S., 80 percent of the capitation 
paid to the plan shall be expended for the pro-
vision of behavioral health care services.  In the 
event the plan expends less than 80 percent of 
the capitation, the difference shall be returned 
to the agency. 

The letters explained that “[f]or reporting purposes, 
behavioral health care services are defined as those ser-
vices the plan is required to provide, as listed in the 
Community Mental Health and Targeted Case Man-
agement Services Coverage and Limitations Hand-
books.”  To stress that AHCA wanted to know what the 
providers were paid, the letter added that “[a]s used 
above, expended means the total amount, in dollars, 
paid directly or indirectly to behavioral health providers 
for the provision of those required behavioral health 
care services.”  The letters invited Staywell and 
HealthEase to contact AHCA if they had any questions. 

Upon receiving the CY 2002 and CY 2003 Work-
sheets, Pearl Blackburn, WellCare’s Director of Regu-
latory Affairs for Medicaid, filled out a “Regulatory In-
quiry Routing Form” marked “Follow-up Required:  
Urgent” with topic “Behavioral Health Expenditures” 
and forwarded the Worksheets to several WellCare ex-
ecutives, including Farha, Behrens (identifying him as 
the “owner” of the 80/20 reporting project), Harmony 
executive Dave Smith, and general counsel Thad 
Bereday.  On June 16, 2004, Bereday emailed Farha, 
Behrens, and others to inform them that their “team 
ha[d] been activated on the BH [behavioral health] ex-
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penditures reconciliation.”  Bereday explained that 
“they [were] already busy calculating [their] BH ex-
penditures to achieve the most favorable reporting pos-
sible to the state.”  Bereday added, “I have also dis-
cussed this matter with Paul [Behrens] ….  Paul will 
serve as the overall project lead.” 

The team responsible for calculating the 80/20 ex-
penses was Medical Economics, a division of WellCare’s 
Finance Department, which Behrens oversaw.  The 
team’s work largely fell to Smith, West, Kale, and an-
other employee.  Smith told West that Darrell Lettiere, 
a WellCare employee, had previously conducted a re-
fund analysis and estimated that Staywell and 
HealthEase would collectively owe a $10.2 million re-
fund.  Smith told West that they had been “charged by 
Todd Farha to find a way not to pay back 10 million dol-
lars.”  They had to “find[] a way to make it zero.” 

West examined Lettiere’s refund analysis and dis-
covered that it included a number of questionable 80/20 
expenses.  West noticed that Lettiere’s expense totals 
included not only payments to medical providers but 
also the amounts Staywell and HealthEase had paid to 
Harmony for the last two months of CY 2003.  In re-
sponse to West’s questions, Smith explained that Well-
Care had created Harmony as its own mental health 
company and Staywell and HealthEase had each paid 
Harmony 85% of the premium money they received 
from AHCA so “they didn’t have to pay it back.”  Let-
tiere’s analysis still resulted in a $10 million projected 
refund because Harmony had existed for only a few 
months of CY 2003.  To reduce the refund as close as 
possible to zero, as Farha requested, the team needed 
to include additional non-qualifying expenses. 
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To reduce the refund, Kale told West to add in such 
non-qualifying items as:  (1) a portion of all the pharma-
cy costs that correlated to the percentage of claims 
physicians submitted relating to behavioral health care; 
(2) both fee-for-service and capitation payments to pri-
mary-care physicians, including claims in which only a 
secondary diagnosis related to mental health (thus, for 
example, WellCare would include its payments for a 
claim involving a “broken arm” if the physician had in-
cluded “depression” as a secondary diagnosis); and (3) 
claims either (a) paid to a mental health provider, (b) 
involving a mental health diagnosis, or (c) using a men-
tal health procedure code, even though the CMH and 
TCM handbooks required all three elements for a claim 
to be considered a qualifying expense.  West character-
ized these expenses as “gray areas” and “questionable 
items,” or in some instances “not even remotely close to 
behavioral health” expenses.  Years later, Kale, during 
a secretly-recorded conversation, admitted:  “Yeah, I 
did that analysis, I … remember this all too well.”  Kale 
added, “We got very creative.” 

After including all of these non-qualifying items, 
the team managed to reduce Staywell and 
HealthEase’s collective total refund figure for CYs 
2002 and 2003 to $6,147,700.  On behalf of the team, 
Smith emailed Behrens and Bereday their final figures.  
Bereday then emailed Farha: 

After much back and forth, there is not going to 
be further change.  Kale is already waivering 
[sic] in his support of this number, there was 
difficulty obtaining verifiable data that we felt 
could survive audit, and Paul [Behrens] feels 
we are currently being as aggressive as possi-
ble while still defensible. 
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Smith is bringing you the certification now that 
you need to sign. 

Farha responded, “ok.” 

Staywell and HealthEase completed their CY 2002 
and 2003 Worksheets consistent with the spreadsheet 
that Kale, West, and Smith produced.  Staywell report-
ed to AHCA that it spent $1,848,330 (41.1% of its pre-
mium for CMH/TCM) on qualifying services in CY 2002 
and $4,519,744 (50.5% of its premium for CMH/TCM) on 
qualifying services in CY 2003.  This resulted in Stay-
well paying a $1,746,965 refund for CY 2002 and a 
$2,634,626 refund for CY 2003.  HealthEase reported to 
AHCA that it spent $1,663,077 (57.9% of its premium 
for CMH/TCM) on qualifying services in CY 2002 and 
$3,684,423 (61.2% of its premium for CMH/TCM) on 
qualifying services in CY 2003.  This resulted in 
HealthEase paying a $636,433 refund for CY 2002 and a 
$1,129,676 refund for CY 2003.  The entities collectively 
refunded $6,147,700 for CY 2002 and 2003. 

Farha signed off on the Worksheets affirming that 
“the expenditure information reported is true and cor-
rect to the best of [his] knowledge and belief.”  At trial, 
West testified that the 80/20 expenses Staywell and 
HealthEase reported in their CY 2002 and CY 2003 
Worksheets were “false number[s].” 

The government’s expert witness, Harvey Kelly, 
also testified the reported expenses were false.  Kelly 
was a forensic accountant, CPA, and managing director 
at a financial consulting firm.  Kelly reviewed and ana-
lyzed WellCare’s records, including its claims database.  
Based on his claims analysis, Kelly testified that the 
numbers WellCare reported were “not true and accu-
rate,” bearing “no logical relationship … between mon-
ies paid to third-party providers for the provision of 
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outpatient behavioral healthcare services.”  While 
Staywell and HealthEase collectively reported an 
80/20 expense total of $3,511,407 for CY 2002, their ac-
tual qualifying expenses totaled a mere $923,274, a dif-
ference of $2,588,133.  The difference was even greater 
for CY 2003.  Staywell and HealthEase reported an 
expense total of $8,204,167 for CY 2003, but their actu-
al qualifying expenses totaled $3,350,656, a difference 
of $4,853,511.  This means that in CY 2002 and CY 
2003, Staywell and HealthEase over-reported their 
expenses by over $7 million and substantially under-
paid their refunds. 

B. CY 2004 Reports 

AHCA renewed its contracts with Staywell and 
HealthEase for 2004.  The new contract and the CY 
2004 cover letter instructed:  “For reporting purposes 
… ‘behavioral health services’ are defined as those ser-
vices that the Plan is required to provide as listed in 
the Community Mental Health Services Coverage and 
Limitations handbook and the Targeted Case Manage-
ment Coverage and Limitations handbook.”  The new 
contract also instructed:  “For reporting purposes … 
‘expended’ means the total amount, in dollars, paid di-
rectly or indirectly to behavioral health providers sole-
ly for the provision of behavioral health services … not 
including administrative expenses or overhead of the 
plan.”  (emphasis added).  In January 2005, both Farha 
and Kale signed a WellCare “policy and procedure” 
document that mirrored the contract language. 

In February 2005, AHCA sent Staywell and 
HealthEase the CY 2004 Worksheets along with cover 
letters.  The substance of the Worksheets and cover 
letters was essentially unchanged.  As in CY 2002 and 
2003, AHCA completed line 1 of the Worksheets, show-
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ing the CY 2004 premium amount paid to Staywell and 
HealthEase for CMH/TCM services. 

As she had during the previous reporting cycle, 
Pearl Blackburn routed the 80/20 reporting materials to 
Farha, Behrens (again, the “owner” of the project), and 
Kale.  In response, on February 14, 2005, Farha emailed 
a group of people, including Behrens, Kale, Bereday, 
and Smith.  Farha wrote:  “Team, lets [sic] be sure we 
handle this one appropriately.  Who is on point for this 
process?”  Behrens replied:  “Todd, I am on point for the 
completion of this required form.  Specifically, Bill 
White is working with Medical Economics to assure 
timely and appropriate completion.”  Smith and West 
were again tasked with compiling data for the reports. 

West testified that he had expected Staywell and 
HealthEase to report qualifying expenses totaling 85% 
of the premium each entity had received from AHCA.  
That was because, according to Smith, Staywell and 
HealthEase contracted with Harmony for the purpose of 
paying 85% to Harmony and avoiding a refund.  For CY 
2003, West had used the sub-capitated Harmony pay-
ments for the last two months of the year but otherwise 
counted an assortment of varied expense items for the 
reports.  Because Harmony existed for all of CY 2004, 
and assuming Staywell and HealthEase had in fact paid 
Harmony 85% of their premium, West thought Staywell 
and HealthEase should refund nothing to AHCA. 

But Smith gave West different instructions.  “The 
idea was to come up with a payback” after all.  Smith 
told West to produce three preliminary refund scenari-
os based on different assumptions and generate total 
refunds of $0, $1 million, and $1.5 million.  The idea was 
to refund at least some amount to AHCA (presumably 
to avoid an audit).  Because reporting that Staywell and 
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HealthEase had each paid Harmony 85% of their pre-
mium would result in no refund, West had to adjust 
downward from 85%. 

To manipulate the figures and create three refund 
scenarios, West relied on the fact that not all of Stay-
well’s and HealthEase’s payments to Harmony covered 
qualifying outpatient behavioral health care services.  
Staywell and HealthEase each paid Harmony a signifi-
cant portion of premium for non-qualifying inpatient 
behavioral health care services, for which there was no 
AHCA reporting obligation.  While the entities’ journal 
entries recorded the total amount Staywell and 
HealthEase each had paid Harmony, neither the rec-
ords nor the entities’ contracts with one another distin-
guished between inpatient and outpatient payments.  
West therefore arbitrarily divided Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s total respective payments into inpatient 
and outpatient portions, which West would then ma-
nipulate to create his refund scenarios. 

West created numerous spreadsheets titled 
“AHCA Behavioral Health (TCM and CMH) Payback 
Calculation.”  Each spreadsheet identified a different 
portion of the CY 2004 premium for CMH/TCM as hav-
ing been paid to Harmony:  at 85%, Staywell and 
HealthEase would refund nothing; at 70%, they would 
collectively refund about $1 million; at 67%, they would 
collectively refund about $1.5 million.  For each refund 
scenario, as West reduced the outpatient portion of 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s sub-capitated payments to 
Harmony, he offset that reduction by increasing the in-
patient portion.  West never considered the actual 
amounts paid to health care providers for CMH/TCM 
services.  West did not consult the Medicaid handbooks 
as he had the year before.  The amounts Staywell and 
HealthEase actually paid (through Harmony) to health 
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care providers for CMH/TCM services were not re-
flected in any of his three calculations. 

Smith later revised his instructions to West:  the 
combined refund should total approximately $800,000, 
with Staywell and HealthEase each paying a portion, 
and the inpatient rates Staywell and HealthEase paid to 
Harmony should be the same.8  These criteria had noth-
ing to do with actual expenses for CMH/TCM services.  
West explained that Smith’s parameters required him to 
“back[] into” inpatient rates for both Staywell and 
HealthEase, increasing one HMO’s refund figure and 
decreasing the other’s until the inpatient rates were the 
same for both.  West changed the numbers in his 
spreadsheets to comply with Smith’s instructions, 
thereby producing a fourth refund scenario.  As Kelly, 
the forensic accountant, explained, West’s calculations 
focused not on determining qualifying expenses but on 
coming up with a desirable refund figure to AHCA. 

West discussed his work with Behrens, and Stay-
well’s and HealthEase’s final Worksheets were again 
based on West’s calculations.  This time, Imtiaz Sattaur, 
then president of Staywell and HealthEase, signed in-
stead of Farha.  At trial, however, Sattaur testified that 
the work of WellCare’s Medical Economics team “would 
be approved by Mr. Paul Behrens, and the ultimate sign-
off on the approval of whether [the Worksheets get] 
filed with the State would be by Mr. Todd Farha.” 

Staywell certified to AHCA that, in CY 2004, it 
spent $6,525,079 (72.1% of its premium for CMH/TCM) 

                                                 
8 The total sub-capitated rate that Staywell and HealthEase 

each paid Harmony was not broken down into inpatient and outpa-
tient rates in Harmony’s contracts.  West thus manipulated the 
inpatient and outpatient rates to create these refund scenarios. 
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on qualifying services.  Staywell therefore refunded 
$713,642 to AHCA.  HealthEase certified that, in CY 
2004, it spent $5,119,436 (79.0% of its premium for 
CMH/TCM) on qualifying services.  HealthEase there-
fore refunded $65,707 to AHCA.  The combined total 
expenses were $11,644,515 and the combined total re-
fund was $779,349. 

West testified that the 80/20 expenses Staywell and 
HealthEase reported on their Worksheets were “false 
number[s].”  Kelly, the forensic accountant, confirmed 
the falsity of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reports.  
Based on an analysis of claims data, Kelly testified that 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s actual CY 2004 qualifying 
expenses totaled only $3,522,000, a difference of 
$8,122,515.  By over-reporting their expenses by over 
$8 million, Staywell and HealthEase substantially un-
derpaid their refunds. 

WellCare’s own internal documents also confirmed 
the falsity of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s CY 2004 re-
ports.  Smith directed West to calculate for internal use 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s “actual expenditures” in 
monies “actually being used for [CMH/TCM services].”  
West testified that he created a spreadsheet, partly 
with Clay’s input, which calculated Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s CMH/TCM expenses according to the 
“strict definition” of qualifying expenses found in the 
CMH and TCM handbooks provided by AHCA.  Ac-
cording to West’s spreadsheet, Staywell and 
HealthEase (through Harmony) had actually spent only 
$3,237,891.98 combined (19.9% of their premium) on 
CMH/TCM services in CY 2004, far below the 
$11,644,515 they reported to AHCA. 

West testified that, if claims for additional proce-
dure codes provided by Kale were factored in, Staywell 
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and HealthEase’s 80/20 expense percentage rose from 
19.9% to 22.6%.  Even if all of Harmony’s administra-
tive costs were included, the percentage rose to only 
51.1%.  These percentages were still well short of the 
72.1% and 79.0% expense percentages Staywell and 
HealthEase reported to AHCA in the Worksheets.9  
Subsequently, Bereday shared with Farha a presenta-
tion that detailed Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reported 
expenses (72.1% and 79.0% respectively) and revealed 
what the entities’ “Medical Costs” were as defined by 
AHCA—that is, their actual qualifying expenses 
(19.9%, 22.6%, or 51.1%, per West’s analysis).  Farha 
thus knew that Staywell and HealthEase had not re-
ported their expenses for CMH/TCM services con-
sistent with AHCA’s definition of qualifying expenses. 

C. CY 2005 Reports 

In mid-April 2006, AHCA sent Staywell and 
HealthEase the Worksheets for CY 2005 with instruc-
tional cover letters.  Once again, the Worksheets listed 
“Targeted Case Management” and “Community Mental 
Health” as the only qualifying expenses on line 2.  The 
Worksheets also defined “behavioral health services” 
as “community mental health and targeted case man-
agement services only.”  As in prior years, AHCA com-
pleted line 1 of the Worksheets, showing how much 
premium Staywell and HealthEase received in CY 
2005. 

                                                 
9 As we discuss infra, there was a mathematical error in the 

premium figure AHCA listed on line 1 of the Worksheets for CY 
2002 through 2004.  Even if AHCA had listed the correct figure on 
line 1 of the Worksheets for CY 2004, Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
qualifying expense percentages would still have been far below 
what they reported for CY 2004.  Line 1 did not affect Staywell’s 
and HealthEase’s qualifying expenses. 
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While AHCA made minor wording changes to the 
Worksheet, AHCA revised the cover letter in some no-
table ways.  The new cover letter now quoted language 
from the 80/20 law rather than from the AHCA con-
tracts.  Also, previous cover letters had instructed 
Staywell and HealthEase to use the CMH and TCM 
handbooks to determine which types of behavioral 
health care services qualified under the 80/20 rule.  This 
time, the cover letter listed the only authorized proce-
dure codes for eligible expenses, stating: 

The Agency has determined that for this pur-
pose, “behavioral health care services” is de-
fined as community mental health (procedure 
codes H0001HN; H0001HO … or T1023HF) 
and targeted case management (procedure 
codes T1017; T1017HA; or T1017HK). 

The AHCA contract in CY 2005 was the same one as CY 
2004, and consequently still required Staywell and 
HealthEase to report only money paid to health care 
providers, not any administrative expenses or overhead. 

In mid-March 2006, before WellCare received the 
CY 2005 Worksheets, WellCare’s Medical Economics 
team started working on Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
CY 2005 reports.  West encountered several new hur-
dles.  During CY 2005, AHCA had paid Staywell and 
HealthEase substantially more in capitation money for 
CMH/TCM services than previous years due to 
AHCA’s expanding the CMH/TCM program statewide.  
Although Staywell and HealthEase now covered 
CMH/TCM services for all of Florida (rather than just 
Areas 1 and 6), Staywell and HealthEase had not paid 
any of this new premium money to Harmony, which 
held the subcontracts with providers.  In CY 2004, 
AHCA had allocated $15,529,829 as Staywell and 
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HealthEase’s combined premium.  But in CY 2005, 
West estimated that Staywell and HealthEase com-
bined received $30,310,183, almost twice as much. 

When West calculated the prospective CY 2005 re-
funds using Staywell’s and HealthEase’s existing sub-
capitation rates to Harmony and the same Harmony 
inpatient rates from CY 2004, West projected that 
Staywell and HealthEase would collectively owe 
AHCA an $11.9 million refund.  West explained the 
problem to Clay and WellCare employee Bill White.  
White said, “[W]e should have changed our contract 
[with Harmony], and we didn’t.” 

West reported to Kale that if they wanted to re-
fund nothing for CY 2005, they would have to reduce 
Harmony’s inpatient rate, which was $4.91 PMPM in 
CY 2004, to between $1.50 and $2.46 PMPM.  Kale re-
sponded, “[T]his is good information.”  Kale added, “If 
we wanted a small payback with an MLR below 80, we 
can attempt to justify a[n inpatient] number around 
2.75 or 3.00.  Thanks.” 

To avoid dramatically reducing the inpatient rate 
for both Staywell and HealthEase, the reporting team 
instead added (1) Staywell’s sub-capitation payments to 
Harmony of $7,337,954 for CMH/TCM services general-
ly and (2) Harmony’s payments of $5,263,500 to health 
care providers in Areas 2-5 and 7-11, thereby manipu-
lating Staywell’s total expense figure to be $12,601,454.  
For HealthEase, the team added (1) HealthEase’s sub-
capitation payments to Harmony of $6,169,747 for 
CMH/TCM services generally and (2) Harmony’s pay-
ments of $5,122,816 to health care providers in Areas 2-
5 and 7-11, thereby manipulating HealthEase’s total 
expense figure to be $11,292,563.  At trial, Kelly, the 
forensic accountant, described this maneuver as a kind 
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of “double counting.”  Although Staywell and 
HealthEase had not actually paid Harmony any of the 
increased premium they had received for the 
CMH/TCM program expansion, Harmony nevertheless 
had covered CMH/TCM claims statewide.  Kelly ex-
plained, “You can’t have it both ways.  You can’t say … 
‘I’m going to pay you for the capitation,’ and ‘oh, by the 
way, you know, if you pay any providers, I’ll tell the 
state I paid the providers too.’” 

With this method, West projected Staywell and 
HealthEase would owe a combined refund of $699,223, 
far less than the $11.9 million West had originally pro-
jected.  West was optimistic about this calculation ma-
neuver because the total projected refund amount was 
close to the previous year’s refund of almost $800,000 
without dramatically affecting Harmony’s inpatient 
rate.  In a group email that included Clay, West ex-
plained his work and wrote “I think we got it!” 

But not quite.  West’s calculations were based on 
his estimate that Staywell and HealthEase had received 
a combined $30,310,183 in premium for CMH/TCM ser-
vices for CY 2005.  West estimated a $30,310,183 premi-
um figure based on information from rate tables on 
AHCA’s website.  On April 18, AHCA emailed Staywell 
and HealthEase the CY 2005 Worksheets.  On line 1, 
AHCA allocated a $12,306,570 premium to Staywell and 
a $12,572,017 premium to HealthEase.  The combined 
total premium of $24,878,587 was about $5.4 million less 
than West’s original $30,310,183 estimate. 

This $5.4 million difference between the actual 
premium figure on the Worksheets and West’s estimat-
ed premium figure came to be known as the “premium 
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difference.”10  Those both inside and outside of Medical 
Economics at WellCare did not know what to make of 
this premium difference between what AHCA said it 
had paid Staywell and HealthEase for outpatient be-
havioral health care, reflected on line 1, and what West 
estimated AHCA had paid.  In the past, the premium 
figures on line 1 of the Worksheets had differed from 
West’s estimates by only a slight amount.  Now, the dif-
ference substantially affected the refund calculation, 
resulting in neither Staywell nor HealthEase owing a 
refund. 

Despite their confusion, no one at WellCare called 
AHCA for clarification, even though the cover letters 
accompanying the Worksheets invited them to do so.  
From mid-April to mid-June 2006, the expense report-
ing team discussed what to make of this premium dif-
ference and whether it should factor into the expenses 
Staywell and HealthEase would report to AHCA.  Of 
course, what Staywell and HealthEase actually spent 
on qualifying expenses was unrelated to the premium 
AHCA listed on line 1 of the Worksheets.  Any change 
on line 1 would affect the HMOs’ refunds but not their 
qualifying expenses. 

Over the next several weeks, West and others con-
sidered a variety of refund scenarios.  By mid-June, 

                                                 
10 For the first few 80/20 reporting cycles, AHCA’s premium 

figures on line 1 of the 80/20 Worksheets were inaccurate due to an 
error in the rate tables on AHCA’s website.  In prior years, the 
Worksheet premium figures included money for some inpatient 
behavioral health care services (non-80/20) in addition to the mon-
ey Staywell and HealthEase received to cover outpatient behav-
ioral health care, namely CMH/TCM services.  As a result, the 
premium figures on the Worksheets were too high.  For CY 2005 
and years following, AHCA corrected that error and listed the 
correct premium figures on the 80/20 Worksheets. 
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they found themselves up against the submission dead-
line for Staywell’s and HealthEase’s Worksheets.  Clay 
met with Farha and suggested that Staywell and 
HealthEase refund nothing for CY 2005.  Farha disa-
greed, explaining to Clay, “No, we’re not going to do it 
like that.  You have to pay the Gods something.” 

Clay passed Farha’s orders along to West:  “Farha 
wants to pay back a million.”11  West was not sure how 
that request could be met.  After rocking back and 
forth on his heels and glancing around for a few mo-
ments, Clay asked, “We have a premium difference, 
don’t we?”  “Yeah,” West answered.  Clay pressed, 
“Well, if you refunded that?”  As discussed below, Clay 
instructed West to run the numbers using the premium 
difference calculation Clay had suggested.  West testi-
fied that Clay then stared off into the distance and said 
to no one in particular, “[I] was told to find a million.  [I] 
didn’t know how [I] could do it, and [I] did it.” 

Before encountering the premium difference, West 
had counted both (1) Staywell and HealthEase’s com-
bined sub-capitation payments to Harmony, 
$13,507,701, and (2) Harmony’s fee-for-service pay-
ments to providers in Areas 2-5 and 7-11, $10,386,316.  
Now, to reach Farha’s desired $1 million refund, Clay 
instructed West to subtract the premium difference 
from Harmony’s total fee-for-service payments in Are-
as 2-5 and 7-11.  This calculation simply halved the fee-
for-service costs that Staywell and HealthEase double 
counted and yielded the desired result, increasing the 
combined refund total for Staywell and HealthEase to 
about $1.4 million.  As with other aspects of Staywell 
                                                 

11 West later testified that Behrens and Bereday also con-
firmed to West that Farha wanted to refund about one million dol-
lars to AHCA for CY 2005. 
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and HealthEase’s evolving expense reporting method-
ology, this premium difference calculation bore no rela-
tionship to what Staywell and HealthEase (through 
Harmony) had actually paid providers of CMH/TCM 
services or even to what Staywell and HealthEase had 
paid Harmony.  Kelly, the forensic accountant, testified:  
“You have them including as components like the pre-
mium difference that has nothing to do with actual 
amounts expended or providing services.” 

On June 15, 2006, West, Behrens, and Clay reviewed 
the final numbers and then walked toward Bereday’s 
office.  On the way, Behrens slipped into Farha’s office, 
and West overheard a discussion about “1.4.”  Behrens 
rejoined the group and confirmed, “1.4 is okay.” 

As he looked over West’s spreadsheet, Bereday 
had questions.  “I understand [Farha] wants to make a 
million dollar payback,” he said, but “I also see we’re 
refunding premium.”  Bereday asked West about the 
premium difference and how confident West was about 
the premium estimates West had used in his refund cal-
culations.  West answered that the only way to be sure 
would be to call an AHCA financial analyst.  “No,” 
Bereday told West, “[Y]ou’re not going to call … 
AHCA.” 

Because Sattaur was out that day, Bereday invited 
WellCare’s Jim Beermann into his office to certify the 
Worksheets.  Bereday briefed Beermann on the Work-
sheets, explaining why WellCare had established Har-
mony and the components of the refund calculations, 
including the sub-capitation payments to Harmony, the 
double-counting calculation, and the premium differ-
ence calculation.  West testified that after hearing all of 
this, Beermann looked “pretty uncomfortable,” and 
Beermann “backed himself up against the door, like he 
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was trying to push himself out of the room.”  Beermann 
suggested they wait for Sattaur to return so that he 
could certify the expense reports.  But, according to 
West, Bereday, Behrens, and Clay immediately insist-
ed, “No, no, it’s got to go today, you’re signing it.”  
Beermann relented and signed the certifications. 

Staywell certified to AHCA that it spent $9,587,573 
or 77.9% of its premium for CMH/TCM on qualifying 
services in CY 2005 and refunded $257,683 to AHCA.  
HealthEase certified it spent $8,874,848 or 70.6% of its 
premium for CMH/TCM on qualifying services in CY 
2005 and refunded $1,182,766 to AHCA.  Combined, 
Staywell and HealthEase reported $18,462,421 in ex-
penses and paid a $1,440,449 refund. 

At trial, West admitted that the expenses Staywell 
and HealthEase reported for CY 2005 had nothing to 
do with what they paid to providers for CMH/TCM 
services.  Based on his analysis of claims data, Kelly, 
the forensic accountant, testified that, while Staywell 
and HealthEase together had reported $18,462,42 in 
CMH/TCM expenses for CY 2005, their actual qualify-
ing expenses, based on what Harmony paid to health 
care providers, totaled $13,100,136, a difference of 
$5,362,285.  By over-reporting their expenses by over 
$5 million, Staywell and HealthEase substantially un-
derpaid their refunds. 

WellCare’s internal records also revealed Stay-
well’s and HealthEase’s CY 2005 reports were false 
and fraudulent.  Starting with CY 2005, West’s internal 
spreadsheets included a calculation of Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s qualifying expenses and corresponding 
refunds if they counted only the money Harmony paid 
to providers for CMH/TCM services.  West’s spread-
sheets revealed that their qualifying expenses were 
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much less than they reported to AHCA.  As both West 
and the Kelly explained at trial, West’s spreadsheets 
showed that Staywell and HealthEase combined 
(through Harmony) had paid to health care providers 
only $12,956,122 or 52.1% of their premium on 
CMH/TCM services, and that they should have refund-
ed $6,946,748 to AHCA.  It was no secret that Staywell 
and HealthEase truly owed $6,946,748.  Only days be-
fore Beermann certified the Worksheets, Clay wrote 
Behrens, saying, “If we took AHCA payments and 
AHCA definitions of eligible care we would owe them 
$6.9 million.”  Instead, due to Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s false reporting, they refunded only 
$1,440,449 to AHCA. 

D. CY 2006 Reports 

We now turn to CY 2006, the reporting year for 
which Farha, Behrens, and Kale were convicted of 
health care fraud as to the false and fabricated expenses 
reported in the Worksheets, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1347, and Behrens was convicted of making false 
statements, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1035.  This was 
the fourth year that Staywell and HealthEase reported 
to AHCA their qualifying expenses for CMH/TCM ser-
vices.  By this time, it was perfectly evident that AHCA 
wanted to know what Staywell and HealthEase were 
paying to health care providers.  AHCA’s instructions 
were direct and unambiguous in three places:  (1) the 
contract, (2) the Worksheets, and (3) the cover letters. 

For 2006, AHCA, Staywell, and HealthEase execut-
ed new contracts, which, as before, expressly instructed:  
“For reporting purposes … ‘expended’ means the total 
amount, in dollars, paid directly or indirectly to com-
munity behavioral health services providers solely for 
the provision of community behavioral health services, 
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not including administrative expenses or overhead of 
the plan.”  (emphasis added).  AHCA’s requirement was 
clear:  only money paid to health care providers for 
CMH/TCM services qualified.  Staywell and HealthEase 
could not include administrative or overhead expenses.  
As in prior years, Farha signed a WellCare policy and 
procedure document agreeing to adhere to the 80/20 re-
quirement described in the 2006 AHCA contract. 

In February 2007, AHCA sent Staywell and 
HealthEase the Worksheets for CY 2006 with instruc-
tional cover letters.  The Worksheets cited the 80/20 
law and explained that Staywell and HealthEase were 
required to spend at least 80% of their outpatient be-
havioral health premium money on “behavioral health 
services.”  The Worksheets defined “behavioral health 
services” as “community mental health and targeted 
case management services only.”  (emphasis added).  
The Worksheets were clear that AHCA was asking 
Staywell and HealthEase to state expenses for only 
CMH/TCM services.  The Worksheets required the 
CEO or President of Staywell and HealthEase to certi-
fy that the reported expenses were true and correct.  
AHCA completed line 1 of the Worksheets, listing the 
portion of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s premium allo-
cated to CMH/TCM services. 

The CY 2006 cover letters closely mirrored the CY 
2005 cover letters.  Like the Worksheets, the letters 
instructed that Staywell and HealthEase were subject 
to the 80/20 law and quoted a portion of the the statute 
as follows: 

To ensure unimpaired access to behavioral 
health care services by Medicaid beneficiaries, 
all contracts issued pursuant to this paragraph 
shall require 80 percent of the capitation paid 
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to the managed care plan, including health 
maintenance organizations, to be expended for 
the provision of behavioral health care services.  
In the event the managed care plan expends 
less than 80 percent of the capitation paid pur-
suant to this paragraph for the provision of be-
havioral health care services, the difference 
shall be returned to the agency. 

The letters listed the specific CMH/TCM procedure 
codes that Staywell and HealthEase could count in re-
porting qualifying expenses.  The letters admonished:  
“Report expenditures for behavioral health care ser-
vices that cover targeted case management and com-
munity mental health services only.”  The letters invit-
ed Staywell and HealthEase to contact AHCA if they 
had any questions regarding their reporting obligations. 

A group email exchange ensued, which included 
Behrens, Kale, and Clay.  Behrens announced to the 
group that he would “take point” on completing Stay-
well’s and HealthEase’s 80/20 submissions.  For CY 
2006, Staywell and HealthEase had modified their con-
tracts with Harmony and increased their sub-capitation 
rates and payments.  This adjustment was intended to 
account for the increased premium AHCA was paying 
now that the CMH/TCM program was statewide.  West 
testified, however, that he calculated the new sub-
capitation rates, which had nothing to do with actual 
behavioral health care expenses.  West set the new 
rates to reflect 85% of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s pro-
jected premium for CMH/TCM services. 

West testified that during a meeting in Behrens’s 
office, he related that another company had paid $5 mil-
lion to settle with AHCA over the reporting method it 
had used.  West personally hoped Behrens would “take 
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the bait.”  But Behrens explained, “[T]he system works 
good for us.  We pay them a million dollars.  That’s 
enough.  They think the system works, and so, that’s 
it.”  Behrens believed that, if Staywell and HealthEase 
refunded about one million dollars to AHCA, AHCA 
would likely just accept Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
numbers and forgo an audit. 

In determining the expense figures to report for 
CY 2006, West worked with actuary Jian Yu, the new 
director of WellCare’s Medical Economics department.  
West explained to Yu (1) how Staywell and HealthEase 
had determined their expense figures in previous years 
and (2) that, the year before, Farha wanted to refund 
about one million dollars to AHCA.  In West’s words, 
“it became ‘how do you get there.’”  West told Yu of his 
concern that since Staywell and HealthEase had in-
creased their sub-capitation rates and payments to 
Harmony, Staywell and HealthEase might not have 
any amount to refund to AHCA at all.  Yu told West to 
calculate expenses the same way as he had the previous 
year and to get the refunds as close as he could to the 
CY 2005 numbers. 

Subsequently, West sent Yu a spreadsheet that 
displayed Staywell’s and HealthEase’s expense and re-
fund figures for all prior reporting years.  West’s 
spreadsheets also displayed three CY 2006 refund sce-
narios, each showing different expense figures that 
yielded different refund amounts.  In each scenario, 
West used the inpatient rate from the previous year to 
calculate the portion of the sub-capitation payments 
that Staywell and HealthEase would count as qualify-
ing CMH/TCM expenses. 

In the first scenario, West used the amount of the 
outpatient portion of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s sub-
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capitation payments to Harmony and reduced it by a 
specific sum, which West labeled a “Missing Premium.”  
This scenario mirrored West’s methodology for the CY 
2005 Worksheets, except it did not involve double-
counting both sub-capitation payments to Harmony and 
some of Harmony’s fee-for-services costs paid to pro-
viders.  The second scenario was the same except the 
“Missing Premium” amount was reduced.  The third 
scenario did not include a “Missing Premium” item at 
all, resulting in Staywell’s and HealthEase’s “Medical 
Costs” being the same hypothetical outpatient portion 
of the sub-capitation payments to Harmony (calculated 
by subtracting the inpatient portion of the sub-
capitation, based on an artificial inpatient rate of $4.68 
PMPM).  The third scenario was similar to the method-
ology West used for CY 2004. 

West calculated the total combined refund for 
Staywell and HealthEase under each of these three 
scenarios as:  (1) $1,948,246; (2) $1,354,226; and (3) $0.  
None of West’s scenarios attempted to calculate as 
qualifying expenses what Harmony had actually paid to 
providers of CMH/TCM services. 

West recommended the second scenario to Yu be-
cause it was the best option for reaching a refund be-
tween $1 million and $1.5 million.  Yu disagreed, pre-
ferring not to use a “Missing Premium” calculation at 
all.  Yu instead asked West to calculate the percentage 
of outpatient behavioral health care claims that used 
AHCA-approved CMH/TCM procedure codes and to 
multiply that percentage by the outpatient portion of 
the sub-capitation payments to Harmony.  The use of 
the CMH/TCM codes in this way still would not gener-
ate accurate expenses because the percentage Yu 
asked West to generate was a percentage of total 
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claims using the authorized codes, not a percentage of 
total dollars spent on authorized claims. 

Another serious problem with this calculation was 
that West did not have any current claims data, and the 
submission deadline was near.  So with Yu’s approval, 
West used older claims data to generate the percentage 
figure Yu requested (incidentally 85%).  He multiplied 
85% by the outpatient portion of the sub-capitation 
payments to Harmony.  Doing so yielded an expense 
percentage of 77.0% and a combined refund total of 
$1,108,726. 

West and Yu met with Behrens several times to 
discuss their calculations.  After West and Yu finalized 
their calculations, Behrens asked Yu why they were 
not adjusting their expense figures to account for the 
premium difference as they had for CY 2005.  Yu re-
sponded that such a method was not “actuarially 
sound.”  In response to Yu’s comment, Behrens grinned 
at West, licked his thumb, and held it up, as if testing 
the weather. 

Staywell and HealthEase once again submitted to 
AHCA their certified Worksheets.  Staywell’s Work-
sheet certified that Staywell spent $14,235,874 or 78.3% 
of its premium for CMH/TCM on qualifying services in 
CY 2006, resulting in a $305,828 refund to AHCA.  
HealthEase’s Worksheet certified that HealthEase 
spent $14,668,012 or 75.9% of its premium for 
CMH/TCM on qualifying services, resulting in a 
$802,898 refund to AHCA.  The combined total expens-
es for Staywell and HealthEase was $28,903,886, and 
the combined total refund was $1,108,726.  Behrens ap-
proved Staywell’s and HealthEase’s refunds to AHCA, 
and the refund checks bore Farha’s signature. 
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At trial, West testified that the expenses Staywell 
and HealthEase reported in their CY 2006 Worksheets 
were “false number[s].”  Kelly, the forensic accountant, 
testified that Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reported ex-
penses were “not true and accurate” and bore “[n]o logi-
cal relationship” to “moneys paid to third-party provid-
ers for the provision of outpatient behavioral healthcare 
services.”  Based on his claims analysis, Kelly testified 
that Staywell and HealthEase’s combined actual qualify-
ing expenses totaled $19,909,625, which was $8,994,261 
less in expenses than the $28,903,886 in expenses they 
reported to AHCA.  Simply put, in CY 2006 Staywell 
and HealthEase over-reported their expenses by almost 
$9 million and substantially under-paid their refunds. 

WellCare’s own internal records show that Staywell 
and HealthEase reported false, inflated expense figures 
to AHCA in CY 2006.  West’s final spreadsheet dis-
played these actual qualifying expenses and correspond-
ing refunds, along with the falsely inflated expenses and 
correspondingly deflated refunds Staywell and 
HealthEase submitted to AHCA.  As both West and 
Kelly explained at trial, West’s spreadsheet showed that 
Staywell and HealthEase spent only $17,904,508 or 
47.7% of their premium for CMH/TCM services on quali-
fying expenses, and they therefore should have refunded 
$12,108,104 to AHCA.  Instead, Staywell and 
HealthEase reported $28,903,886 or 77.0% in CMH/TCM 
expenses and refunded only $1,108,726 in CY 2006. 

By CY 2006, WellCare’s use of Harmony was serv-
ing its purpose.  The evidence sufficiently showed that 
with accurate reporting that year, Staywell and 
HealthEase should have refunded approximately $12 
million to AHCA.  But by creating Harmony and re-
porting what Staywell and HealthEase paid it, rather 
than what they paid providers of CMH/TCM services, 
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WellCare, in CY 2006 alone, avoided refunding approx-
imately $11 million.  To avoid an audit by AHCA that 
might reveal this fact, Staywell and HealthEase did not 
even report the full sub-capitation payments that they 
paid Harmony.  They instead manipulated the numbers 
to generate an arbitrary refund amount of slightly over 
$1 million to avoid drawing AHCA’s attention.  Kelly 
testified that through these years, Staywell and 
HealthEase used inconsistent 80/20 reporting methods 
that started with a predetermined refund amount and 
worked backward to reach that result. 

E. Cumulative Impact 

Kelly testified about the cumulative impact Stay-
well’s and HealthEase’s use of their Harmony pass-
through reporting method had on their reported ex-
penses and refunds.  He testified, based on his claims 
analysis, that across all reporting periods from CY 2002 
to CY 2006, Staywell and HealthEase had actually paid 
providers only $40,805,691, which was $29,920,705 less 
than the $70,726,396 in total expenses they reported to 
AHCA. 

Kelly also testified that he had examined Well-
Care’s Form 10-K, a restated financial statement (the 
“restatement”) publicly filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in 2007 to correct for 
accounting errors in WellCare’s compliance with its re-
fund obligations under the AHCA contracts.  Kelly ex-
amined the working papers of Deloitte & Touche LLP, 
the outside accounting firm that audited and prepared 
the restatement.  Based on the audited numbers in the 
restatement, Kelly calculated Staywell and HealthEase 
collectively had owed AHCA $35,134,000 more in re-
funds across all reporting periods than they had paid 
due to their false 80/20 expense reporting. 
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Using the restatement numbers, Kelly also calculat-
ed the impact Staywell’s and HealthEase’s use of their 
Harmony pass-through reporting method had on Well-
Care’s net income before taxes for tax years 2004, 2005, 
and 2006.  He calculated that Staywell and HealthEase’s 
combined net income before taxes should have been 
13.9% lower in 2004, 8.8% lower in 2005, and 6.5% lower 
in 2006 than they had previously reported without use of 
their Harmony pass-through reporting method. 

Then, using numbers from his own claims analysis, 
Kelly calculated that Staywell and HealthEase’s com-
bined net income before taxes should have been 14.7% 
lower in 2004, 7.4% lower in 2005, and 5.3 lower in 2006 
without use of their Harmony method.  Kelly testified 
that the two sets of figures, while not identical, never-
theless were close.  He explained the utility of compar-
ing the two sets of figures:  “It’s just another measur-
ing point to compare the results and—determine the 
reasonableness of my conclusion.” 

IV.  Patient Encounter Data 

Between 2005 and 2007, AHCA learned of the de-
fendants’ fraudulent 80/20 reporting through distinct 
but related mandatory reports.  AHCA required HMOs 
to report data regarding encounters between patients 
and medical providers (patient “encounter data”).  
AHCA used the patient encounter data (1) to keep 
track of the types and frequency of medical services de-
livered to Medicaid patients and (2) to set future capi-
tated rates payable to HMOs.  Through 80/20 expense 
reporting, AHCA tracked Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
annual, aggregate amounts paid to providers for 
CMH/TCM services.  But 80/20 reporting did not reveal 
unit cost per service provided.  In contrast, through en-
counter data reporting, AHCA tracked individual ser-
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vices provided to patients and sometimes the cost of 
those services. 

By 2005, large mismatches between Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s reported 80/20 expenses and their patient 
encounter data reflecting unit costs for CMH/TCM ser-
vices created discrepancies that AHCA investigated.  
AHCA requested Staywell and HealthEase to submit 
patient encounter data on several occasions.  In earlier 
years, Staywell and HealthEase had priced their pa-
tient encounter data based on Harmony’s costs—that 
is, what Harmony paid providers for services.  By 2007, 
they shifted to pricing their encounters based on what 
Staywell and HealthEase each paid to Harmony, re-
gardless of what Harmony paid to providers. 

We discuss Staywell’s and HealthEase’s patient 
encounter data reporting because it reveals (1) the de-
fendants’ efforts to hide from AHCA salient facts re-
garding their 80/20 reports and (2) the defendants’ in-
tent to defraud with respect to the submission of those 
80/20 reports.  These events also bear directly on the 
conduct for which Clay was charged. 

A. Discrepancies Discovered 

In early 2005, AHCA discovered discrepancies be-
tween Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 80/20 expense re-
ports and patient encounter data.  Using the patient 
encounter data, AHCA estimated what percentage of 
premium for CMH/TCM Staywell and HealthEase 
should have spent on qualifying services.  AHCA found 
these percentages to be far lower than the percentages 
Staywell and HealthEase had reported.  Staywell had 
certified to AHCA that it spent 50.5% of its premium 
on CMH/TCM services in CY 2003 and 72.1% in CY 
2004.  HealthEase had certified that it spent 61.2% of 
its premium on CMH/TCM services in CY 2003 and 
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79.0% in CY 2004.  By examining their encounter data, 
however, AHCA calculated that Staywell and 
HealthEase’s combined expenses from July 2003 
through June 2004 should have totaled only 21.1% of 
their premium for CMH/TCM services.12  In April 2005, 
AHCA requested that Staywell and HealthEase pro-
vide a detailed explanation to justify the wide variance 
between AHCA’s 21.1% estimate and the much higher 
percentages Staywell and HealthEase had reported in 
their 80/20 expense reports. 

Keith Sanders, a manager in WellCare’s Medical 
Economics department, drafted a reply letter.  The let-
ter truthfully disclosed that, while AHCA had counted 
money paid to providers, Staywell and HealthEase’s 
80/20 reports counted payments to Harmony: 

In your letter you express concern for differ-
ences between your calculated aggregate loss 
ratio of 21.08% and our submitted loss ratios of 
72.11% and 78.99% for Staywell and 
HealthEase respectively.  We believe the dif-
ferences in loss ratio calculation are due to a dif-
ference in the view of business entity paying 
the costs.  Our submission is based on capitated 
payments to Harmony Behavioral Health, Inc 
for the provision of covered outpatient services 
under the contract.  Your calculation is based on 
capitated payments, fee for service claims, and 
other monthly fixed fees for the same services 
paid by our contracted behavioral health pro-
vider Harmony Behavioral Health, Inc to their 
contracted “downstream” providers. 

                                                 
12 WellCare’s internal records for the same period reveal that 

Staywell and HealthEase, through Harmony, paid providers only 
19.4%. 
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(emphasis added). 

On May 27, 2005, Pearl Blackburn forwarded a copy 
of Sanders’s draft letter to Behrens, Kale, and Clay, 
among others.  Kale sent Behrens an email stating, 
“Paul, I would recommend that you or Thad [Bereday] 
have input in this letter.  Basically, I would suggest 
that we again state what we did … without getting into 
much detail.”  Behrens wrote back, “I agree that we 
need to further edit this letter.” 

The letters Staywell and HealthEase ultimately 
sent to AHCA were tight-lipped.  The revised letters 
wholly omitted Sanders’s explanation that Staywell and 
HealthEase counted their sub-capitation payments to 
Harmony as their 80/20 expenses, without regard to 
how much money Harmony paid to actual providers.  
Staywell and HealthEase responded with a 
smokescreen and did not disclose the true cause of the 
wide variance between their reported expense per-
centages and AHCA’s estimate. 

It is unquestionable that by 2005, WellCare execu-
tives, including Behrens, Kale, and Clay, knew the wide 
variance was due to Staywell’s and HealthEase’s hav-
ing reported their payments to Harmony rather than 
payments to providers.  In addition to falsely reporting 
80/20 expenses, by 2005 Behrens, Kale, and Clay knew 
that WellCare was actively misleading AHCA regard-
ing the false reporting. 

B. WellCare Inflates Costs 

On January 2, 2007, AHCA requested Staywell and 
HealthEase to submit patient encounter data for be-
havioral health care services in Areas 1 and 6 for the 
period of July 1, 2005, through June 30, 2006. 
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On January 16, 2007, Robert Butler, WellCare’s Di-
rector of Medicaid Policy Analytics and former Bureau 
Chief of AHCA’s Medicaid Program Analysis, convened 
a meeting with other WellCare employees to discuss 
how to price Staywell’s and HealthEase’s behavioral 
patient-provider encounters.  Unbeknownst to the 
meeting’s attendees, WellCare’s Sean Hellein had be-
gun secretly recording internal company conversations 
in preparation for filing a whistleblower suit. 

At the meeting, Butler suggested that Staywell and 
HealthEase price their behavioral health patient en-
counters to reflect what Harmony paid providers for 
health care services.  Specifically, Butler pointed out 
that (1) Harmony was part of WellCare, meaning that 
Harmony’s overhead and profit was retained by Well-
Care as a whole, and thus (2) Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s patient encounter data pricing should not 
reflect their payments to a related party (i.e. sub-
capitation money paid to Harmony) but should instead 
reflect the cost of services (i.e. money Harmony paid to 
medical providers).13  Butler asked whether Harmony 
provided any mental health services itself.  “No,” an-
swered one of the meeting’s attendees, “[Harmony does] 
utilizational review … it’s administrative dollars … [i]t’s 
all of our salaries.”  Another added, “It’s overhead.” 

                                                 
13 Later in the meeting, Butler explained why pricing encoun-

ters to reflect related-party transactions was problematic.  He ex-
plained that “because it’s a cap, it’s … a related entity, you may be 
very healthy in your capitation rate.”  West translated at trial:  
“Very healthy means … internally inflated costs.”  In other words, 
because Staywell, HealthEase, and Harmony were all owned by 
WellCare, they had an incentive to pay Harmony much more in 
sub-capitation money than an unaffiliated BHO in order to inter-
nalize any money not paid out to health care providers. 
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During the meeting, Kale and Clay entered the 
room and listened to Butler’s suggestion that WellCare 
price its patient encounter data to reflect Harmony’s 
payments to medical providers rather than the sub-
capitation sums that Staywell and HealthEase paid 
Harmony.  “[I]f we provide what you’re asking for,” 
Clay chimed in, “we’re in deep trouble.”  “The whole 
argument for Harmony,” Clay explained to Butler, “is 
85 percent, that’s our cost …. [T]he state is doin’ this as 
another end around, to find out how much money we’re 
makin’ in that.  Which we’ve been finessing, for years.”  
He added, “[W]e’re gonna have huge numbers and were 
[sic] gonna get a massive rate cut.”  Clay continued, 
“[P]rofit within Harmony is upwards of 50%, of that 
85%.  It’s huge …. Harmony direct expense for salaries 
and payroll they’d probably take it.  It’s this big slug in 
the middle, which is, the whole reason Harmony exists, 
to hide this.  So, are we gonna report that, or not?” 

Clay candidly expressed his concern, which others 
shared, that if AHCA learned how much WellCare was 
profiting off of the premium for CMH/TCM services, 
AHCA would reduce Staywell’s and Healthease’s capi-
tated rates.  Clay continued, “Every year we’ve fed the 
gods.  We’ve paid them a little money to keep them 
happy.  We’ve paid them a million bucks a year, or 
whatever.  If they’re now askin’ for us to pay it all, then 
let’s … get that conversation on the table.” 

Another meeting participant, Marc Ryan, shared 
Butler’s concern with reporting Medicaid patient en-
counter prices to reflect what Staywell and HealthEase 
paid Harmony.  Ryan explained why encounters priced 
that way would not “sit well” with AHCA and that 
AHCA was expecting patient encounters to be priced 
at something closer to Harmony’s actual costs to pro-
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viders so as to create a reliable process for setting capi-
tated rates. 

But Kale disapproved of any patient encounter da-
ta pricing methodology that would reflect costs as any-
thing less than what Staywell and HealthEase paid 
Harmony because WellCare had not disclosed its 80/20 
reporting methodology to AHCA: 

While, we’ve danced around this, and we send 
’em a check every year, we never, have formal-
ly been asked to justify, or we’ve never been 
audited for this.  So we’ve never shot the [Har-
mony] gun ever.  We’ve never had to publically 
say, this is how we priced it, this was our meth-
odology, and we have [Harmony] in the middle 
getting 85%, and that’s where we stand. 

(emphasis added).  After more back-and-forth, Clay 
added, “I don’t believe you can disconnect these [the 
two reporting processes] …. [I]f you price [the encoun-
ter data at] anything reasonable, we’re gonna show a 
50% loss ratio, and we’re right back to opening the Ki-
mono.”  At trial, West explained that “[o]pening the 
Kimono” was to “reveal” that “WellCare should be 
making a huge payback” to AHCA (since Staywell’s 
and HealthEase’s medical costs were 40-50% as op-
posed to the 80% required by the 80/20 rule). 

Clay proposed that they calculate patient encounter 
unit prices by dividing the total sub-capitation paid to 
Harmony by the total number of encounters, which Kale 
supported.  Doing so would allow them to account for all 
the sub-capitation payments to Harmony.  While Butler 
entertained this proposal, he stressed the importance of 
being forthright with AHCA about it.  Butler explained 
why patient encounter prices should reflect only actual 
costs in money paid to providers, not administration, 
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overhead, and profit for Harmony:  AHCA’s actuaries 
already built administration, overhead, and profit into 
the capitated rate.  Butler emphasized that if they 
wanted to price their patient encounter prices to reflect 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s sub-capitation payments, 
which he suggested was an “aggressive stance,” they 
should put a “disclaimer with it,” explicitly disclosing 
how they priced their patient encounters.  Then, he ex-
plained, “If they don’t like the prices, they are perfectly 
capable of repricing them however way they want.  
And, we haven’t hidden anything we just told them, this 
is, we recognize our subcap arrangement, period.” 

Apparently, Butler’s recommendation of candid 
disclosure fell flat.  As the group continued to discuss, 
Clay reminded the group:  “The problem is we got a 
high margin business we are trying to protect.”  Clay 
favored reporting their patient encounter prices to 
match the sub-capitation payments because doing so 
would put the “onus” on AHCA to negotiate the next 
capitated rate.  Clay explained, in his view, the patient 
encounter data reporting process was as “much a politi-
cal negotiation … as it [was] an analytic negotiation.”  
He added, “There’s more to this, than just pure analyt-
ics.”  Ultimately, the group decided to price patient en-
counters by spreading the sub-capitation payments 
across all Medicaid patient encounters.  The result was 
that Staywell and HealthEase would report prices well 
above Harmony’s actual costs for patient services. 

On January 29, 2007, in another secretly-recorded 
company conversation, several WellCare employees 
discussed the details of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
upcoming patient encounter data submissions.  Clay 
said, “I keep wanting … to make this a simple conver-
sation.  It is a simple conversation.  I think we’re going 
to have to put some numbers that are about 40 percent 
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higher than we think they should be, because we’re 
making about a 40 percent profit margin.  And that’s 
what we’re gonna submit …. And that’s all there is to 
this conversation.  It’s that simple.”  Clay later added, 
“[I]t’s just a matter of how inflated a unit cost number 
we’re going to be submitting.” 

On February 9, 2007, several WellCare employees 
met in Behrens’s office to discuss final matters before 
Staywell and HealthEase submitted their patient en-
counter data to AHCA.  During the conversation, 
Bereday expressed concern about an email Butler had 
sent in connection with the encounter data reporting 
process.  Bereday was concerned that Butler had care-
lessly conceded too much by suggesting in an email that 
it would be “misleading” to characterize Harmony as a 
provider.  Sean Hellein quickly corrected Bereday:  
“[D]o you understand why they made that distinction? 
…. [Harmony] is not a provider.”  Behrens agreed, “Uh, 
that’s right [Harmony] is not a provider of behavioral 
health services.” 

Behrens explained, “You can’t refer to them as a 
provider because technically under the, I’ll say, and 
maybe it’s not the law, but … of what, the state would 
consider to be a provider, is like somebody that has a 
license to provide medical services.”  But, he added, 
“[Harmony] is not licensed to provide medical ser-
vices.”  Behrens and Hellein agreed that AHCA was 
concerned with actual health care services.  Harmony 
did not provide such services and therefore was not a 
provider because, as Behrens put it, “[Harmony] 
doesn’t do the laying on of hands.”  Bereday pressed, 
“Okay.  But it’s a provider to us.”  Behrens agreed in a 
qualified sense:  “A provider of services.  Just as the 
electric company is a provider to us.” 
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Later that day, WellCare submitted its patient en-
counter data for Areas 1 and 6.  Its cover letter accom-
panying its encounter data stated vaguely, “Mental 
health encounters have been priced based upon the 
plans’ arrangements for behavioral health services, in-
cluding those paid on a capitated basis.”  The cover let-
ter still did not mention that Staywell and HealthEase 
priced their Medicaid patient encounters to reflect 
payments to Harmony rather than to providers of ser-
vices, even though Butler had originally suggested that 
Staywell and HealthEase be forthright about this fact 
in their encounter data submissions.  At trial, West ex-
plained that Behrens did not want that detail slipped to 
AHCA.  Behrens even suggested that they hold a meet-
ing after submitting their patient encounter data “to 
make sure that young Robert is on message.”  West tes-
tified that he understood Behrens to mean that Robert 
Butler needed to “understand[] that the encounters 
[had] been priced up to [Harmony] but he’s not to reveal 
to the agency the relationship between HealthEase and 
Staywell and [Harmony] and the providers.” 

C. AHCA Requests Backup 

On April 17, 2007, after Staywell and HealthEase 
submitted their CY 2006 80/20 expense reports, Hazel 
Greenberg of AHCA emailed Butler.  “Thank you for the 
filing of the Behavioral 80/20 refund reports and checks,” 
she said.  “The Agency is requesting that HealthEase 
and [Staywell] submit the encounter data, with codes and 
reimbursement amounts for each code, for documenta-
tion for the 2006 Community Mental Health and Target-
ed Case Management Expenses.”  Butler promptly 
alerted Behrens and Kale, among others. 

When West learned that AHCA “want[ed the] 
backups” to the 80/20 submission, “[d]own to every … 



53a 

 

[p]rocedure code,” he told his colleagues, “[T]he en-
counters aren’t gonna get you there.”  “[It] goes back to 
where Paul [Behrens] was,” he added.  “[I]f we cut ’em 
a check this big, they won’t do anything …. [W]hen 
they do something, that’s when you gotta pay the pip-
er.”  A colleague responded, “We should have sent 
them 2 million.”  This was the first time AHCA had re-
quested patient encounter data from Staywell and 
HealthEase as backup for their 80/20 expense reports.  
West was concerned because AHCA was asking for ex-
penses paid per claim and per Medicaid patient encoun-
ter, but Staywell and HealthEase had not reported 
their 80/20 expenses based on actual costs in money 
paid to Medicaid providers. 

On April 19, 2007, Behrens convened a meeting with 
Yu and West to discuss AHCA’s request for supporting 
data.  Behrens wanted to include as many patient en-
counters and procedure codes as possible, but West fa-
vored including only encounters with procedure codes 
expressly authorized in the cover letters accompanying 
the CY 2006 Worksheets.  West also suggested to Beh-
rens that Staywell and HealthEase tell AHCA that 
they counted the sub-capitation payments to Harmony 
as their expenses in their 80/20 reports.  West was 
“shocked” at how dismissive Behrens was of that idea. 

Ultimately, Behrens’s team settled on including as 
many patient encounters as possible and including pro-
cedure codes that the Worksheet cover letters had not 
authorized.  Staywell and HealthEase submitted their 
encounter data unpriced.  This way, if AHCA disap-
proved of any procedure codes, there would not be 
identifiable amounts per procedure code for which 
AHCA might demand a refund.  As a result, Staywell 
and HealthEase’s patient encounter data reporting 
methodology was inconsistent with their CY 2006 80/20 
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expense reporting methodology.  For CY 2006, Stay-
well and HealthEase purportedly did not count proce-
dure codes beyond those authorized by the Worksheet 
cover letters, but now Behrens ordered that those same 
previously-omitted codes be included.  West testified 
that he disagreed with Staywell and HealthEase’s ap-
proach and that he expressed his concern to Behrens, 
whom West described as the ultimate decision-maker 
for the encounter data.  In response, Behrens assured 
West that AHCA was “just going to ask for encounters 
and [AHCA was] going to put it on a shelf.”  Behrens 
also told West that he “hope[d] the law would come off 
the books”—that is, the “80/20 law.”14 

Behrens had West draft a letter in reply to AHCA 
regarding its patient encounter data request, the con-
tent of which Behrens and Yu dictated.  West’s letter 
explained: 

We have stated in our Financial Worksheet for 
the Calculation of Behavioral Health Care Ra-
tio for calendar year 2006 that Community 
Mental Health and Targeted Case Management 
Expenses are contracted on a comprehensive 
basis.  Since the Healthease and StayWell 
amount paid is not determined by the encoun-
ters submitted we have not used a pricing 
method that would force agreement to our 
comprehensive payment.  It should be noted 
that not all encounters have been received for 

                                                 
14 WellCare representatives, including Farha, lobbied law-

makers and other government officials to repeal the 80/20 law.  
Those efforts from 2002-2007 proved fruitless.  Years later, effec-
tive June 30, 2015, Florida repealed the 80/20 provision from its 
Medicaid statute.  See 2015 Fla. Laws 84, 87 (codified as amended 
at Fla. Stat. § 409.912 (2015)). 
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calendar year 2006 and some providers have 
not forwarded all encounters due which is still 
in resolution at this date. 

West’s letter did not disclose that Staywell and 
HealthEase had included unauthorized procedure codes 
in their patient encounter data.  More significantly, the 
letter failed to disclose Staywell and HealthEase’s use 
of their Harmony pass-through reporting method in 
their 80/20 reports. 

D. AHCA Requests Corrections 

On June 22, 2007, AHCA’s David Starn emailed 
Kale and explained that “the data submitted for 
Healthease and Staywell for the 2006 80/20 Annual Be-
havioral Health Expenditure report contained many 
procedure codes and revenue center codes that are not 
in our list of valid values for behavioral health report-
ing.”  Starn added, “Most importantly, there is no 
Amount Paid for any of the encounters reported.”  
(emphasis added).  Starn requested that Staywell and 
HealthEase resubmit their encounter data with correct 
information.  On June 25, 2007, West alerted Behrens 
and Yu to Starn’s request. 

Later that day, in another secretly-recorded con-
versation, Kale, West, and several others discussed 
how Staywell and HealthEase should respond to 
Starn’s message.  West explained the problem to his 
colleagues:  “Paul [Behrens] wanted me to count every-
thing in the encounters.  But, our payback was based on 
not counting everything.  So we had a little over a mil-
lion dollars to pay back.  But they thought that was, 
that would satisfy the AHCA gods, and it didn’t.”  Kale 
commented, “[W]e put stuff in there [the encounter da-
ta] that we didn’t even, uh, support with our payback.”  
Kale expressed his concern that once AHCA was able 
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to see what Harmony was actually paying providers 
and actually spending on Medicaid patient encounters, 
AHCA would likely reduce the premium money flowing 
to Staywell and HealthEase and accordingly to Harmo-
ny.  Kale further commented, “Once it goes away, it’s 
sure gonna hurt [Harmony’s] income statement.”  Kale 
later added, “I think the party’s over.”  West explained 
that he could not send patient encounter data back to 
AHCA without first walking it past Behrens because 
Behrens was “the ultimate decision maker” and had 
“been a decision maker from the beginning.” 

The group also discussed a range of related issues 
involving the 80/20 expense reports throughout the 
years.  Kale mentioned that he had been involved with 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 80/20 reporting for five 
years, and that every year “[t]he plan is give ’em 
[AHCA] a something …. Throw them a bone.”  But as 
to whether Staywell and HealthEase had ever been up 
front with AHCA about their reporting methodology, 
Kale admitted, “[U]ltimately we haven’t formally said, 
oh, well we have [Harmony].”  After the meeting, Kale 
emailed a Harmony employee and explained, “[West] is 
going to start re-pricing the encounters.”  Kale added, 
“I think this ultimately will lead to Paul Behrens, Thad 
[Bereday] and possibly Todd [Farha] weighing in on 
the strategy to take with AHCA since the dollar differ-
ence is $7-10M.” 

West began re-pricing Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
patient encounter data.  This time, West used only au-
thorized procedure codes.  West “priced up” all of the 
Medicaid patient encounters to at least match the 85% 
premium money Staywell and HealthEase had paid 
Harmony as expenses submitted in their 80/20 reports 
for CY 2006.  As with the earlier submission for Areas 1 
and 6, this method allowed West to evenly spread Stay-
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well’s and HealthEase’s reported 80/20 expenses across 
all of their qualifying patient encounters.  West testified 
that, as Behrens described it, West “[s]pread it like pea-
nut butter, spread it across everything.”  As a result, 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s patient encounter data was 
again false and did not reflect unit costs of Medicaid pa-
tient encounters—that is, money paid to Medicaid pro-
viders—which AHCA was obviously requesting. 

WellCare resubmitted Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
patient encounter data as back-up for their CY 2006 
80/20 expenses.  In a letter accompanying the submis-
sion, WellCare failed to disclose that Staywell and 
HealthEase were reporting Medicaid patient encoun-
ters based on the payments to Harmony rather than on 
the money Staywell and HealthEase (through Harmo-
ny) paid providers.15 

E. Raid on WellCare and Clay’s False Statements 

On October 24, 2007, over 200 federal investigators 
raided WellCare’s corporate headquarters in Tampa 
and executed a search warrant of the premises.  During 
the raid, Clay agreed to be interviewed by two federal 
investigators, FBI Agent Vic Milanes and Agent Blair 
Johnston of the U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services.  The agents interviewed Clay in his office for 
approximately an hour and a half, discussing issues re-

                                                 
15 The government’s brief marshals Rule 404(b) evidence pre-

sented at trial showing Behrens and Clay’s participation in a false 
expense reporting scheme under a separate Florida statute, gov-
erning the Florida Healthy Kids program.  Because the evidence is 
more than sufficient to sustain their convictions for their roles in 
producing Staywell’s and HealthEase’s fraudulent expense re-
ports, we need not expand this opinion to set forth this Rule 404(b) 
evidence.  On appeal, no one argues that this Rule 404(b) evidence 
was wrongfully admitted. 
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lated to Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 80/20 reports.  
Agent Milanes asked Clay questions.  Agent Johnston 
later memorialized the details of the interview in a re-
port.  While the notes Agent Johnston took of Clay’s 
responses were not verbatim, Agent Johnston testified 
that he attempted to use Clay’s own words. 

Agent Milanes asked Clay if Staywell and 
HealthEase had over-reported their outpatient behav-
ioral health costs to AHCA over the years in order to 
avoid paying money back to AHCA.  Clay responded 
that, to his knowledge, they had not.  Agent Milanes 
also asked Clay whether Staywell and HealthEase had 
purposefully inflated the costs of their behavioral 
health encounter submissions to AHCA.  Clay respond-
ed that, to his knowledge, they had not.  Agent Milanes 
then asked Clay whether he had ever attended a meet-
ing where it was discussed or suggested that Staywell 
and HealthEase should inflate the unit costs of their 
encounter claims over the actual costs in their submis-
sions to AHCA.  Clay answered that there had been no 
intentional inflation of costs discussed at meetings con-
cerning AHCA’s encounter or claims information re-
quests.  At trial, Agent Johnston testified that he did 
not recall Clay asking for clarification of any questions 
Agent Milanes asked him. 

After the raid, Kale told West, “[Y]ou have nothing 
to worry about …. I may have something to worry 
about, but you have nothing to worry about.”  Kale also 
reached out to Pearl Blackburn.  Kale told Blackburn 
that “he had made up numbers.”  When Blackburn asked 
why Kale would do that, Kale said that “he thought he 
could get away with it” and “that it was a game.” 

With this factual background, we now consider the 
issues on appeal. 
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V.  SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

As to the CY 2006 expense reports, defendants 
Farha, Behrens, and Kale challenge the sufficiency of 
the evidence as to their § 1347 convictions for health 
care fraud and defendant Behrens also does so as to his 
§ 1035 convictions for making false representations to 
AHCA.  Clay separately challenges his § 1001 convic-
tions for making false statements to federal agents.  All 
defendants contend that the district court erred in 
denying their motions for judgment of acquittal. 

A. Standard of Review 

We review de novo a district court’s denial of a 
Rule 29 motion for judgment of acquittal, “viewing the 
evidence in the light most favorable to the government 
and drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the 
jury’s verdict.”  United States v. Martin, 803 F.3d 581, 
587 (11th Cir. 2015).  “‘The test for sufficiency of the ev-
idence is identical, regardless of whether the evidence 
is direct or circumstantial,’ but if the government relied 
on circumstantial evidence, ‘reasonable inferences, not 
mere speculation, must support the conviction.’”  Id. 
(citation and alterations omitted). 

“It is not enough for a defendant to put forth a rea-
sonable hypothesis of innocence, because the issue is 
not whether a jury reasonably could have acquitted but 
whether it reasonably could have found guilt beyond a 
reasonable doubt.”  United States v. Thompson, 473 
F.3d 1137, 1142 (11th Cir. 2006).  “We will not overturn 
a jury’s verdict if there is ‘any reasonable construction 
of the evidence that would have allowed the jury to find 
the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.’”  
Martin, 803 F.3d at 587 (alterations omitted).  The jury 
has exclusive province over the credibility of witnesses, 
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and we may not revisit the question.  United States v. 
Hernandez, 743 F.3d 812, 814 (11th Cir. 2014). 

B. Health Care Fraud Under §§ 1347 and 1035 

Farha, Behrens, and Kale were convicted of health 
care fraud committed in CY 2006, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2 (Counts 8 and 9).  Section 1347 
makes it a crime for an individual “knowingly and will-
fully” to execute, or attempt to execute, a scheme or 
artifice “(1) to defraud any health care benefit pro-
gram” or “(2) to obtain, by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the 
money or property owned by, or under the custody or 
control of, any health care benefit program” if done “in 
connection with the delivery of or payment for health 
care benefits, items, or services.”  18 U.S.C. § 1347(a). 

Section 1347(a) proscribes:  (1) fraud on a health care 
benefit program, here the Florida Medicaid program, see 
18 U.S.C. § 1347(a)(1); and (2) obtaining a program’s 
money “by means of false or fraudulent … representa-
tions,” see id. § 1347(a)(2); accord United States v. Den-
nis, 237 F.3d 1295, 1303 (11th Cir. 2001) (noting that an 
offense under the similarly-structured and similarly-
worded bank fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1344, “is estab-
lished under two alternative methods”) (citing United 
States v. Goldsmith, 109 F.3d 714, 715 (11th Cir. 1997)). 

The indictment charged Farha, Behrens, and Kale 
with both types of health care fraud covered by § 1347.  
The core fraudulent conduct was generally similar for 
both.  Specifically, the defendants participated in a 
scheme to defraud AHCA by submitting, or aiding and 
abetting the submission of, false expense amounts in the 
CY 2006 Worksheets in order to reduce their AHCA 
refunds by millions of dollars.  The government thus had 
to prove that (1) the CMH/TCM expenses reported in 
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the CY 2006 Worksheets submitted to AHCA were, in 
fact, false; and (2) the defendants knew those represen-
tations were, in fact, false.  See United States v. Vernon, 
723 F.3d 1234, 1273 (11th Cir. 2013) (citing United 
States v. Medina, 485 F.3d 1291, 1297 (11th Cir. 2007)). 

Behrens was also convicted of making false and 
fraudulent representations in matters involving a health 
care benefit program, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1035 
and 2 (Counts 4 and 5).  Section 1035 makes it a crime 
for an individual, “in any matter involving a health care 
benefit program,” to “knowingly and willfully” (1) falsi-
fy, conceal, or cover up by any trick, scheme, or device a 
material fact or to (2) make any materially false, ficti-
tious, or fraudulent statements or representations, or 
make or use any materially false writing or document 
knowing the same to contain any materially false, ficti-
tious, or fraudulent statement or entry, in connection 
with the delivery of or payment for health care benefits, 
items, or services.16  U.S.C. § 1035(a). 

The indictment charged Behrens under § 1035(a)(2) 
for making, or aiding and abetting the making of, mate-
rially false, fictitious, and fraudulent representations.  
The core fraudulent conduct was similar to that 
charged under § 1347.  The government had to prove 
that the CMH/TCM expenses reported in the CY 2006 
Worksheets were, in fact, false and Behrens knew that 
they were, in fact, false. 

Furthermore, Farha, Behrens, and Kale were 
charged under an aiding and abetting theory in their 
                                                 

16 The term “health care benefit program” has the same 
meaning in § 1035 as it does for purposes of § 1347.  18 U.S.C. 
§§ 23(b), 1035(b).  The parties do not contest that the Florida Med-
icaid program administered by AHCA meets the definition of 
“health care benefit program.” 
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§ 1347 health care fraud counts and so too was Behrens 
in his § 1035 false representation counts.  Regardless of 
who principally executed the fraud in CY 2006 or signed 
the CY 2006 expense reports, the defendants could be 
convicted if they aided, abetted, counseled, induced, or 
procured the commission of the false representations, or 
if they willfully caused the false representations to be 
committed.  United States v. Sosa, 777 F.3d 1279, 1292 
(11th Cir. 2015) (citing 18 U.S.C. § 2).  “Under 18 U.S.C. 
§ 2, aiding and abetting is not a separate federal crime, 
‘but rather an alternative charge that permits one to be 
found guilty as a principal for aiding or procuring some-
one else to commit the offense.’”  Id. 

C. CY 2006 Reported Expenses Were False 

On appeal, Farha, Behrens, and Kale primarily con-
tend that (1) the expense amounts for CMH/TCM ser-
vices to Medicaid patients, as reported in the CY 2006 
Worksheets, were true, not false, and, in any event, (2) 
they did not know that those reported expense 
amounts were false. 

Our extensive review of the evidence above allows 
for brevity in this analysis.  Abundant evidence estab-
lished that Staywell and HealthEase reported false and 
fraudulent CY 2006 expenses.  Staywell and Health-
Ease never reported the amounts paid to providers of 
CMH/TCM services to Medicaid patients or even the 
accurate sums paid to Harmony.  Both West, Well-
Care’s own employee, and Kelly, the forensic account-
ant, testified that the reported CMH/TCM expense 
amounts were false and explained why.  In the raid, the 
government obtained WellCare’s own internal records 
that showed exactly what total expense amounts were 
paid to providers, and those amounts were millions be-
low what Staywell and HealthEase reported to AHCA. 
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Defendants claim their CMH/TCM expense reports 
were truthful because the 80/20 rule did not require 
them to report money paid to health care providers of 
CMH/TCM services, but allowed them to report what 
was paid to Harmony.  Defendants’ arguments fail for 
multiple reasons. 

First, AHCA asked and required Staywell and 
HealthEase to report what they paid providers of 
CMH/TCM services—not companies (like Harmony) 
that rendered administrative services.  The defendants 
rely on the language of Florida’s 80/20 law, but Stay-
well’s and HealthEase’s reporting obligations were gov-
erned not only by that law but also by (1) their 2006 con-
tracts with AHCA, (2) the instructions included on the 
80/20 Worksheets, and (3) the specific procedure codes 
and instructions in AHCA’s cover letters accompanying 
the 80/20 Worksheets.  Read together, nothing was am-
biguous about what Staywell and HealthEase were re-
quired to report on line 2 of the CY 2006 Worksheets. 

The 80/20 law was clear.  To ensure access to care 
for Medicaid patients, the 80/20 law mandated that all 
of AHCA’s contracts “shall require” that 80% of the 
premium paid to a health plan must be expended for 
behavioral health care services: 

To ensure unimpaired access to behavioral 
health care services by Medicaid recipients, all 
contracts issued pursuant to this paragraph 
shall require 80 percent of the capitation paid 
to the managed care plan, including health 
maintenance organizations, to be expended for 
the provision of behavioral health care services.  
In the event the managed care plan expends 
less than 80 percent of the capitation paid pur-
suant to this paragraph for the provision of be-
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havioral health care services, the difference 
shall be returned to the agency. 

Fla. Stat. § 409.912(4)(b) (2006) (emphasis added).  The 
statute made explicit that if Staywell and HealthEase 
expended less than 80% of their premium “for the pro-
vision of behavioral health care services,” then “the dif-
ference shall be returned to [AHCA].”  Id. 

Likewise, the 2006 AHCA contract was clear.  The 
contract included an entire section, titled “Community 
Behavioral Health Services Annual 80/20 Expenditure 
Report,” explaining Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 80/20 
reporting obligations.17  The section informed Staywell 
and HealthEase that 80% of their premium shall be ex-
pended for behavioral health care services, as follows: 

1. By April 1 of each year, Health Plans shall pro-
vide a breakdown of expenditures related to 
the provision of community behavioral health 
services, using the spreadsheet template pro-
vided by the Agency (see Section XII, Report-
ing Requirements).  In accordance with Section 
409.912, F.S., eighty percent (80%) of the Capi-
tation Rate paid to the Health Plan by the 
Agency shall be expended for the provision of 
community behavioral health services.  In the 
event the Health Plan expends less than eighty 
percent (80%) of the Capitation Rate, the 
Health Plan shall return the difference to the 
Agency no later than May 1 of each year. 

                                                 
17 The defendants argue that the 2006 AHCA contract, ra-

ther than any of its prior versions, is the relevant contract for 
purposes of determining what Staywell’s and Healthease’s 80/20 
reporting obligations were for CY 2006.  The government does 
not disagree.  We therefore consider the 2006 contract for purpos-
es of our analysis. 
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a. For reporting purposes in accordance with 
this Section, ‘community behavioral health 
services’ are defined as those services that 
the Health Plan is required to provide as 
listed in the Community Mental Health 
Services Coverage and Limitations Hand-
book and the Mental Health Targeted Case 
Management Coverage and Limitations 
handbook. 

Most importantly, the section expressly and precisely 
described qualifying expenses under the 80/20 rule.  
The section explained that “expended” meant (1) the 
money paid to “community behavioral health services 
providers solely for the provision” of CMH/TCM ser-
vices and (2) did not include “administrative expenses 
or overhead of the plan,” stating: 

b. For reporting purposes in accordance with 
this Section ‘expended’ means the total 
amount, in dollars, paid directly or indirect-
ly to community behavioral health services 
providers solely for the provision of com-
munity behavioral health services, not in-
cluding administrative expenses or over-
head of the plan.  If the report indicates 
that a portion of the capitation payment is 
to be returned to the Agency, the Health 
Plan shall submit a check for that amount 
with the Behavioral Health Services Annu-
al 80/20 Expenditure Report that the 
Health Plan provides to the Agency. 

(emphasis added).  Under the transparent, unambigu-
ous language of the statute and the 2006 contract, 
Staywell and HealthEase could count money paid to 
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providers, but could not count administrative expenses 
or overhead. 

The Worksheets and cover letters reinforced the 
contract’s reporting requirements and also cited the 
80/20 law.  They instructed that at least 80% of the 
premium had to be expended on behavioral health care 
services, defined as community mental health services 
and targeted case management services.  The instruc-
tions in the letters even listed the precise “procedure 
codes” for those health care services.  Each procedure 
code was tied to a medical service and was not linked to 
any administrative or overhead expenses. 

Together, the 80/20 law, the 2006 contract, the 
Worksheets, and the cover letters posed an unmistaka-
ble question to Staywell and HealthEase:  What amount 
of money did you pay to providers for their CMH/TCM 
services to Medicaid patients?  They answered that 
question falsely.  A truthful answer would have caused 
Staywell and HealthEase to pay large refunds to 
AHCA. 

Further undermining the defendants’ argument, 
the amounts Staywell and HealthEase reported were 
not based on CMH/TCM expenses at all, whether paid 
to Harmony or paid to providers.  The amounts on line 
2 were entirely fabricated and false figures.  Staywell 
and HealthEase did not report on line 2 the 85% sub-
capitation payments to Harmony, as then no refund 
would be due to AHCA.  To avoid an audit and AHCA’s 
discovery that providers were receiving only 45% of 
the premium for CMH/TCM services, Farha directed 
his employees to generate a refund to AHCA of ap-
proximately $1 million, and his subordinates then used 
fabricated and false numbers to create the refund 
amount that Farha wanted.  Year after year, fictitious 
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inpatient and outpatient rates, double counting, premi-
um-difference machinations, and other arbitrary calcu-
lations were used to create a predetermined refund fig-
ure.  In CY 2006, that amount was $1.1 million.  The de-
fendants modified line 2 based on the refund amount 
that Fahra wanted to “pay the Gods” to prevent an au-
dit.  Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reported figures were 
not based on an analysis of accurate claims data or on a 
misinterpretation of qualifying expenses.  Rather, 
Staywell and HealthEase reported expenses based up-
on backwards, results-oriented calculations and never 
reported what they paid providers of CMH/TCM ser-
vices to Medicaid patients. 

D. Whiteside Decision 

The defendants rely heavily on United States v. 
Whiteside, 285 F.3d 1345 (11th Cir. 2002).  They argue 
in effect that, based on Whiteside, regulated industries 
and their executives should be protected from the im-
proper criminalization of routine contractual and regu-
latory disagreements. 

Whiteside, however, is materially different and, if 
anything, undermines the defendants’ arguments.  
Whiteside dealt with an ambiguous regulation for cate-
gorization of debt under 42 C.F.R. § 413.153(b)(1).  Id. 
at 1352.  The Whiteside defendants were convicted of 
making false statements regarding loan interest in cost 
reports submitted to Medicare for reimbursement.  Id. 
at 1345-46.  A regulation prescribed the amount of in-
terest a medical provider could attribute to the provid-
er’s own capital-related costs, which were reimbursed 
more favorably.  Id. at 1346.  But the regulation did not 
clarify whether capital-related costs were those for 
which the loan money was originally used or those for 
which the money was presently used at the time of fil-
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ing.  Id. at 1351-53.  The Whiteside defendants’ cost re-
ports classified certain loan-related interest expenses 
as 100% capital related.  Id. at 1351. 

The government contended the defendants’ report-
ing methodology violated Medicare regulations, and the 
defendants were convicted of conspiracy to defraud the 
government, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 2, and 
making false statements in applications for Medicare 
benefits, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001 and 2.  Id. at 
1350. 

This Court reversed, finding that “competing in-
terpretations of the applicable law” governing the cost 
reports were “far too reasonable to justify” the defend-
ants’ convictions.  Id. at 1353.  This is because “no Med-
icare regulation, administrative ruling, or judicial deci-
sion exist[ed] that clearly require[ed] interest expense 
to be reported in accordance with the original use of the 
loan” as opposed to the use of the loan at the time of fil-
ing.  Id. at 1352.  Because the Whiteside defendants 
submitted information based upon a reasonable inter-
pretation of the regulations, this Court decided that the 
“government failed to meet its burden of proving the 
actus reus of the offense—actual falsity as a matter of 
law.”  Id. at 1353.  We stated that “[i]n a case where the 
truth or falsity of a statement centers on an interpreta-
tive question of law, the government bears the burden 
of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defend-
ant’s statement is not true under a reasonable interpre-
tation of law.”  Id. at 1351.  Additionally, there was evi-
dence in Whiteside that the defendants genuinely be-
lieved their interpretation was correct.  Id. at 1348 
(noting that “[t]hey firmly believed that the interest 
was 100% capital-related”). 
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In stark contrast to Whiteside, Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s reporting obligations were not governed 
simply by the Florida 80/20 law itself.  Rather, through 
the years, AHCA clarified and plainly set forth Stay-
well’s and HealthEase’s reporting obligations in their 
AHCA contracts, the Worksheets, and the cover letters 
and instructions attached to the Worksheets.  In CY 
2006, AHCA executed new contracts with Staywell and 
HealthEase, which directly instructed:  “For reporting 
purposes … ‘expended’ means the total amount, in dol-
lars, paid directly or indirectly to community behavior-
al health services providers solely for the provision of 
community behavioral health services, not including 
administrative expenses or overhead of the plan.”  The 
Worksheets came with cover letters that listed the des-
ignated procedure codes for the expenses that could be 
included in the reports. None of these procedure codes 
were for the administrative services and overhead of 
Harmony. 

The defendants argue that a reasonable interpreta-
tion of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reporting obliga-
tions was that they could report what they paid to 
Harmony (even though Harmony provided only admin-
istrative services for Staywell and HealthEase) rather 
than the roughly 45% amount Harmony paid to provid-
ers.  But Harmony itself provided no CMH/TCM ser-
vices to any Medicaid patients.  The defendants’ inter-
pretation ignores the plain meaning of the AHCA con-
tracts, the Worksheets, the cover letters, and the 80/20 
law itself:  no less than 80% of the premium for 
CMH/TCM services was to be spent on the treatment 
of Medicaid patients.  Indeed, the defendants’ interpre-
tation would strip the “80/20” requirement in the law 
and the AHCA contracts of any real meaning.  Given 
the clarity of the instructions in the 2006 contract, the 
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Worksheets, and the cover letters containing procedure 
codes, we conclude that is not a reasonable legal inter-
pretation of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reporting ob-
ligations for CMH/TCM expenses. 

At any rate, a plethora of evidence established that 
the defendants never believed that Staywell and 
HealthEase could report CMH/TCM expenses this way.  
The defendants fully knew that what Staywell and 
HealthEase were reporting was not what AHCA re-
quested.  We need not further analyze the defendants’ 
post-hoc interpretation because, as discussed below, the 
evidence in the light most favorable to the jury’s verdict 
shows that the defendants did not believe it, knew what 
was required, and knew their answers were false. 

E. Knowledge of Falsity 

The evidence overwhelmingly showed the defend-
ants well understood their CMH/TCM expense report-
ing obligations and knew that the CMH/TCM expense 
amounts reported in the 80/20 Worksheets were false.  
From beginning to end, the defendants’ knowledge of 
that falsity remained constant.  We discuss the evidence 
first as to Behrens and Kale and then as to Farha. 

From the outset, Kale knew Florida’s new 80/20 
law would affect WellCare’s profits.  He was one of the 
first to warn his colleagues about it, estimating that, 
under the new rule, Staywell and HealthEase might 
collectively be required to refund almost $6.5 million in 
Medicaid payments.  The specter of a multi-million dol-
lar annual refund spurred Farha, Kale, and others to 
create a fraudulent scheme to avoid that refund.  Kale 
knew the game plan.  He personally circulated a com-
pany slide presentation containing the “Fund Alloca-
tion Model,” which showed that Staywell and 
HealthEase would each pass 85% of their premium 
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along to Harmony, but Harmony would pay only 45% of 
the premium to providers.  Kale knew WellCare had 
created Harmony to serve as a “conceptual pass 
through,” enabling Staywell and HealthEase to report 
CMH/TCM expenses of at least 80% and avoid a refund.  
Kale also knew that Harmony would no longer be nec-
essary if Florida repealed the 80/20 law. 

But Florida did not, and that meant Staywell and 
HealthEase were required to comply with the law by an-
nually reporting how much of the premium for 
CMH/TCM services was actually paid to health care pro-
viders treating Medicaid patients.  That compliance task 
fell to Behrens.  As head of Finance at WellCare, Beh-
rens was the “owner” of the 80/20 reporting project.  For 
the CY 2006 reporting cycle, Behrens again announced 
that he would “take point.”  West and others on the Med-
ical Economics team regularly met in Behrens’s office to 
confer, and the team could not report expenses or issue 
refunds to AHCA without Behrens’s approval.  The Med-
ical Economics team worked for Behrens, not the other 
way around.  And while not formally part of the Finance 
Department, Kale assisted and advised the reporting 
project year after year.  As Kale candidly remarked to 
some colleagues in 2007, every year “[t]he plan [was] 
give ’em [AHCA] a something …. Throw them a bone.”  
So that is what they did.  The defendants’ frank com-
ments, as revealed by company emails and secretly-
recorded conversations, show that they knew creating 
and using Harmony—to still pay medical providers only 
45% and retain the rest for overhead and profits—
contravened Staywell’s and HealthEase’s compliance ob-
ligations.  As Kale remarked on the eve of Harmony’s 
creation:  “[S]etting up the corporation is easy; it is the 
questions that follow … that will determine if we create a 
viable organization if we were to be audited by AHCA.” 
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Avoiding an AHCA audit became the defendants’ 
perennial mission.  To achieve that, Farha and his team 
set a one-million-dollar refund target—theoretically 
just enough to satisfy AHCA and avoid suspicion.  As 
Behrens explained to West in 2007:  “[T]he system 
works good for us.  We pay them a million dollars.  
That’s enough.  They think the system works, and so, 
that’s it.” 

As this 2007 exchange reveals, the defendants 
sought to avoid any interaction with AHCA that might 
disclose Staywell and HealthEase’s fraudulent report-
ing methodology.  Behrens repeatedly rejected any 
suggestion that WellCare contact AHCA about 80/20 or 
encounter data reporting.  As early as 2005, Behrens 
knew precisely why there was a large variance between 
AHCA’s estimate of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
CMH/TCM expenses and their reported expenses.  But 
rather than respond to AHCA’s inquiries with a forth-
right disclosure of their reporting method as Sanders 
suggested, Behrens and Kale vetoed Sanders’s letter 
and instead perpetuated the fraudulent scheme. 

Behrens and Kale knew they were misleading 
AHCA with Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 80/20 and en-
counter data reporting.  As Kale admitted:  “[W]e’ve 
never shot the [Harmony] gun ever.  We’ve never had 
to publically say, this is how we priced it, this was our 
methodology, and we have [Harmony] in the middle 
getting 85%.”  The defendants made sure to keep it that 
way as long as they could. 

And the reason was obvious.  As Behrens explained 
to a colleague in 2007, “[Harmony] is not a provider of 
behavioral health services.”  That is why Behrens and 
his colleagues hoped the 80/20 law “would come off the 
books.” 
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The defendants knew if AHCA realized that their 
CMH/TCM expenses were not nearly as high as they 
reported, more refunds would be owed and AHCA 
would later reduce the premiums too.  And so year af-
ter year, including in CY 2006, although they knew 
Harmony was not a provider of health care services to 
Medicaid patients, they continued to report CMH/TCM 
expenses far in excess of their actual incurred expenses 
for CMH/TCM services.  As the evidence shows, the 
defendants knew Staywell and HealthEase did not 
even report their full sub-capitation payments to Har-
mony, opting instead for a lesser amount through un-
sound, results-oriented accounting techniques to settle 
on an inconspicuous refund. 

The evidence amply showed that the representa-
tions as to CMH/TCM expenses in the CY 2006 expense 
reports submitted to AHCA were, in fact, false, and 
that the defendants knew they were, in fact, false.  See 
Vernon, 723 F.3d at 1273.  The evidence was more than 
sufficient to sustain Behrens’s and Kale’s convictions 
for Medicaid health care fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1347 (Counts 8 and 9), and Behrens’s separate convic-
tions for false representations relating to health care 
matters, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1035 (Counts 4 and 
5).18 

F. Farha’s Role 

Farha further challenges his § 1347 convictions, con-
tending that (1) he played no role whatsoever in prepar-
ing, reviewing, or approving the CY 2006 expense re-

                                                 
18 Behrens also argues Counts 4 and 5 of the indictment failed 

to allege the essential facts of the crime.  We reject Behrens’s ad-
ditional argument that the district court erred in denying his mo-
tion to dismiss Counts 4 and 5 in the indictment. 
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ports, and (2) even if he did play a role, the government 
failed to prove the criminal intent required to impose 
criminal liability for health care fraud under § 1347. 

As Farha notes, under § 1347, the government 
must show that the defendant “knowingly and willfully” 
executed or attempted to execute the fraud.  18 U.S.C. 
§ 1347(a).  A defendant acts willfully when he acts with 
“knowledge that his conduct was unlawful” and acts 
knowingly if he acts with “knowledge of the facts that 
constitute the offense.”  United States v. Dominguez, 
661 F.3d 1051, 1068 (11th Cir. 2011).  In this case, the 
district court instructed the jury that it must also find 
that the defendants acted with “intent to defraud,” de-
fined as “specific intent to deceive or cheat someone 
and to deprive someone of money or property.”  See 
United States v. Klopf, 423 F.3d 1228, 1240 (11th Cir. 
2005).  And as we have already explained, with health 
care fraud charges premised on false and fraudulent 
representations, “the defendant must be shown to have 
known that the claims submitted were, in fact, false.”  
Vernon, 723 F.3d at 1273. 

In distilling his various arguments, we observe that 
Farha primarily invites us to close our eyes to all evi-
dence of his conduct outside the narrow window of time 
during which Behrens’s team prepared the CY 2006 ex-
pense reports.  But the CY 2006 reporting cycle did not 
occur in a vacuum.  In the 80/20 reports for CY 2006, 
Staywell and HealthEase continued the scheme that 
Farha set up in prior years, using Harmony to fraudu-
lently report inflated and false CMH/TCM expenses.  
The evidence showed that Farha, as CEO, President, 
and a WellCare director, designed and implemented the 
scheme specifically to defraud AHCA and ordered his 
subordinates under his authority to perpetuate the 
scheme year after year, including CY 2006. 
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Farha was fully aware of how the 80/20 rule affect-
ed WellCare’s bottom line, thanks in part to the profit-
ability and refund studies actuary Todd Whitney pro-
duced.  Farha hatched a plan to avoid the 80/20 rule’s 
effects.  That plan started with the creation of Harmo-
ny, WellCare’s new wholly-owned subsidiary.  Farha 
kept regular contact with his team during the summer 
and fall of 2003.  He stayed informed of the Harmony 
project’s progress and sent emails to subordinates re-
buking them for moving too slowly.  The initial plan, as 
Farha instructed, was that Harmony would “be capped 
at 80% of premium.”  Frustrated with his team’s slow 
progress, Farha ordered Kale to ensure that Harmony 
was up and running as soon as possible.  Farha asked, 
“Why would we delay and increase the amount of our 
potential giveback?” 

Once Harmony was incorporated, Farha became 
Harmony’s President, CEO, and director-chairman.  
Once Harmony was up and running and after the first 
round of 80/20 expense reporting, Farha instructed 
Kale to have the subsidiary company’s name changed 
from its original name of “WellCare Behavioral Health, 
Inc.” to “Harmony Behavioral Healthcare” so as to “put 
some distance between BH [Harmony] and the Well-
Care name.”  Farha knew that the success of the Har-
mony scheme depended upon keeping a low profile and 
avoiding an audit. 

The evidence also shows that subordinates at 
WellCare routinely apprised Farha of the 80/20 report-
ing process.  Farha knew generally when the 80/20 
Worksheets arrived.  He knew which employees were 
taking charge of the reports.  A steady stream of emails 
kept Farha informed, from which a jury could reasona-
bly infer Farha’s active oversight and coordination. 



76a 

 

In 2004—the year in which Staywell and 
HealthEase submitted their CY 2002 and 2003 expense 
reports—Kale regularly emailed Farha detailed up-
dates regarding Harmony, some of which concerned 
WellCare’s strategies in addressing the 80/20 rule.  
Farha was frequently in touch with Bereday as well.  
Bereday later emailed Farha requesting clearance for 
Staywell and HealthEase to submit their finalized 80/20 
expense reports to AHCA based on the calculations 
produced by the Medical Economics team.  Farha gave 
clearance and signed the accompanying certifications. 

Farha stayed involved in subsequent years.  For 
the CY 2004 reporting cycle, after the 80/20 Work-
sheets and cover letters arrived from AHCA, Farha 
sent an email to Behrens and Kale, among others, say-
ing, “Team, lets [sic] be sure we handle this one appro-
priately.  Who is on point for this process?”  Behrens 
responded that he was, along with his team.  At one 
point, Farha and Bereday discussed a slide presenta-
tion relating to the 80/20 rule.  The presentation 
showed both the expenses Staywell and HealthEase 
had submitted to AHCA in their CY 2004 reports and 
their much lower actual qualifying expenses. 

Farha’s supervision continued during the CY 2005 
reporting cycle.  For example, Farha was privy to an 
email exchange between Staywell and HealthEase 
president Imtiaz Sattaur and Behrens in which Sattaur 
explained, “[T]he plan is that we stay consistent to last 
year’s reporting by utilizing our Harmony BH Sub 
methodology, less inpatient costs.  We will review the 
final report with Todd before we send it to AHCA.”  
And they did.  Before finalizing the 80/20 figures for the 
CY 2005 expense reports, Behrens slipped into Farha’s 
office to confirm that “1.4 is okay.”  Staywell and 
HealthEase collectively refunded a total of $1.4 million 
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to AHCA for CY 2005.  The $1.4 million figure was a 
fabricated and false number, which Farha knew. 

And it was Farha who gave the annual fraudulent 
refund targets.  For CY 2002 and 2003, Farha told his 
subordinates “to find a way not to pay back 10 million 
dollars” as WellCare’s initial refund forecast had pro-
jected, but instead, to “find[] a way to make it zero.”  
By the time of the CY 2005 reporting year, the target 
had moved.  Though Clay proposed a methodology that 
would result in no refund, Farha insisted on a different 
reporting strategy, ordering, “No, we’re not going to do 
it like that.  You have to pay the Gods something.”  In-
stead, they would “pay back a million.”  A reasonable 
jury could view Farha’s order as evidence that Farha 
wanted Staywell and HealthEase to refund just enough 
to avoid scrutiny, thereby protecting WellCare’s large 
ill-gotten profits.19 

Farha’s repeated refusals to allow those at Well-
Care to disclose to AHCA that Staywell and 
HealthEase were reporting sub-capitation payments to 
Harmony (rather than reporting what they paid pro-

                                                 
19 Farha offers another take on these statements, arguing 

that his order to pay some refund amount rather than no refund 
should be construed as evidence of prudence and conservativism 
motivated by legitimate business reasons rather than evidence of 
fraudulent intent. 

But the jury was free to draw different conclusions regarding 
Farha’s true motives.  The context in which Farha gave refund 
targets permits an inference of intent to defraud.  Farha’s prede-
termined refund targets were inconsistent with Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s obligations to report actual CMH/TCM expenses 
and refund the difference between actual expenses and 80%.  A 
jury could reasonably infer from Farha’s ordered predetermined 
refund targets that Farha knew the expense figures in the 80/20 
expense reports would, in fact, be false.  Vernon, 723 F.3d at 1273. 
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viders for CMH/TCM services) were additional evi-
dence from which a jury could infer Farha’s fraudulent 
intent.  Farha participated in efforts by other industry 
players and the Florida Association of Health Plans to 
negotiate 80/20-eligible expenses with AHCA.  On mul-
tiple occasions throughout this process, Sattaur urged 
Farha to disclose to AHCA that Staywell and 
HealthEase had been reporting sub-capitation pay-
ments to Harmony since WellCare had not revealed 
this fact to AHCA.  Each time, Farha declined to do so.  
Sattaur testified that Farha was confident that through 
lobbying efforts and his ability to influence the Secre-
tary of AHCA, the 80/20 law would soon be repealed 
and that the issue would blow over.  The evidence es-
tablished Farha also made sure his subordinates did not 
disclose Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reporting practic-
es to AHCA either.  At one point, Farha attended an 
80/20-related company meeting regarding the negotia-
tions with AHCA.  At that meeting, Michael Turrell, a 
WellCare lawyer who worked under Bereday, was told 
not to disclose to AHCA or other industry players de-
tails that would reveal how Staywell and HealthEase 
calculated their 80/20 expenses. Turrell reassured Far-
ha that he had appropriately screened his comments 
when communicating with other parties.  West similar-
ly testified that both Behrens and Bereday told him, on 
different occasions, to not call AHCA.  These exchang-
es are evidence from which a reasonable jury could in-
fer a collective policy of secrecy on the part of Well-
Care’s leadership.  Farha’s insistence on secrecy was 
evidence from which a reasonable jury could infer 
fraudulent intent.20 

                                                 
20 Defendants emphasize that AHCA approved Staywell’s 

and HealthEase’s subcontracts with Harmony.  But the Harmony 
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From Farha’s exchanges with his subordinates, a 
reasonable jury could also infer that Farha continued to 
be actively involved in overseeing and directing the 
80/20 reporting process.  Farha’s subordinates routine-
ly checked in with him, provided him with updates, and 
received orders about the size of the refund Staywell 
and HealthEase were to remit to AHCA.  All these 
communications confirmed that Behrens’s team contin-
ued to prepare and submit the 80/20 expense reports 
consistent with Farha’s scheme.  There was no need for 
Farha to micromanage the 80/20 reporting once he de-
signed the scheme, worked out the logistics, and dele-
gated the pertinent tasks. 

By the CY 2006 reporting cycle, Behrens’s Medical 
Economics team handled the particulars in preparing 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s expense reports, and the 
emails they circulated among themselves did not in-
clude Farha.21  Nonetheless, Farha ignores that for CY 

                                                                                                    
subcontracts do not show, or even suggest, that AHCA knew that 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reported expenses were manipulated 
and fabricated figures and not what they had actually paid provid-
ers of CMH/TCM services. 

In his reply brief, Farha takes a different tact, arguing that 
he had legitimate strategic reasons for not wanting AHCA to dis-
cover Staywell and HealthEase’s reporting methodology.  He ar-
gues “it would have signaled that WellCare viewed the BHO ques-
tion as an open one.”  Farha concludes that “[n]o negative infer-
ence can fairly be drawn from the decision not to invite senior 
AHCA officials to treat the issue as a subject for negotiation.”  
Given all the evidence, however, the jury was not required to ac-
cept Farha’s argument.  The jury was free instead to infer that 
Farha’s posture of secrecy and nondisclosure to AHCA was part of 
his fraudulent reporting scheme. 

21 Farha was shrewd about paper trails.  For example, in 
2006, after one of Farha’s subordinates sent a lengthy email to a 
number of WellCare personnel about its strategy in engaging with 
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2006, he signed a WellCare policy and procedure docu-
ment, as he had done before, acknowledging Staywell’s 
and HealthEase’s statutory and contractual duties to 
comply with the 80/20 requirements.  Farha even 
signed the refund checks Staywell and HealthEase is-
sued to AHCA in conjunction with submitting their CY 
2006 80/20 expense reports. 

Contrary to his contentions, Farha did more than 
just devise a scheme to defraud AHCA or commit a 
mere act in furtherance of executing that scheme.  Far-
ha was CEO, President, and a director of WellCare.  As 
such, he not only devised, but implemented and super-
vised the scheme’s execution year after year.  In fact, 
Sattaur provided a summary of Farha’s role in the 
scheme to defraud AHCA.  He explained that after 
Clay and the Medical Economics team had calculated 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s reported expenses, and 
after Behrens had approved their work, “the ultimate 
sign-off on the approval of whether [an 80/20 report] 
gets filed with the State would be by Mr. Todd Farha.”  
Sattaur testified that Farha, Behrens, and Bereday to-
gether were “in charge” of WellCare’s policy of using 
the fraudulent reporting method concerning “whether 
it [was] the right thing to do.”  Sattaur repeatedly 
urged Farha to disclose to AHCA that Staywell and 
HealthEase had reported what they paid Harmony (ra-
ther than what they paid providers through Harmony), 
but Farha refused.  Sattaur explained that he himself 
never considered disclosing this fact to AHCA because 
the decision of what to disclose to AHCA “was being 
worked by Mr. Todd Farha and his team of government 

                                                                                                    
AHCA regarding the 80/20 rule, Farha wrote back, “[T]his is too 
large a distribution for anything confidential.  Sensitive items are 
best handled verbally with those who must know.” 
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affairs.”  Sattaur explained that “there was a very tight 
control over that issue with Todd Farha and his team 
that if you were to break the plan that they [had], that 
would not be a good thing to do.”  It “could be tanta-
mount to jeopardizing your career at WellCare.” 

In summary, the evidence sufficiently showed that 
Farha aided and abetted the execution of the fraud in the 
year for which he was convicted, and he did so knowing-
ly, willfully, and with intent to defraud AHCA.  Accord-
ingly, the evidence was sufficient to sustain his convic-
tions for Medicaid fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347. 

G. Advice of Counsel Evidence 

Defendants point to communications and testimony 
by lawyers who worked for WellCare to claim the de-
fendants were told that their CMH/TCM reporting 
method was legal and common practice in the industry. 

The evidence showed outside counsel contacted Flor-
ida Health Partners (“FHP”) and learned FHP sub-
capitated to “related entities,” and this “seemed” ac-
ceptable “under the 80/20 calculation to AHCA.”  The 
defendants concede, however, that the “related entities” 
to which FHP made sub-capitated payments were actual 
health clinics that provided medical services.  If any-
thing, this showed the defendants that they should not 
count money paid to a related company that, like Harmo-
ny, provided no health care services to Medicaid patients. 

Outside counsel also learned that United Health 
Plans (“United”) “used” payments it made to a “related 
specialty organization” United Behavioral Health “in 
connection with the 80/20 calculation.”  The defendants 
ignore that outside counsel, when reporting to general 
counsel Bereday, said that though United “did it in this 
certain fashion … the mere fact that” it did so “doesn’t 
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necessarily mean that that method is or will be ap-
proved by AHCA now or in the future.” 

More importantly, outside counsel was asked to 
“render a clean opinion” concerning “use of … all of the 
contract expenses between [Staywell and HealthEase] 
and Harmony for purposes of meeting the 80/20 re-
quirement.”  Outside counsel was unwilling to give a 
“clean opinion,” that is, “a legal opinion that in all prob-
ability would be upheld if there were any kind of prob-
lems or allegations or appeals.”  WellCare’s former out-
side counsel testified that, after refusing to give a clean 
opinion as to the Harmony reporting method, “the 
number of assignments and the … work referred to us 
by the client diminished dramatically.”  Outside counsel 
testified he told those at WellCare that, if Staywell and 
HealthEase were going to use the Harmony reporting 
method, “they should (a) tell the agency about it and 
(b), more importantly, make a rule challenge or declara-
tory judgment action, some action to put these disputed 
… policy issues in front of an impartial officer.” 

In the light most favorable to the jury’s verdict, 
this advice-of-counsel evidence hurts, not helps, the de-
fendants.  If anything, outside counsel’s advice warned 
the defendants not to use their Harmony reporting 
method without informing AHCA.  The defendants, 
however, proceeded in secrecy.  This evidence does not 
undermine the jury verdict given the abundant evi-
dence of the defendants’ intent to defraud AHCA. 

H. Clay’s § 1001 False Statements 

Clay challenges his two convictions in Counts 10 
and 11 for making false statements to federal agents, in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.  To convict Clay under 
§ 1001, the government had to prove “(1) that a state-
ment was made; (2) that it was false; (3) that it was ma-
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terial; (4) that it was made with specific intent; and (5) 
that it was within the jurisdiction of an agency of the 
United States.”  United States v. House, 684 F.3d 1173, 
1203 (11th Cir. 2012). Clay argues the government 
failed to present sufficient evidence of:  (1) falsity, (2) 
willfulness, and (3) materiality. 

Count 10 of the indictment charged that Clay told 
federal agents that Staywell and HealthEase had not 
over-reported outpatient behavioral health care ex-
penses to AHCA to reduce the refunds paid to AHCA, 
when in fact, Clay knew that the expense figures in the 
CY 2005 Worksheets were purposefully over-reported 
to reduce refunds paid to AHCA.  Count 11 charged 
that Clay told federal agents that Staywell and 
HealthEase had not purposefully inflated the costs as-
sociated with their behavioral health care encounter 
data submissions to AHCA, when in fact, Clay knew 
Staywell and HealthEase had done so in February 
2007.  We consider the sufficiency of the evidence for 
Clay’s § 1001 convictions. 

1. Falsity 

Clay’s statements to the federal agents were prov-
en false.22  Agent Vic Milanes asked Clay if Staywell 
                                                 

22 As to the specific § 1001 charges in Counts 10 and 11, the 
district court instructed the jury that the government had to 
prove:  (1) “the defendant made a statement as charged”; (2) “the 
statement was false”; (3) “the falsity concerned a material matter”; 
(4) “the defendant acted willfully knowing that the statement was 
false”; and (5) “the false statement was made or used for a matter 
within the jurisdiction of the department or agency of the United 
States.”  The court instructed that “[a] statement is false when 
made if it is untrue when made and the person making it knows it 
is untrue.”  On appeal, Clay does not challenge the court’s charge 
as to § 1001.  To the extent Clay challenges the general part of the 
jury charge, his claims lack merit. 
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and HealthEase had over-reported their outpatient be-
havioral health costs to AHCA over the years in order 
to avoid paying money back to AHCA. Clay responded 
that, to his knowledge, they had not.  But Clay knew 
the opposite was true. 

Clay worked with West and others on Behrens’s 
team to produce the CY 2005 expense reports.  West 
conferred with Clay in producing the calculations for the 
reports, West reported to Clay the results of his work, 
and Clay was among those present in Bereday’s office 
the day West presented his work and WellCare certified 
the CY 2005 reports.  It was Clay who relayed to West 
that “Farha wants to pay back a million” because “[y]ou 
have to pay the Gods something.”  Clay knew Staywell 
and HealthEase had used both double-counting and 
premium-difference calculations in an effort to achieve 
Farha’s desired result.  It was Clay’s idea to use the 
premium difference calculation in the first place. 

Clay knew that for CY 2005, Staywell and 
HealthEase combined had reported $18,462,421 in 80/20 
expenses and had refunded only $1,440,449 to AHCA.  
Clay also knew that the internal spreadsheets, pre-
pared by West, showed that Staywell and HealthEase 
combined had actually paid health care providers only 
$12,956,122 for qualifying services.  The 80/20 Work-
sheets and cover letters instructed Staywell and 
HealthEase to report money paid to providers of 
CMH/TCM services.  Clay knew that if Staywell and 
HealthEase reported $12 million in CMH/TCM expens-
es, they would owe a refund of $6,946,748.  Clay admit-
ted as much in an email he sent to Behrens just days 
before the CY 2005 expense reports were certified, 
stating, “If we took AHCA payments and AHCA defi-
nitions of eligible care we would owe them $6.9 million.” 
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In Clay’s own words, “the whole reason Harmony 
exist[ed]” was to “hide” the “big slug” of profits that 
Harmony captured for WellCare.  Clay summed up 
Staywell’s and HealthEase’s approach to 80/20 compli-
ance this way:  “Every year we’ve fed the gods.  We’ve 
paid them a little money to keep them happy.  We’ve 
paid them a million bucks a year, or whatever.”  Clay 
knew Staywell and HealthEase had over-reported their 
80/20 expenses, but he falsely told Agent Milanes that 
they had not. 

Agent Milanes also asked Clay whether Staywell 
and HealthEase had purposefully inflated the costs of 
their behavioral health encounter submissions to 
AHCA.  Clay responded that, to his knowledge, they 
had not.  But, again, Clay knew the opposite was true. 

Clay attended secretly-recorded company meetings 
on both January 16, 2007, and January 29, 2007.  At the 
first meeting, convened to discuss how Staywell and 
HealthEase planned to price their patient-provider en-
counters, Clay listened as both Robert Butler and Marc 
Ryan suggested that Staywell and HealthEase price 
the encounters based on what Harmony paid health 
care providers.  Clay heard Butler explain that encoun-
ter prices should reflect only actual costs in money paid 
to providers, rather than administration, overhead, and 
profit for Harmony, because AHCA already built into 
the capitated rate money for administration, overhead, 
and profit. 

Clay, however, warned that if they did what Butler 
said they should do, they would be in “deep trouble.”  
Clay offered his take on the encounter data reporting 
process:  “[T]he state is doin’ this as another end 
around, to find out how much money we’re makin’ in 
that.  Which we’ve been finessing, for years.”  If they 
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priced encounters based on what Harmony paid pro-
viders, Clay knew it would reveal to AHCA their huge, 
ill-gotten profits, and Clay feared there would be a 
“massive rate cut” in Staywell’s and HealthEase’s pre-
mium money.  At one point Clay explained to his col-
leagues, “[I]f you price [the encounter data] at anything 
reasonable, we’re gonna show a 50% loss ratio, and 
we’re right back to opening the Kimono.” 

As a solution, Clay proposed they instead price the 
encounters based upon the sub-capitation payments to 
Harmony.  This method spread the full sub-capitation 
sum across all of the encounters and resulted in encoun-
ter prices that were significantly higher than what 
Harmony had paid providers of CMH/TCM services.  In 
the January 29 meeting, Clay told his team, “I think 
we’re going to have to put some numbers that are 
about 40 percent higher than we think they should be, 
because we’re making about a 40 percent profit margin.  
And that’s what we’re gonna submit …. And that’s all 
there is to this conversation.  It’s that simple.”  He later 
added, “[I]t’s just a matter of how inflated a unit cost 
number we’re going to be submitting.”  Clay knew 
Staywell and HealthEase had purposefully inflated the 
costs of their behavioral health encounter data. 

The jury’s task was to determine what Clay under-
stood the agents to be asking him and whether Clay 
knew what he told the federal agents was false.  The 
evidence was more than adequate for the jury to find 
Clay understood the question and knew his answer was 
false.23 

                                                 
23 Clay invokes the Whiteside decision, but stretches it to 

mean that the agent’s factual questions to him were necessarily 
posed and answered under Clay’s interpretation of the 80/20 rule.  
Clay argues his denials were true based on his reasonable legal 
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It is noteworthy that Staywell’s and HealthEase’s 
CY 2005 expense reports for CMH/TCM services con-
tained expense figures calculated using both their sub-
capitation payments to Harmony and Harmony’s pay-
ments to providers, a double-counting calculation 
method.  Even if Clay thought the sub-capitation pay-
ments themselves were a reportable expense (which he 
did not), he still knew the reported expenses in CY 
2005 involved double-counting and were therefore 
“over-reported.” 

For example, West’s spreadsheets reveal that for 
CY 2005, Staywell and HealthEase collectively paid 
Harmony $13,507,701, and Harmony paid providers 
$12,956,122.  In 2006, WellCare executives realized they 
forgot to update the Harmony subcontracts so as to pay 
Harmony any of the additional premium money Stay-
well and HealthEase received for the CMH/TCM pro-
gram expansion.  The $13,507,701 they did pass along to 
Harmony was enough to account for the $12,956,122 
that Harmony paid providers.  But in addition to report-
ing expenses of $13,507,701 to AHCA, Staywell and 
HealthEase double-counted a portion of the $12,956,122 
sum, which was already accounted for in the $13,507,701 
figure.  Kelly, the forensic accountant, explained why 
there was no valid basis for such an accounting maneu-
ver.  Clay knew the 80/20 expenses were over-reported. 

As to encounter data, Clay quarrels with the mean-
ing of the word “inflated” in Agent Milanes’s question.  
The jury heard that as of the October 24, 2007 raid on 

                                                                                                    
interpretation of the questions asked, but his interpretation is not 
reasonable.  We reject Clay’s Whiteside arguments for the same 
reasons outlined above as to the other defendants, including the 
fact that the evidence showed Clay did not believe his post-hoc 
interpretation anyway. 
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WellCare, federal investigators had already gathered 
months’ worth of secretly-recorded company conversa-
tions collected by a whistleblower.  Though Clay did 
not necessarily know that, Clay knew that investiga-
tors were executing a search warrant of WellCare’s 
corporate headquarters.  Clay knew, based on the ques-
tions the agents asked him, that the search concerned 
WellCare’s 80/20 expense and encounter data report-
ing.  Agent Milanes’s questions concerned, in part, what 
had been discussed at WellCare company meetings that 
Clay attended.  When Agent Milanes asked Clay 
whether Staywell and HealthEase had purposefully 
“inflated” their encounter costs, Agent Milanes knew 
that Clay had previously told his colleagues, “I think 
we’re going to have to put some numbers that are 
about 40 percent higher than we think they should be 
…. [I]t’s just a matter of how inflated a unit cost num-
ber we’re going to be submitting.”  (emphasis added).24 

Clay had no basis to deny that Staywell and 
HealthEase had purposefully inflated their encounter 
costs.  Clay was, of course, free to argue to the jury that 
he understood Agent Milanes to be asking something 
else, but the duties of fact finding and making credibility 

                                                 
24 Clay cites to the encounter template in the contract, which 

provided that Staywell and HealthEase were to report the 
“[a]mount [p]aid” per encounter as the “[c]osts associated with the 
claim.”  Clay argues that the “[c]osts associated with the claim” 
reasonably could be interpreted to be either (1) what Harmony 
actually paid the provider for the claim or (2) an allocable (larger) 
portion of what Staywell or HealthEase paid Harmony to cover 
the claim, which included Harmony’s administration, overhead, 
and profit generated for WellCare.  This is not a reasonable inter-
pretation of the federal agent’s question.  In any event, tape re-
cordings of Clay established that Clay knew the encounter data 
was inflated. 
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determinations belong to the jury alone.25  Our role is 
simply to ensure there was sufficient evidence from 
which a reasonable jury could find that Clay understood 
what Agent Milanes was asking and that Clay knew his 
denials were false.  That evidence was amply sufficient. 

2. Willfulness 

Clay’s statements to the agents were not only false 
but willfully made.  As to specific intent, § 1001 crimi-
nalizes false statements made “knowingly and willful-
ly.”  18 U.S.C. § 1001; see also House, 684 F.3d at 1204.  
The Supreme Court has said that, to establish a willful 
violation of a statute, generally “the Government must 
prove that the defendant acted with knowledge that his 
conduct was unlawful.”  Bryan v. United States, 524 
U.S. 184, 191-92, 118 S. Ct. 1939, 1945 (1998).  Using the 
pattern instruction, the district court charged the jury 
that “[t]he word ‘willfully’ means that the act was 
committed voluntarily and purposefully with the intent 
to do something the law forbids, that is, with the bad 
purpose to disobey or disregard the law.”  See Eleventh 
Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions (Criminal Cases) 
9.1A (2010). 

Here, the context of Clay’s statements is im-
portant.  Clay met with Agents Johnston and Milanes 
on the same day that over 200 federal agents streamed 
through the doors of WellCare’s corporate office to ex-
ecute a search warrant.  Agent Johnston testified that 
when they approached Clay to ask if he would consent 
to an interview, Johnston and Milanes would have iden-
tified themselves as federal agents involved with the 
execution of the search warrant.  Johnston testified 

                                                 
25 Agent Johnston testified that he did not recall Clay asking 

for clarification of any questions that Agent Milanes asked. 
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that they would have shown Clay their federal creden-
tials and that Clay knew he and Milanes were federal 
agents.  Johnston testified that he and Milanes also told 
Clay they wanted to interview him in conjunction with 
the investigation of WellCare.  The agents proceeded to 
interview Clay in his office for approximately an hour 
and a half.  During this time, other agents continued 
executing the search warrant outside Clay’s office.  
Many of the interview questions Agent Milanes asked 
Clay specifically pertained to WellCare’s reporting of 
the 80/20 expenses and encounter data. 

Clay served as Vice President of Medical Economics 
under Behrens.  He was closely involved with the prepa-
ration of Staywell’s and HealthEase’s CY 2005 expense 
reports for CMH/TCM services and their February 2007 
encounter data submissions.  He fully knew about their 
reporting obligations to AHCA.  Given Clay’s job and 
the subject of Agent Milanes’s questions, the jury could 
readily infer that Clay knew the agents were investigat-
ing WellCare’s reporting of its actual expenses to 
AHCA.  By knowingly making false statements to the 
federal agents during the raid, Clay acted willfully.  See 
Bryan, 524 U.S. at 191-92, 118 S. Ct. at 1945. 

Clay argues that the government was required to 
offer more mens rea evidence of willfulness.  To be sure, 
the government’s evidence of willfulness was circum-
stantial, but “[g]uilty knowledge can rarely be estab-
lished by direct evidence, especially in respect to fraud 
crimes which, by their very nature, often yield little in 
the way of direct proof.”  United States v. Suba, 132 
F.3d 662, 673 (11th Cir. 1998).  Mens rea elements such 
as knowledge or intent may be proven by circumstantial 
evidence.  See United States v. Santos, 553 U.S. 507, 
521, 128 S. Ct. 2020, 2029 (2008); Suba, 132 F.3d at 673.  
The government did not need to rely, and did not rely, 
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on a presumption of willfulness to prove Clay violated § 
1001.  The government presented ample evidence from 
which a reasonable jury could infer that Clay acted will-
fully and with the necessary criminal intent. 

3. Materiality 

As to materiality, Clay’s false statements con-
cerned the core conduct that the agents were investi-
gating during the October 2007 raid of WellCare.  
Clay’s false denials of over-reporting and inflating en-
counter prices went to the heart of the matter being 
investigated and were material. 

Contrary to Clay’s contention, the test is not 
whether the agents were actually misled.  A false 
statement is material if it has “a natural tendency to 
influence, or [is] capable of influencing, the decision of 
the decisionmaking body to which it was addressed.”  
United States v. Boffil-Rivera, 607 F.3d 736, 741 (11th 
Cir. 2010).  “[A] false statement can be material even if 
the decision maker actually knew or should have known 
that the statement was false” or “even if the decision 
maker did not actually rely on the statement.”  United 
States v. Neder, 197 F.3d F.3d 1122, 1128 (11th Cir. 
1999); see also House, 684 F.3d at 1203 (“[P]roof of ac-
tual influence is not required.”); United States v. 
Gafyczk, 847 F.2d 685, 691 (11th Cir. 1988) (“[I]n order 
for a false statement to be material under § 1001, it 
need not be shown to have actually influenced the gov-
ernment or caused it any pecuniary loss.”). 

Clay was aware he was being interviewed by fed-
eral investigators and that WellCare was being investi-
gated precisely for the exact conduct he was being 
asked about.  Clay was a high-level, sophisticated exec-
utive at a publicly-traded company receiving public 
funds, and he certainly knew that lying to federal 
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agents investigating the company for health care fraud 
was unlawful.  He was undoubtedly familiar with the 
dozens of certifications and warnings that false state-
ments to the government carry criminal liability.  Nev-
ertheless, he told the agents there was no over-
reporting and no inflation, despite knowing these 
things were not true. 

Ample evidence allowed a reasonable jury to find 
Clay knowingly and willfully made false material 
statements to federal agents. 

VI.  JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

Farha, Behrens, and Kale challenge their fraud 
convictions under 18 U.S.C. § 1347 and contend the dis-
trict court improperly instructed the jury as to their 
knowledge that the reported expenses were false. 

Regarding the defendants’ § 1347 charges, the dis-
trict court instructed the jury that the defendants had 
to act knowingly, willfully, and with intent to defraud: 

A defendant can be found guilty of this of-
fense only if all the following facts are proved 
beyond a reasonable doubt: 

One, he knowingly executed or attempted to 
execute a scheme or artifice to defraud a 
healthcare benefit program or to obtain money 
or property owned by or under the custody or 
control of a healthcare benefit program by 
means of false or fraudulent pretenses and rep-
resentations; 

[T]wo, the false or fraudulent pretenses and 
representations related to a material fact; 

[T]hree, he acted willfully and intended to de-
fraud; and 
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[F]our, he did so in connection with the deliv-
ery of or payment for healthcare benefits, 
items, or services. 

(emphasis added).  The district court explained that 
“knowingly” means that “an act was done voluntarily 
and intentionally and not because of a mistake or by ac-
cident.”  The court charged that “willfully” means that 
“the act was committed voluntarily and purposely with 
the intent to do something the law forbids, that is, with 
the bad purpose to disobey or disregard the law.”  The 
instructions thus advised the jury that it could not find 
the defendants guilty unless it concluded that they act-
ed voluntarily, intentionally and with the bad purpose 
to disregard the law in executing a scheme to defraud 
AHCA. 

The district court also instructed that “[a] scheme 
to defraud includes any plan or course of action intend-
ed to deceive or cheat someone out of money or proper-
ty by using false or fraudulent pretenses and represen-
tations relating to a material fact.” 

The district court then instructed that a “statement 
or representation is false or fraudulent if it is about a 
material fact that the speaker knows is untrue or makes 
with deliberate indifference as to the truth and makes 
with intent to defraud.”  The court added, “A statement 
or representation may be false or fraudulent when it’s a 
half truth or effectively conceals a material fact and is 
made with the intent to defraud.”  The court explained 
that “‘[t]o act with intent to defraud’ means to do some-
thing with a specific intent to deceive or cheat someone 
and to deprive someone of money or property.” 

The district court thus told the jury that, as to 
knowledge of falsity, the defendants had to either 
“know” the representations were untrue or make them 
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“with deliberate indifference as to the truth” and “with 
intent to defraud.”  This deliberate indifference instruc-
tion was tethered to an instruction requiring a finding 
that the defendants made the representations “with in-
tent to defraud.” 

A. Standard of Review 

We review jury instructions “to determine whether 
the instructions misstated the law or misled the jury to 
the prejudice of the objecting party.”  United States v. 
Gibson, 708 F.3d 1256, 1275 (11th Cir. 2013).  We will not 
reverse a conviction based on a jury instruction chal-
lenge “unless we are ‘left with a substantial and ineradi-
cable doubt as to whether the jury was properly guided 
in its deliberations.’”  Id.  But “[w]hen the jury instruc-
tions, taken together, accurately express the law appli-
cable to the case without confusing or prejudicing the 
jury, there is no reason for reversal even though isolated 
clauses may, in fact, be confusing, technically imperfect, 
or otherwise subject to criticism.”  Id.  Moreover, the 
Supreme Court has admonished that “in reviewing jury 
instructions, our task is also to view the charge itself as 
part of the whole trial,” noting that “[o]ften isolated 
statements taken from the charge, seemingly prejudicial 
on their face, are not so when considered in the context 
of the entire record of the trial.”  United States v. Park, 
421 U.S. 658, 675-76, 95 S. Ct. 1903, 1913 (1975).26 

                                                 
26 We review de novo the legal correctness of jury instruc-

tions, but we review the district court’s phrasing for abuse of dis-
cretion.  United States v. Prather, 205 F.3d 1265, 1270 (11th Cir. 
2000).  Jury instructions are also subject to harmless error review.  
United States v. House, 684 F.3d 1173, 1196 (11th Cir. 2012).  An 
error is harmless “if the reviewing court is satisfied ‘beyond a rea-
sonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to 
the verdict obtained.’”  Id. at 1197. 
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B. Section 1347 Instructions 

The defendants argue that the district court erred 
by instructing the jury that it could convict the defend-
ants under § 1347 upon finding that the defendants made 
false representations in the CY 2006 expense reports 
“with deliberate indifference as to the truth.”  They ar-
gue that the “deliberate indifference” standard is akin to 
a “recklessness” standard and impermissibly lowered 
the bar below what Vernon and Medina require. 

We agree that in a health care fraud case such as 
this, “the defendant must be shown to have known that 
the claims submitted were, in fact, false.”  United 
States v. Vernon, 723 F.3d 1234, 1273 (11th Cir. 2013) 
(quoting United States v. Medina, 485 F.3d 1291, 1297 
(11th Cir. 2007)).  Although the government must prove 
the defendant’s knowledge of falsity, a defendant’s 
knowledge can be proven in more than one way.  Here, 
the district court properly instructed the jury that a 
“statement or representation is false or fraudulent if it 
is about a material fact that the speaker knows is un-
true or makes with deliberate indifference as to the 
truth and makes with intent to defraud.”  Representa-
tions made with deliberate indifference to the truth 
and with intent to defraud adequately satisfy the 
knowledge requirement in § 1347 cases. 

The Eleventh Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions for 
§ 1347 support our conclusion.  The pattern § 1347 in-
struction provides that a “statement or representation 
is ‘false’ or ‘fraudulent’ if it is about a material fact that 
the speaker knows is untrue or makes with reckless in-
difference as to the truth and makes with intent to de-
fraud.”  Eleventh Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions 
(Criminal Cases) 53 (2010).  Here, the district court’s 
instruction mirrored the § 1347 pattern instruction, ex-
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cept the district court used the even stronger phrase 
“deliberate indifference” instead of the phrase “reckless 
indifference” found in the pattern instructions.  Id.  The 
district court’s language imposed a higher burden on 
the government than that suggested by our § 1347 pat-
tern jury instruction. 

In the mail and wire fraud context, this Court has 
said that “[f]raudulent conduct that will establish a 
‘scheme to defraud’ includes knowingly making false 
representations” and also “statements made with reck-
less indifference to their truth or falsity.”  United States 
v. Sawyer, 799 F.2d 1494, 1502 (11th Cir. 1986); see also 
United States v. Simon, 839 F.2d 1461, 1470 (11th Cir. 
1988) (“[R]eckless indifference to the truth … supplies 
the criminal intent necessary to convict ….”); United 
States v. Edwards, 458 F.2d 875, 881 (11th Cir. 1972) 
(“Such reckless indifference to the truth of representa-
tions is more than sufficient to afford the government a 
remedy under the mail fraud statute.”).  The district 
court’s instruction was not only consistent with the pat-
tern charge but also with this Circuit’s fraud precedents. 

The defendants argue the mail and wire fraud cases 
are inapplicable because those statutes do not require, 
as § 1347 does, that a defendant “knowingly and willful-
ly execute[] … a scheme to defraud.”  18 U.S.C. 
§ 1347(a); see 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343.  But § 1347 links 
knowledge and willfulness to a “scheme to defraud.”  
See 18 U.S.C. § 1347(a).  The government thus had to 
prove the defendants both (1) knowingly and willfully 
executed that scheme to defraud and (2) made false 
statements with “deliberate indifference as to the 
truth” and “with intent to defraud.”  Cf. United States 
v. Dearing, 504 F.3d 897, 903 (9th Cir. 2007) (holding 
that where a court’s “reckless indifference” instruction 
“was tethered to the specific intent to defraud element” 
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of § 1347, such an instruction did not negate the court’s 
separate instruction that, to convict under § 1347, the 
jury also had to find the defendant “knowingly and will-
ingly” executed a scheme to defraud). 

Here, the district court properly defined “knowing-
ly” and “willfully” and made clear the government had 
to prove that the defendants executed a scheme to de-
fraud AHCA “voluntarily and intentionally” rather 
than by “mistake or by accident” and “with the intent 
to do something the law forbids.”  The district court al-
so linked “deliberate indifference” to “intent to de-
fraud.”  The instruction required the jury to find more 
than deliberate indifference to the truth; rather, a find-
ing of deliberate indifference would suffice only if the 
jury also found that the defendants made the false 
statement with intent to defraud.  The court then in-
structed that “‘[t]o act with intent to defraud’ means to 
do something with a specific intent to deceive or cheat 
someone and to deprive someone of money or proper-
ty.”  Therefore, under the factual circumstances of this 
case, to find that the defendants made representations 
of expenses in the CY 2006 reports (1) with deliberate 
indifference to the truth and (2) with intent to defraud 
necessarily required the jury to find that the defend-
ants knew the representations were false.  See United 
States v. Hough, 803 F.3d 1181, 1197-98 (11th Cir. 2015) 
(“A crucial assumption underlying the jury trial system 
is that juries will follow the instructions given them by 
the trial judge.” (alterations omitted)); United States v. 
Stone, 9 F.3d 934, 938 (11th Cir. 1993) (“Few tenets are 
more fundamental to our jury trial system than the 
presumption that juries obey the court’s instructions.”). 

Further, the trial proceeded under a theory of ac-
tual knowledge rather than deliberate indifference.  
The indictment charged that the defendants knew the 
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information in the CY 2006 reports was false.  The gov-
ernment’s closing argument hammered over and over 
again that the defendants knew what they represented 
to AHCA was false.  From beginning to end, the gov-
ernment alleged the defendants’ knowledge and intent, 
not mere recklessness.  For the jury to convict the de-
fendants without finding that they knew the expense 
reports were false would be to ignore both the district 
court’s jury instructions and the government’s whole 
theory of the case.  Viewing the charge as a whole and 
the entire trial, we find no error, much less reversible 
error, in the court’s thorough charge to the jury. 

C. Willful Blindness Instruction 

The defendants also argue that our circuit’s pattern 
§ 1347 instruction is inconsistent with the Supreme 
Court’s decision in Global-Tech Appliances, Inc. v. 
SEB S.A., 563 U.S. 754, 131 S. Ct. 2060 (2011).  They 
argue that, under Global-Tech, the district court should 
have instructed that the government had to prove (1) 
actual knowledge of falsity or (2) at least “willful blind-
ness.”  Id. at 769; 131 S. Ct. at 2070. 

First, as the government emphasizes, the district 
court actually did give a “willful blindness” instruction 
consistent with the definition of willful blindness in 
Global-Tech.  The Supreme Court in Global-Tech said 
that willful blindness has “two basic requirements:  (1) 
the defendant must subjectively believe that there is a 
high probability that a fact exists and (2) the defendant 
must take deliberate actions to avoid learning of that 
fact.”  Id. at 769, 131 S. Ct. at 2071.  In the opening part 
of its charge, here, the district court similarly instruct-
ed that “[i]f a defendant’s knowledge of a fact is an es-
sential part of a crime, it is enough that the defendant 
was aware of a high probability that the fact existed 
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and took deliberate action to avoid learning of the fact 
unless the defendant actually believed the fact did not 
exist.”  The district court gave an example to explain 
“deliberate” action to avoid knowledge of a fact: 

To give you an example from a different 
kind of case, deliberate avoidance of positive 
knowledge, which is equivalent of knowledge, 
occurs in a drug case if a defendant possesses a 
package and believes it contains a controlled 
substance but deliberately avoids learning that 
it contains the controlled substance so he or she 
can deny knowledge of the package’s contents. 

So, in such a case, the jury may find that a 
defendant knew about the possession of a con-
trolled substance if the jury determines beyond 
a reasonable doubt that the defendant, one, ac-
tually knew about the controlled substance or, 
two, had every reason to know but deliberately 
closes his or her eyes. 

(emphasis added).  The court then admonished:  “But I 
must emphasize that negligence, recklessness, care-
lessness, or foolishness is not enough to prove that a 
defendant knew about the possession of the controlled 
substance.”  (emphasis added). 

Alternatively, the defendants argue that the dis-
trict court still erred by allowing the jury to find 
knowledge of falsity under the § 1347 pattern instruc-
tion standard of “reckless indifference to the truth and 
intent to defraud” as opposed to charging only the 
Global-Tech standard of actual knowledge or willful 
blindness.27  This ignores that the district court substi-

                                                 
27 Behrens (as to § 1035) and Clay (as to § 1001) also argue the 

evidence was insufficient to trigger a willful blindness instruction 
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tuted “deliberate indifference” for “reckless indiffer-
ence” in the § 1347 pattern charge.  That substitution 
made the § 1347 pattern charge much closer to the “de-
liberate” standard in the willful blindness charge.  The 
district court never once said “reckless indifference.”  
The court explicitly said that recklessness was not 
enough. 

We also reject the claim that Global-Tech alone 
controls this criminal § 1347 fraud case or creates re-
versible error here.  Global-Tech is a civil patent-
infringement case.  In Global-Tech, the Supreme Court 
analyzed the meaning of the term “actively induces” in 
35 U.S.C. § 271(b), a statute that provides that 
“[w]hoever actively induces infringement of a patent 
shall be liable as an infringer.”  Id. 563 U.S. at 760, 131 
S. Ct. at 2065.  Global-Tech was not a criminal fraud 
case and did not abrogate, conflict with, or preclude the 
district court from giving the § 1347 pattern charge in 
this case.  As noted earlier, knowledge of falsity can be 
proved in more than one way, and we view the § 1347 
pattern charge as a permissible and acceptable way to 
prove knowledge of falsity.28  Considering the charge as 

                                                                                                    
at all.  For example, Behrens’s brief (and Clay’s by adoption) ar-
gues that there was no evidence the defendants were aware of a 
high probability that their expense reports were false and pur-
posefully contrived to avoid learning the truth.  We disagree and 
find adequate evidence to warrant the instruction, given their de-
liberate refusal to call AHCA at certain important times.  Alt-
hough there was more evidence of actual knowledge, we cannot 
say the evidence of willful blindness was non-existent or too 
sparse.  Alternatively, given the abundant evidence of actual 
knowledge, any alleged error was harmless for the reasons out-
lined in United States v. Esquenazi, 752 F.3d 912, 931 (11th Cir. 
2014), and Stone, 9 F.3d at 938-39. 

28 See Sovereign Military Hospitaller Order of Saint John of 
Jerusalem of Rhodes and of Malta v. Fla. Priory of the Knights 



101a 

 

a whole, we conclude that the district court did not err 
in giving the § 1347 charge in this criminal fraud case. 

VII.  EVIDENTIARY ISSUES 

A. Compensation Evidence 

The defendants challenge the district court’s ad-
mission of evidence of their compensation, which the 
government introduced to prove the defendants’ mo-
tive.  The compensation evidence included:  (1) the de-
fendants’ receipt of company stock when hired; (2) the 
amount of the defendants’ stock bonuses during the pe-
riod of the fraud; (3) the defendants’ shares sold during 
the period of the fraud; (4) the sale price for up to two 
stock sales per defendant; and (5) other compensation 
including base salary, cash bonuses, and stock options. 

We review for abuse of discretion the district 
court’s evidentiary decisions.  United States v. Brown, 
415 F.3d 1257, 1264-65 (11th Cir. 2005).  “The district 
court has broad discretion to determine the relevance 
and admissibility of any given piece of evidence.”  Unit-
ed States v. Merrill, 513 F.3d 1293 (11th Cir. 2008).  
“[E]vidence of wealth or extravagant spending may be 
admissible when relevant to issues in the case and 
where other evidence supports a finding of guilt.”  
United States v. Bradley, 644 F.3d 1213, 1271 (11th Cir. 
2011).  A district court has “broad discretion to admit 
the Government’s ‘wealth evidence’ so long as it aided 
in proving or disproving a fact in issue.”  Id. at 1270, 
                                                                                                    
Hospitallers of the Sovereign Order of Saint John of Jerusalem, 
Knights of Malta, the Ecumenical Order, 702 F.3d 1279, 1291 (11th 
Cir. 2012) (declining to import Global-Tech’s standard to analyze a 
fraud claim outside the specific civil patent-infringement context 
with which Global-Tech was concerned, and stating, “We have 
been admonished to exercise caution before importing standards 
from one area of intellectual-property law into another”). 
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1272 (finding no reversible error where the district 
court permitted the government to present substantial 
evidence of the defendants’ wealth). 

The district court did not abuse its broad discretion 
in admitting this evidence.  First, the district court 
carefully limited the wealth evidence to evidence of 
compensation that depended upon WellCare’s profits.  
That way, the district court admitted only what was 
necessary to show that the defendants had an incentive 
to maximize WellCare’s profits.  Second, before the 
government presented any wealth evidence, the dis-
trict court instructed the jury to consider such evidence 
only to the extent it established financial motive for the 
defendants to commit the charged offenses and for no 
other reason.  The district court further instructed the 
jury that the defendants’ wealth had nothing to do with 
whether the defendants were guilty or innocent of the 
charges against them.  The district court’s jury instruc-
tions guarded against the chance that the jury would 
draw any impermissible inferences to the defendants’ 
detriment.  As a result, the district court admitted only 
relevant evidence and took steps to mitigate any preju-
dicial effect. 

Additionally, we reject Kale’s complaint that the 
government’s wealth evidence was especially prejudi-
cial to his defense because he had only a “modest com-
pensation alongside Mr. Farha’s rich financial re-
wards.”  The record shows that the government pre-
sented distinct, individualized evidence of each defend-
ant’s compensation.  The admitted evidence showed 
that Kale’s compensation paled in comparison to Far-
ha’s.  If anything, this evidence helped distance Kale 
from the motive evidence.  We find no impermissible 
spillover effects and no abuse of discretion by the dis-
trict court. 
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B. Forensic Accountant’s Testimony 

The defendants argue that the district court abused 
its discretion under Rule 703 of the Federal Rules of 
Evidence by allowing Kelly, the forensic accountant, (1) 
to disclose the fact that WellCare had publicly filed an 
audited financial restatement with the SEC and (2) to 
use any of the content of the restatement in his calcula-
tions and testimony.  Rule 703 addresses an expert 
witness’s opinion testimony and provides as follows: 

An expert may base an opinion on facts or data 
in the case that the expert has been made 
aware of or personally observed.  If experts in 
the particular field would reasonably rely on 
those kinds of facts or data in forming an opin-
ion on the subject, they need not be admissible 
for the opinion to be admitted.  But if the facts 
or data would otherwise be inadmissible, the 
proponent of the opinion may disclose them to 
the jury only if their probative value in helping 
the jury evaluate the opinion substantially 
outweighs their prejudicial effect. 

Fed. R. Evid. 703.  The rule allows experts to base their 
opinions on “facts or data” (1) that an expert has “been 
made aware of or personally observed” or (2) that ex-
perts in the particular field would “reasonably rely on.”  
Those “kinds of facts or data” need not be admissible. 

In forming his opinions, Kelly reasonably relied on 
the “facts or data” contained in WellCare’s audited fi-
nancial restatement.  Even though Kelly’s expert opin-
ions themselves were admissible, the defendants chal-
lenge his disclosing to the jury (1) the fact that a re-
statement was filed to correct accounting errors and (2) 
certain numbers set forth in the restatement.  They 
contend that these facts were inadmissible hearsay.  
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The defendants stress that Rule 703 provides that if the 
facts or data used by the expert are not admissible, the 
experts may disclose them only if the probative value 
“substantially outweighs” the prejudicial effect.  De-
fendants’ argument fails because the financial restate-
ment was admissible as a business record under Rule 
803(6).  Kelly could both use and reveal this evidence.29 

Notably too, the facts and data Kelly disclosed from 
the financial restatement primarily corroborated his 
own claims data analyses of WellCare’s over-reporting 
expenses and under-paying refunds.  For context, 
Kelly’s testimony covered:  (1) his own review and 
analysis of WellCare, Staywell, and HealthEase’s rec-
ords, including the claims database; (2) his calculations 
for each year from CY 2002-2006 as to the differences 
between the amounts Staywell and HealthEase report-
ed to AHCA and what Staywell and HealthEase actual-
ly spent on CMH/TCM services; (3) Kelly’s calculations 
that the falsely-reported expenses were $29,920,705 
more than the actual CMH/TCM expenses; (4) his own 
calculations of the impact of the falsely-reported ex-
penses on WellCare’s annual financial statements filed 
with the SEC; and (5) Kelly’s analysis of the incon-
sistent 80/20 reporting methodologies and Staywell and 
HealthEase’s use of a results-oriented  reporting meth-
odology that started with a predetermined refund 
amount and worked backward to expense figures to 
reach that result. 
                                                 

29 The restatement contained comments and addressed issues 
beyond the scope of this case.  The government offered to redact 
the restatement, but the district court decided not to admit it.  The 
district court instead allowed Kelly to testify as to how he relied on 
and used certain financial information in the restatement.  If any-
thing, the district court’s careful and practical resolution of this is-
sue underscores how the district court did not abuse its discretion. 
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After testifying about his own analyses, Kelly ex-
plained that public companies like WellCare regularly 
file 10-K financial statements with the SEC.  Some-
times public companies conclude that a filed financial 
statement contains materially incorrect information.  
When that happens, the company must file a restate-
ment with the SEC. 

Kelly told the jury that WellCare had restated its 
financial statement in 2007 to correct accounting errors 
related to the refunds required under the AHCA con-
tract.  Based on his examination of WellCare’s restate-
ment and Deloitte & Touche’s working papers, Kelly 
used audited figures from the restatement and calcu-
lated that Staywell and HealthEase collectively had 
owed $35,134,000 more in refunds than what they paid 
from CY 2002 through CY 2006.  Kelly also testified 
that, for tax years 2004, 2005, and 2006, Staywell and 
HealthEase’s combined net income before taxes should 
have been 13.9% lower in 2004, 8.8% lower in 2005, and 
6.5% lower in 2006 than they reported. 

There was no error in admitting Kelly’s testimony 
about the fact of the audited restatement’s public filing 
or about certain financial figures in the restatement.  
The district court correctly noted on several occasions, 
including when ruling on the defendants’ Rule 703 ob-
jection, that the audited restatement qualified as a 
business record under Rule 803(6) of the Federal Rules 
of Evidence.  The audited restatement was a report 
made in 2007 in conjunction with a detailed accounting 
review by those with knowledge of Staywell’s and 
HealthEase’s books and records.  The restatement is a 
business record of the accounting review itself and its 
review of what Staywell and HealthEase publicly 
showed for their eligible expenses during the relevant 
period of the AHCA contracts.  Federal courts com-
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monly admit audited financial reports that restate earn-
ings and are publicly filed with the SEC.30  See, e.g., 
SEC v. Jasper, 678 F.3d 1116, 1124 (9th Cir. 2012) (col-
lecting cases). 

Similar to this case, Jasper involved a fraud action 
in which the SEC alleged that a company’s former CFO 
perpetuated a fraudulent scheme resulting in the com-
pany’s significantly overstating its income.  Id. at 1119.  
The Ninth Circuit rejected the CFO’s argument that 
the company’s restatement, which the company filed 
following an internal investigation after the CFO had 
left the company, could not be admitted under Rule 
803(6).  Id. at 1122-23.  See also In re Worldcom, Inc., 
357 B.R. 223, 229 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (recognizing the ad-
missibility of a financial restatement under Rule 803(6) 
and stressing the trial judge’s finding that “the intense 
public scrutiny involved in the restatement of World-
Com’s financial [sic] adequately ensured that the re-
sults were trustworthy”).  As in Jasper, the restate-
ment is generally admissible under Rule 803(6). 

The defendants also argue WellCare’s restatement 
was a result not of the company’s regular practice of a 
regularly conducted activity but rather of pressure 
WellCare faced while under threat of criminal prosecu-
tion.  The Ninth Circuit rejected a similar argument in 
Jasper, where the CFO argued that the company’s fi-
nancial restatement should have been excluded because 
it was “explicitly created with an eye toward pending 

                                                 
30 The government argues that any errors as to the restate-

ment should be reviewed for plain error because the defendants 
either did not properly object or invited the errors by their shift-
ing litigation position.  We need not resolve those issues as the 
district court did not abuse its discretion. 
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litigation.”  678 F.3d at 1123.  The Ninth Circuit disa-
greed, stating: 

This argument has no limiting principle:  the fil-
ing of an accurate 10-K was and continues to be 
a legal requirement for Maxim [the company].  
In today’s litigation-heavy climate, the filing of 
any 10-K can always subject companies to legal 
exposure.  That is why lawyers pore over 10-Ks 
every year at substantial expense to share-
holders.  Were this court to accept [the CFO’s] 
contention, virtually every document a public 
company releases to the public would be inad-
missible as a business record merely because 
companies are worried about litigation risks.  
That is not the law under the Federal Rules of 
Evidence. 

Id., at 1123-24. 

While the circumstances in which WellCare filed 
the restatement had legal overtones, the process Well-
Care used to produce the restatement conformed to 
regular practice.  It is undisputed that Deloitte & 
Touche conducted an independent audit in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles.31  As 
                                                 

31 Deloitte & Touche’s audit report states: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of WellCare Health Plans, Inc. and subsidiaries 
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2007, 2006, 2005, 
and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of in-
come, stockholders’ and members’ equity and compre-
hensive income, and cash flows for each of the four years 
in the period ended December 31, 2007…. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the stand-
ards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States)…. 
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this Court has said, the “touchstone of admissibility un-
der the business records exception to the hearsay rule 
is reliability, and a trial judge has broad discretion to 
determine the admissibility of such evidence.”  United 
States v. Langford, 647 F.3d 1309, 1327 (11th Cir. 2011).  
Any pressure WellCare experienced when cooperating 
with federal and state law enforcement and govern-
ment agencies goes to the weight of the restatement’s 
content rather than to the restatement’s admissibility.  
Because the financial restatement was audited by an 
independent accounting firm, was publicly filed with 
the SEC, and was a reliable and relevant business rec-
ord, we conclude that Rule 703 does not bar the testi-
mony that Kelly offered regarding the restatement. 

We also reject the defendants’ allegation that they 
had no opportunity to alert the jury to circumstances 
that could cast doubt on the restatement’s reliability.32  
Defense counsel asked Kelly if WellCare had filed its re-
statement “after the company had been raided by 200 
agents.”  Kelly responded, “Yes, it was.”  Defense coun-

                                                                                                    
The defendants argue that the restatement, though publicly filed 
with the SEC, was not properly authenticated by a custodian and 
thus could not be used at all.  The restatement itself, however, was 
not admitted and therefore does not require separate authentica-
tion.  The restatement was discussed only through Kelly’s expert 
testimony, and the limited content of the restatement that Kelly 
used was sufficiently reliable and admissible for purposes of his 
testimony.  The defendants were free to cross-examine Kelly on 
the reliability of the facts and data upon which he relied. 

32 Several months before trial, the district court expressed a 
preliminary willingness to allow the restatement to be admitted 
into evidence.  After defense counsel objected, the court said, 
“Well, you can notify your forensic accountant that’s maybe an 
area where the government’s headed.”  The government’s expert 
forensic accountant’s use of the audited financial statement was 
therefore no surprise. 
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sel continued, “It was when the company was under fed-
eral investigation; right?”  Kelly responded, “Yes, that’s 
true.”  Defense counsel continued to press, “Well, the 
restatement was done at a time when the company was 
under threat of criminal prosecution; correct?”  Kelly 
again, “I believe that’s right.”  Later defense counsel 
asked, “[S]ometimes companies restate in order to sur-
vive; isn’t that correct?”  Kelly answered, “Sometimes 
companies restate, yes, to correct their financial state-
ments.”  He explained that be it “for purposes of getting 
lending or whatever … accurate financial statements are 
very important.”  Kelly finished, “So, yes, companies do 
that to survive sometimes.”  The defendants successfully 
communicated to the jury that external legal pressure 
may have motivated WellCare to restate its financials. 

By the time Kelly discussed the restatement and 
certain numbers therein, the jury already had heard 
about the false expense reports from Kelly, West, and 
internal company records.  Kelly’s additional calcula-
tions based on the restatement’s financial information, 
while probative, were cumulative. 

The district court did not abuse its discretion in al-
lowing Kelly to testify to a limited extent about the re-
statement.33 

VIII.  CONCLUSION 

For all of the forgoing reasons, we affirm the de-
fendants’ convictions. 

AFFIRMED.
                                                 

33 Kale alone contends that the district court improperly lim-
ited his impeachment of Pearl Blackburn’s testimony and improp-
erly allowed the government’s hypothetical question to witness 
Michael Turrell.  Kale has not shown any reversible error as to 
these issues. 
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APPENDIX B 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR 
THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

 
No. 14-12373 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
Plaintiff-Appellee, 

v. 

PETER E. CLAY, TODD S. FAHRA, PAUL L. BEHRENS, 
WILLIAM L. KALE, 

Defendants-Appellants. 
 

Appeals from the United States District Court for the 
Middle District of Florida 

 
October 18, 2016 

 

ON PETITIONS FOR REHEARING AND 
PETITIONS FOR REHEARING EN BANC 

Before TJOFLAT and HULL, Circuit Judges, and 
HALL,∗ District Judge: 

PER CURIAM: 

The Petitions for Rehearing of Appellants Fahra, 
Behrens and Kale are DENIED, and no Judge in regu-
lar active service on the Court having requested that 
the Court be polled on rehearing en banc (Rule 35, 

                                                 
∗ Honorable J. Randal Hall, United States District Judge for 

the Southern District of Georgia, sitting by designation. 
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Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure), the Petitions 
by the same Appellants for Rehearing En Banc are 
DENIED. 

/s/ Frank M. Hull   
UNITED STATES 
CIRCUIT JUDGE 
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APPENDIX C 

CHARGE CONFERENCE TRANSCRIPT, 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, MAY 8, 2013 

* * * 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  And, yes, Your Honor, also 
the—let me check, because I’ve got the two different 
versions going now.  Okay, on their new proposed pat-
tern, it looks like—yes, they don’t have pattern lan-
guage in the paragraph, and it’s—the paragraph that 
starts “A scheme to defraud.”  I’m sorry, it’s not that 
paragraph, it’s the next one.  “A statement or repre-
sentation is false or fraudulent if it is—this is com-
pletely not pattern.  Their paragraph there, “A state-
ment or representation is false or fraudulent if it is 
about a material fact that the speaker knows is un-
true.”  And is made with intent to defraud.  The pat-
tern is “A statement or representation is false or 
fraudulent if it is about a material fact that the speaker 
knows is untrue or makes with reckless indifference as 
to the truth and makes with an intent to defraud.”  A 
statement may be false or fraudulent when it’s a half 
truth or effectively conceals a material fact and is made 
with intent to defraud.”  They’ve left out that whole 
portion of the pattern. 

THE COURT:  Response? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  The recklessness standard after 
In Re: Global-Tech is inappropriate.  So, we removed 
that “recklessness,” which is basically substituting for 
knowledge, a willful blindness-type instruction, and if it 
is knowing, then reckless indifference or any type of 
recklessness is insufficient to meet the knowing re-
quirement.  So, we removed that based on the Supreme 
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Court’s recent decision in In Re: Global-Tech.  And I 
have a copy of that. 

THE COURT:  Where is the “knowing blindness” 
reference?  You said you inserted “knowing blindness.” 

MS. VAUGHAN:  No, I said we removed the 
“reckless indifference.”  Global-Tech was a willful 
blindness case; and basically the United States Su-
preme Court looked at the criminal.  It was a civil case, 
but they were looking at the criminal willful blindness 
standard, and ruled that recklessness or reckless indif-
ference was not sufficient to meet the standard.  You 
can’t replace knowledge with recklessness.  That will 
have an effect on a number of instructions.  But in par-
ticular here, this instruction says the statement is false 
if it’s made knowingly.  If you know it’s false or if you 
have a reckless indifference for the truth.  And that’s 
no longer sufficient under In Re: Global-Tech.  So, we 
removed that. 

Then in addition, we removed the “half truth and 
concealment” language because it is confusing, and this 
is not a half truth or concealment case.  The fraud in 
this case is a false statement.  And the fraud, particu-
larly in the healthcare fraud, 1347, is clearly for false 
statements.  It’s the identical four false statements that 
are in the false statements count.  So, it’s confusing and 
it’s misleading and it does not represent the fraud 
that’s been charged in this case. 

THE COURT:  Reply? 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Judge, In Re: Global-Tech does 
not stand for the proposition the defendants contend.  
In Re: Global-Tech was a case about the willful blind-
ness instruction.  And the willful blindness instruction 
in that case that the court addressed was not sufficient.  
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The court said that the willful—a willful blindness in-
struction that would be appropriate is the one that we 
give in the Eleventh Circuit.  So, we would argue that 
In Re: Global-Tech does not stand for the proposition 
that they contend.  The Eleventh Circuit hasn’t 
acknowledged that In Re: Global-Tech affects the 
standard instruction for 1347. 

Your Honor, and there has been plenty of evidence 
about concealment in this case.  And part of the scheme 
to defraud was concealing from AHCA the true ex-
penses.  So, it’s pattern language, and there’s evidence 
to support it. 

THE COURT:  Well, somebody give me a copy of 
Global-Tech. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Your Honor, Global-Tech is a 
willful blindness instruction, but it goes more to the 
point that recklessness does not create knowledge.  
You can’t relace or substitute knowledge with reck-
lessness, because it has to be knowingly false, and you 
can’t take a reckless standard or a negligence standard 
and relace the knowledge requirement.  So, that’s why 
that’s applicable. 

And in terms of the concealment, the government’s 
argument illustrates the problem:  The healthcare 
fraud is not concealment, but the confusion or arguing 
that the concealment does create a fraud in the case is 
the problem that we’re trying to avoid by taking out 
the concealment language.  The concealment that the 
government’s talking about would be, I believe, not dis-
closing that they used Harmony in the subcapitation.  
That, by itself, is not a fraud, and it’s not the charged 
fraud in this case.  The charged fraud in this case is four 
false statements.  And the concealment—if those 
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statements are true, then the government’s argument 
that there’s concealment does not create a fraud. 

THE COURT:  Let’s take a ten-minute break while 
I read the case. 

MR. LAMKEN:  Your Honor, may I hand up one 
more case that I think would be helpful? 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. LAMKEN:  And that would be Safeco case.  I 
think the court noticed this when it looked at Safeco yes-
terday where it describes the difference between civil 
willfulness and criminal willfulness and in the text sur-
rounding Footnote 9 and in Footnote 9, the court points 
out that for civil willfulness you can have recklessness or 
deliberate indifference, but recklessness is not good 
enough  for a criminal offense.  I’ll hand that up. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  And to add one additional thing.  
When we get to the willful blindness instruction, this is 
not a willful blindness case, in any event.  There’s no 
evidence that anyone turned the other way, actively 
avoided some kind of communications or information. 

THE COURT:  See you in ten minutes. 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Judge, I have a couple of cases 
supporting our position.  I don’t know if you—I’m hand-
ing up Simon, Edwards, and Frick. 

THE COURT:  See you in 15 minutes. 

(Recess from 10:53 a.m. until 11:19 a.m.) 

THE COURT REPORTER:  Just a moment. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  —the reckless indifference 
standard.  Reckless disregard for the proof is a breach of 
the standard that—the reckless indifference standard is 
not sufficient to supplant knowledge after Global-Tech. 
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(Court Reporter turning on microphones in court-
room.) 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Whoops.  Sorry. 

And then next—and then in addition, on the con-
cealment and “half truth” language, the execution of 
the healthcare fraud is four false statements.  So, the 
concealment and “half truth” language is inappropriate 
because it is misleading.  The government has made ar-
guments about concealment and half truth most recent-
ly in response to this instruction that would indicate 
they’re going to argue to the jury that somehow a fraud 
could exist if there was merely a concealment of some 
sort, or a half truth; and in this case, the healthcare 
fraud is four false statements, and the execution is 
those four false statements, so any additional acts are 
not the chargeable offense, not what the jury has to 
find in this case. 

MR. LAMKEN:  I also wanted to point out that 
when we asked for a duty to disclose instruction, the 
government said it’s not appropriate to have a duty to 
disclose instruction because that’s only for a conceal-
ment case, and this is not a concealment case.  And, yet, 
here we are on the healthcare fraud charge, and the 
government is asking for concealment language.  It 
can’t be both ways.  Either we need an affirmative duty 
to disclose or the government can’t argue and can’t 
have instruction on concealment. 

THE COURT:  Well, the Global-Tech case does not 
say you cannot have willful blindness.  It says just the 
opposite. 

MR. LAMKEN:  Right. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  And in this case, that’s the addi-
tional point I tried to make, that this is not a willful 



118a 

 

blindness case.  There has been no evidence in this case 
that there is willful blindness, but—what—by the way, 
what the global tech case does say is recklessness is not 
enough.  So, the recklessness language would have to 
come out no matter what.  Global-Tech does not get rid 
of willful blindness.  What it gets rid of is a negligence 
or recklessness standard.  It has to be a higher stand-
ard than both of those, and the Supreme Court specifi-
cally said reckless is not enough. 

So, that language would have to come out, and then 
the government has asked for a separate willful blind-
ness instruction, Your Honor, and in this case there’s 
no evidence of willful blindness, so it would be inappro-
priate to give a willful blindness instruction. 

THE COURT:  Well, the Global-Tech case is a civil 
case concerning patent infringement, and you have not 
marked a passage about reckless indifference. 

MR. LAMKEN:  Your Honor, we can—Miss 
Vaughan can read you the part about reckless indiffer-
ence and the deliberate indifference language that the 
federal circuit had used and the Supreme Court disap-
proved.  But in approving that language for use in the 
civil patent cases, the Supreme Court drew heavily 
and, indeed, extensively, exclusively on the criminal 
law and the use of what were called in the Ninth Cir-
cuit, the jewel instruction for willful blindness. 

So, it is very much based on the criminal law; and, 
in fact, Justice Kennedy’s dissent, angrily says, “We 
should not be going here, having not heard from the 
criminal defense bar, because this is going to affect 
them.  And we have not heard from them, and this is 
not right.”  This is actually a very important issue for 
that bar, and so the language that the Supreme Court 
uses and says that you need to—the elements of willful 
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blindness are, one, you must subjectively believe that 
there’s a high probability that a fact exists; and, two, 
the defendant must take deliberate actions to avoid 
learning of that fact.” 

They said that they need that language to appro-
priately limit the scope that surpasses recklessness and 
negligence.  So, reckless just isn’t enough.  You must 
surpass recklessness.  And if I remember correctly—
and I’d have to go back and look, but there’s specific 
language that the federal circuit had used which talked 
about deliberate indifference to the possibility of in-
fringement, and they said that’s not good enough.  It 
has to be a highly likely fact.  You have to have a sub-
jective awareness of the high likelihood, and you have 
to have taken affirmative steps to avoid learning. 

THE COURT:  What is the standard language that 
the government wants to use? 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Judge, the pattern language—
and if I could just point out, Miss Vaughan’s and Mr. 
Lamken’s analysis only goes up to a certain point.  They 
keep saying, “Recklessness is not enough.”  The Elev-
enth Circuit instruction doesn’t end at recklessness.  
The Eleventh Circuit instruction says, “A statement or 
representation is false or fraudulent if it is about a ma-
terial fact that the speaker knows is untrue and makes 
with an intent to fraud”—“to defraud.”  I’m sorry—no, 
no, I’m sorry, I’m reading theirs, not the—“A statement 
or representation is false or fraudulent if it is about a 
material fact that the speaker knows is untrue, actual 
knowledge or”—“or makes with reckless indifference as 
to the truth and makes with an intent to defraud.”  
Global-Tech doesn’t go to that.  Global-Tech goes to ac-
tual knowledge of patent infringement.  It doesn’t talk 
anything about the standard of intent for a fraud case. 
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The Eleventh Circuit says you can either have ac-
tual knowledge or you can act with reckless indiffer-
ence and have an intent to defraud.  Either of those 
ways establishes the falsity or fraudulent nature. 

MR. LAMKEN:  Your Honor, I think that really 
does make our point that the standard you have to have 
under the statute is knowing, and what Global-Tech says 
is knowing—you can put willful blindness if the evidence 
supports it as a substitute, but you can’t put in reckless-
ness.  And Safeco, again, in that passage that you had 
mentioned yesterday also says when you’re looking 
for—in recklessness even—or—excuse me, in knowing 
in the criminal law, different from the civil law—
recklessness is not good enough.  It has to be knowing. 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Your Honor, if I may also add, 
we’re not asking for reckless indifference as to the false 
statement charges, because their actual knowledge is 
required.  There’s no reckless indifference and an intent 
to deceive aspect to false statements charges, but there 
clearly is a long history in this circuit and others of that 
standard in fraud cases. 

MR. LAMKEN:  Your Honor, just on the facts of 
this case, the execution is the false statements that are 
the same false statements in the false statement 
charge.  On these facts, we don’t think you can get 
there with reckless indifference.  They’re either false 
and knowingly false, or not. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  And to add, prior to Global-
Tech, there had been a long history of substituting 
reckless indifference or recklessness for knowledge.  
And that ended with Global-Tech. 

THE COURT:  Well, it goes to the issue of 
knowledge; correct? 
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MS. VAUGHAN:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  And it would be like a drug defend-
ant carrying a package, and he says, “I didn’t know there 
were you drugs inside, even though someone paid me 
$500 to walk three blocks down the street and deliver 
it.” 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Uh-huh. 

THE COURT:  “I never looked inside the pack-
age.”  That would be reckless indifference.  That would 
be willful blindness, right? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Correct, and if— 

THE COURT:  So, the Eleventh Circuit certainly 
has not gotten rid of willful blindness in the terms of 
knowledge that you possess something that was illegal. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Yes.  Just—the standard is 
higher.  It has to be—it can’t be reckless indifference.  
It can’t be recklessness.  You have to know of a high 
probability that the fact exists, and then you have to 
deliberately avoid learning about that fact.  None— 

MR. LAMKEN:  Taking affirmative steps. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  None of those facts are in this 
case, by the way, with regard to any kind of knowledge.  
But in this case, it’s the equivalent of saying knowledge 
of falsity.  So, you are just reckless in that you didn’t—
you didn’t know that—or you had knowledge of the fal-
sity of the statement, not because you knew it was 
false, but because you were just reckless—you reck-
lessly disregarded the falsity of the statement, you 
were reckless in your approach to that.  And that is 
specifically what Global-Tech addresses, that that kind 
of standard is no longer appropriate. 
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MR. LAMKEN:  For what it’s worth, the Third 
Circuit has redone its willful blindness pattern instruc-
tion in light of Global-Tech.  And, if you want, we can 
hand that up.  We don’t think there’s evidence here or a 
reason for a willful blindness instructions, but they took 
out recklessness language and then add a language say-
ing recklessness is not good enough when they redid 
their pattern. 

So this is starting to take hold in the patterns, that 
Global-Tech changes what the standard you must have 
for knowledge, and that the lowest level in the criminal 
law you can have is willful blindness, which requires 
substantive—excuse me, knowledge of a high probabil-
ity and affirmative acts to avoid learning. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  And, your Honor, a number of 
circuit courts have started to amend their instructions 
to reflect the Global-Tech decision.  The Eleventh Cir-
cuit has not gone back and amended its instructions 
yet, but I do have a—a packet—maybe we’ll write law 
review article on it, but i do have a packet of instruc-
tions where a number of circuits have gone back and 
changed their instructions to take out recklessness. 

THE COURT:  Give me the Third Circuit instruc-
tion. 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Your Honor—and could I point 
out again—Miss Vaughan just did it again.  She says—
she said, “The standard cannot be recklessness.”  The 
Eleventh Circuit pattern instruction is not recklessness 
by itself.  It is recklessness—“Reckless indifference as to 
the truth and makes with intent to defraud.”  That is the 
critical difference.  The Eleventh Circuit has never said 
that you can satisfy the elements of a fraud case by be-
ing reckless.  They always say “reckless and with an in-
tent to defraud.”  There is nothing in Global-Tech that 
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goes to that, and there’s no fraud cases.  There’s no fraud 
instructions that have been rewritten in light of Global-
Tech that I’m aware.  And the Eleventh Circuit’s willful 
blindness instruction was specifically the willful blind-
ness instruction that was deemed correct in Global-Tech. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  That’s the Third Circuit willful 
blindness instruction. 

MR. LAMKEN:  May I approach (handing item to 
the court)? 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. LAMKEN:  My apologies for the scrabbling. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  And the issue isn’t whether 
recklessness standing alone would give you a crime.  
Obviously, you need intent to defraud for a crime to ex-
ist.  It’s whether or not you can supplant recklessness 
for knowledge, or reckless disregard for knowledge.  
Obviously, you need all of the other elements of the of-
fense and the additional language in the instruction be-
fore you’ve committed a crime. 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Judge— 

THE COURT:  Does the defense object if I change 
the word “reckless” to deliberate—“deliberate indif-
ference”? 

MR. LAMKEN:  I think so, Your Honor, but that 
leaves off the element of—you have to subjectively be 
aware of a high probability, and take affirmative steps.  
So, I think that would, again, be diluting beyond the 
willful blindness; and, again, we’ll talk about willful 
blindness when we get to it, but we don’t think that’s 
appropriate either. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  I think the standard is knowing-
ly.  And, again, in this case, there is not one shred of ev-
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idence that would support the giving of a willful blind-
ness-type instruction or an indifference instruction. 

THE COURT:  Well, we haven’t reached the willful 
blindness instruction yet.  We’re still on this— 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Then there’s no evidence in the 
case I can relate directly to this that would allow the 
jury to supplant an indifference or a deliberate indiffer-
ence for actual knowledge. 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Judge, we just found an Elev-
enth Circuit case, late 2012.  It’s Sovereign Military 
Hospital, 702 F.3d 1279.  And, in this case, the Elev-
enth Circuit said, “It was error to look at Global-Tech 
for the applicable standard to analyze a claim for fraud 
on the PTO”—I guess, Patent Trademark Office.  “We 
have been admonished to exercise caution before im-
porting standards from one area of intellectual proper-
ty into another.” 

So, it appears that the Supreme Court is limiting 
Global—I mean, the Eleventh Circuit is limiting Glob-
al-Tech to one specific area of intellectual property law. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Global-Tech was based on crimi-
nal law.  I’m not familiar with the case, but it may be 
that that statute—the patent statute—it is inappropri-
ate to import it to that if it doesn’t require knowledge. 

MR. LAMKEN:  If it’s fraud on the PTO, that’s a 
whole different area called “inequitable conduct.”  It’s 
got a long history and recent en banc cases from the 
Federal Circuit.  I’m not sure about that case, but 
Global-Tech, as we read it and as it’s written is based 
on the criminal law. 

THE COURT:  No. It’s based on the patent law 
about level of damages, isn’t it? 
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MS. VAUGHAN:  Well, the court actually, in the 
portion where they talk about the willful blindness in-
struction borrows from the criminal law; and Justice 
Kennedy, in his dissent, specifically points out that this 
will have an impact on criminal law. 

MR. LAMKEN:  It was the standard knowledge 
for joint infringement, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  The problem is that with the run-of-
the-mill false statement case, misrepresentation case, 
the reckless indifference to the truth of the statement is 
always an issue, because the defendant always says, 
“Well, I didn’t know it wasn’t true,” even though they 
may have ignored all kinds of evidence that it wasn’t 
true.  So, that’s what this phrase is trying to resolve. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  I agree, Your Honor.  There’s 
been a long history of using reckless indifference to re-
place knowledge in false statement cases, but—and 
there was a long history in using reckless indifference 
to replace knowledge in a willful blindness instruction, 
which—really, it’s the same thing.  We’re talking about 
replacing knowledge. 

So, there was a long history of giving those kinds of 
instructions before the Supreme Court took that up in 
Global-Tech, and Global-Tech is going to have an im-
pact on a number of areas, and this one in particular, 
because it’s the exact same thing.  The crime of a false 
statement requires a knowing and willful statement.  It 
requires the defendant know that the statement is 
false, and the bar has been raised by Global-Tech. 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Judge, we’re addressing an in-
struction here on healthcare fraud. 

THE COURT:  One of the cases the government 
gave me is United States vs. Simon, Eleventh Circuit, 
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1988, 839 F.2d 1461.  It involved—I just read the por-
tion that they said was relevant, so I don’t know all the 
facts, but it appears it was a salesman selling to inves-
tors, asking investors to invest in oil leases, and said 
that they—for a $10,000 investment, within six months 
they would double or quadruple their money. 

And the salesman continued to make these sales to 
customers, to investors, even though various customer 
inquiries came in.  One customer told Simon about a 
newspaper article concerning Miami companies under 
investigation for selling fraudulent Alaskan oil leases, 
which is what they were selling, Alaskan oil leases. 

Simon claims she was unaware of any such investi-
gations.  Another customer told the defendant that 
postal inspectors had informed the customer that the 
oil leases the defendant sold were worthless.  The de-
fendant simply denied the report. 

There were several more examples of knowledge to 
the defendant, but the Eleventh Circuit didn’t require 
some act committed after this.  It just said, “You can’t 
be indifferent to what is presented to you and claim you 
didn’t know it was false.” 

MS. VAUGHAN:  And I think post Global-Tech 
there would be a false statement instruction, or in the 
healthcare fraud, based on false statements or a fraud 
case, you would have that instruction, and then you 
would have a separate willful blindness instruction, and 
under the facts of that case, your willful blindness in-
struction would say that the defendants had a belief 
that there was a high probability that what they were 
selling was fraudulent oil leases, and then they took af-
firmative steps to avoid learning of that fact.  That’s the 
new standard.  But you wouldn’t, in your false state-
ment count in that case, say the defendant sold these 
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knowing that they were—that the leases were false or 
with reckless disregard as to whether they were selling 
false leases. 

So, this would be taken care of by, you know, tak-
ing that language out of the false statement instruction, 
and in that case, I would say it’s appropriate to give a 
willful blindness instruction because there’s evidence of 
that.  The instruction would just change, and they could 
very likely be convicted in that case, even with the new 
higher Global-Tech willful blindness instruction. 

THE COURT:  All right.  I’m going to take out the 
word “reckless” and change it to “deliberate.” 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Your Honor, I think deliberate 
indifference—and we’re trying to—that’s not some-
thing we looked at, but just pulled up a case that says 
deliberate indifference wouldn’t work either.  But 
that’s something that we’d have to research. 

I think if there is a deliberate indifference and it is 
appropriate to give a willful blindness instruction, then 
it would be subsumed within that.  But in this case, 
there are no facts that would even create the need to 
give a deliberate indifference instruction, and in United 
States vs. Rivera, which is an Eleventh Circuit case, the 
court says that willful blindness instructions or these 
types of instructions should be given sparingly when 
the facts in the case support it.  And in this case, there 
is no evidence that anyone purposefully shielded them-
selves or took active steps to keep themselves from 
knowing about anything in this case. 

THE COURT:  See, I think just the opposite.  I 
think why tinker with the fraudulent statement pattern 
instruction?  The issue is whether or not to give a will-



128a 

 

ful blindness instruction, and if it’s not a willful blind-
ness case, don’t give a willful blindness instruction. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  If you put reckless indifference 
into the instruction, you’re essentially creating a willful 
blindness standard and a recklessness standard in your 
false statement or fraud case.  So, you’re putting it 
then—it’s still in there, and it’s still inappropriate in 
there.  So I think it has to come out of there, and then 
also a willful blindness instruction is not given. 

THE COURT:  Actually, in Global-Tech, it says the 
deliberate indifference is not the correct standard un-
der the second Number 2 headnote. 

MR. LAMKEN:  Roman II. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Roman III, under Headnote 2. 

THE COURT:  Well, let me read to you what I see 
in Headnote 2, and you can explain it to me.  “Induced 
infringement of a patent like contributory infringement 
requires knowledge that the induced acts constitute pa-
tent infringement.” 

You want me to read Headnote 3? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  No.  I’m sorry, not Headnote—
like the West note. 

MR. LAMKEN:  It’s the Supreme Court’s own 
numbering.  It’s above Roman III. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  So, it says, “Accordingly, we 
now hold that induced infringement under 271(b) re-
quires knowledge that the induced acts constituted pa-
tent infringement”; and then under Roman III, return-
ing to Pentalpha’s principal challenge, we agree that 
deliberate indifference to a known risk that a patent 
exists is not the appropriate standard under 271(b).”  
So—which requires knowledge.  So, 271(b) is a 
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knowledge standard, and the court says they agree that 
deliberate indifference is not the appropriate standard. 

THE COURT:  Do you think deliberate indiffer-
ence is a higher standard than reckless indifference, or 
a lower standard? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  It’s probably a higher standard 
than reckless indifference, but a lower standard than 
knowledge or willfulness. 

THE COURT:  So what would the—in that exam-
ple I gave you, what would the deliberate actions of the 
seller of the investment opportunity have taken to 
avoid learning of the falsity of the statements? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  I’m not completely familiar with 
the facts of the case, but if there—if they avoided read-
ing something or if they intentionally didn’t speak to 
someone about it or they ended the conversation if 
someone tried to talk to them about it, those types of 
things. 

THE COURT:  How ’bout the example I gave you 
of the drug courier who says, “I didn’t know what was 
in the package even though I was paid $500 to walk 
three blocks”? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  That is evidence of willful blind-
ness or knowledge because it— 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So what are the deliberate 
actions taken by that defendant? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  He didn’t ask any questions.  He 
took the $500— 

THE COURT:  That’s a non-action.  That’s not an 
action. 



130a 

 

MS. VAUGHAN: He accept $500 for carrying a 
suitcase five blocks.  He felt the weight of the suitcase 
and he didn’t open it.  He saw that maybe there was a 
false bottom to the suitcase and he didn’t open it.  He 
deliberately—it’s hard to just make things up, but I’m 
sure they could come up with some active steps that 
they took to avoid learning about it. 

THE COURT:  Which is why I don’t think the 
Eleventh Circuit is going to change this instruction.  
You don’t have to prove all that stuff.  If he got $500 to 
walk three blocks, he knows something is wrong about 
that package. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  But you still can’t say he was 
reckless.  That’s $500 to walk two blocks.  So the argu-
ment there would be he deliberately avoided—he was 
aware of a high probability that that suitcase contained 
drugs because he was in a terrible neighborhood.  He 
got the suitcase from a guy he didn’t know.  The guy he 
didn’t know said, “Just carry this two blocks, and I’ll 
pay you $500.” 

So, first he’s has the state of mind where he’s 
aware of a very high probability that that suitcase has 
drugs in it because why else would someone ask him to 
do that, and then deliberately avoiding learning of that 
fact could be simply not looking in the suitcase, not 
opening it up, not, you know, accepting the money and 
walking two blocks.  A jury could certainly, with that 
instruction, find the requisite elements of the crime, 
but the court would not instruct the jury that they 
could find that he recklessly disregarded whether the—
the suitcase had drugs in it, and that that could replace 
the knowledge requirement. 
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THE COURT:  How ’bout if we change it to say, 
“Or deliberately avoids learning of the truth and makes 
with the intent to defraud”? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Then you have a problem with 
the United States vs. Rivera, which says that you 
shouldn’t give a willful blindness or—a willful blindness 
instruction when the facts don’t support it, and that 
that invites the jury to use a lower standard rather 
than knowledge, and there is no evidence of deliberate 
avoidance of learning the facts, there’s no evidence 
that—and it would have to be the entire Global-Tech 
instruction, which then would be the willful blindness 
instruction, which is they were aware of a high proba-
bility that the fact existed that the 80/20 reports were 
false, and then they deliberately avoided learning that 
they were, in fact, false when there’s not any evidence 
in the case that suggests that that’s true.  There’s not 
been one bit of evidence that anyone avoided learning 
anything about the 80/20 reports or that they took any 
steps to avoid learning about it.  And United States vs. 
Rivera says under those circumstances, it’s inappropri-
ate to give a deliberate—a willful blindness instruction. 

THE COURT:  There’s no evidence that they de-
liberately avoided suing AHCA to find out the correct 
construction of the information due on the template? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  That’s not the—it would have to 
be deliberate avoidance of learning of the criminal com-
ponent, that the—in this case, as charged, that the 
80/20 reports were false. 

THE COURT:  No, deliberate avoidance of learn-
ing the truth. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  The knowledge—it’s—that goes 
to the knowingly and willfully either made a false 
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statement or defrauded the government, not just an-
other component of the case.  So, it has to be—the will-
ful blindness instruction would have to be they avoided; 
and under the facts of this case, learning that they had 
a high—a reason to believe there was a high probability 
that these documents had false information, and then 
they avoided—took active steps to avoid learning of 
that fact, the fact that’s the element of the crime, not 
just another fact in the case. 

THE COURT:  Had they had a financial audit from 
AHCA, they might have learned; right? 

MS. VAUGHAN:  A financial audit, like similar to 
what they did in 2005? 

THE COURT:  No. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Auditing the 2004? 

THE COURT:  No, they didn’t do a financial audit 
in 2004 or ’5, unless you’re suggesting that Carol Barr-
Platt is a financial auditor.  Good try. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  She was a lot of things, but—
the—I’m not following what—if they had done a finan-
cial audit? 

THE COURT:  Well, the issue is—do—am I going 
to hear an argument in closing arguments that these 
defendants didn’t know these statements were false be-
cause—and then fill in the blank?  Because— 

MS. VAUGHAN:  I think the argument is they did 
not believe they were false. 

THE COURT:  So, I’m not going to hear any type 
of argument that they had no information to believe it 
was false? 
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You know, the government can argue, depending 
on what the defendants argue, that had they disclosed 
their subcapitation more clearly and how they were 
claiming their expenses earlier, perhaps there would 
have been a financial audit and perhaps there then 
would have been a lawsuit one way or the other to de-
cide affirmatively what’s true and what’s not true. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  In this case, the—in the 
healthcare fraud, the—four charged executions of that 
healthcare fraud are four false statements.  So, in this 
particular instruction, what we’re dealing with is 
knowledge that the behavioral health expenditure in-
formation on the 80/20 report, as charged in those 
counts was false.  So, that really would be the only—in 
the context of what we’re talking about now, would be 
the only issue factual or legal, that we would deal with 
on these counts. 

THE COURT:  Well, that’s similar to the Alaskan 
oil lease example I gave you straight out of a case 
where they made statements to induce people making 
investments, making false statements about the in-
vestment, hat they claim they didn’t know were false, 
right?  It still goes to the knowledge of the falsity of the 
statement. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  It would.  And if they had an ap-
propriate instruction and those people did have no-
tice—and it does appear in that case took deliberate 
steps to avoid learning about it, if the jury could find 
that, then they could suppliant knowledge with willful 
blindness. 

But in this case, there’s no evidence of willful 
blindness.  There is evidence, certainly, that these peo-
ple did not believe they were doing anything wrong, 
and there’s evidence that they didn’t believe that the 
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statements were fraudulent or false in any way, but 
that’s not evidence that they avoided learning what 
was in the reports or how it was done or anything, and 
that they took—or that they were aware of a high 
probability, first, that there was anything wrong with 
them; and, second, that they avoided learning about the 
information. 

THE COURT:  All right.  I’m going to give the pat-
tern instruction unless the defense wants the word “de-
liberate” instead of “reckless.”  You’ve said “deliber-
ate’s” a higher standard.  I’m willing to give that. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  Preserving our objections, we 
would take—we would prefer the higher standard. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. VAUGHAN:  But we preserve our objections. 

THE COURT:  Then use the standard language, 
but change the word “reckless” to “deliberate.”  And 
then in the willfulness instruction, let’s use the Third 
Circuit instruction, which tracks the language of— 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  The willful blindness instruc-
tion, Judge? 

THE COURT:  If you’re asking for a willful blind-
ness instruction— 

MS. KRIGSMAN:  Yes, I am. 

THE COURT:  —then give the one that the Third 
Circuit has crafted after Global-Tech. 

* * *
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APPENDIX D 

JURY INSTRUCTIONS, UNITED STATES DIS-
TRICT COURT FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT 

OF FLORIDA, MAY 15, 2013 

* * * 

The word “knowingly” means that an act was done 
voluntarily and intentionally and not because of a mis-
take or by accident.  The word “willfully” means that 
the act was committed voluntarily and purposely with 
the intent to do something the law forbids, that is, with 
the bad purpose to disobey or disregard the law. 

While a person must have acted with the intent to 
do something the law forbids, before you can find 
that—that the person acted willfully, the person need 
not be aware of the specific law or rule that his conduct 
may be violating.  If a defendant’s knowledge of a fact 
is an essential part of a crime, it is enough that the de-
fendant was aware of a high probability that the fact 
existed and took deliberate action to avoid learning of 
the fact unless the defendant actually believed the fact 
did not exist. 

To give you an example from a different kind of 
case, deliberate avoidance of positive knowledge, which 
is the equivalent of knowledge, occurs in a drug case if 
a defendant possesses a package and believes it con-
tains a controlled substance but deliberately avoids 
learning that it contains the controlled substance so he 
or she can deny knowledge of the package’s contents. 

So, in such a case, the jury may find that a defend-
ant knew about the possession of a controlled substance 
if the jury determines beyond a reasonable doubt that 
the defendant, one, actually knew about the controlled 
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substance or, two, had every reason to know but delib-
erately closed his or her eyes. 

But I must emphasize that negligence, reckless-
ness, carelessness, or foolishness is not enough to prove 
that a defendant knew about the possession of the con-
trolled substance. 

* * * 

Counts 2 through 5 of the indictment charge each of 
the defendants with knowingly and willfully making a 
materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement and 
representation in connection with the delivery of and 
payment for healthcare benefits, items, or services.  
Specifically, the indictment charges submissions of false 
and fraudulent behavioral-health expenditure infor-
mation for Staywell and HealthEase in June of 2006, 
Counts 2 and 3; in April of 2007, Counts 4 and 5. 

A defendant can be found guilty of this offense only 
if all the following facts are proved beyond a reasonable 
doubt:  One, he made the statement as charged; two, 
the statement was false; three, the false—falsity con-
cerned a material matter; four, he acted willfully know-
ing that the statement was false; five, the false state-
ment was made in connection with the delivery of and 
payment for healthcare benefits, items, and services; 
and, 6, the false statement was made in a manner in-
volving a healthcare benefit program. 

I have previously defined for you the term “willful-
ly.”  A statement or representation is false, fictitious, or 
fraudulent when made if it is untrue when made and 
the person making it knows it is untrue. 

* * * 

Counts 6 through 9 of the indictment charge each of 
the defendants with knowingly and willfully executing 
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or attempting to execute a scheme or artifice to defraud 
a healthcare benefit program and to obtain by means of 
false and fraudulent pretenses and representations 
money under the custody and control of the healthcare 
benefit program. 

Specifically, the indictment alleges that defendants 
executed or attempted to execute a scheme to defraud 
the Florida Medicaid program by making submissions 
of false and fraudulent behavioral health expenditure 
information for Staywell and HealthEase in June of 
2006, Counts 6 and 7; and April of 2007, Counts 8 and 9. 

A defendant can be found guilty of this offense only 
if all the following facts are proved beyond a reasonable 
doubt:  One, he knowingly executed or attempted to 
execute a scheme or artifice to defraud a healthcare 
benefit program or to obtain money or property owned 
by or under the custody or control of a healthcare bene-
fit program by means of false or fraudulent pretenses 
and representations; two, the false or fraudulent pre-
tenses and representations related to a material fact; 
three, he acted willfully and intended to defraud; and, 
four, he did so in connection with the delivery of or 
payment for healthcare benefits, items, or services. 

* * * 

A scheme to defraud includes any plan or course of 
action intended to deceive or cheat someone out of 
money or property by using false or fraudulent pre-
tenses and representations relating to a material fact. 

A statement or representation is false or fraudu-
lent if it is about a material fact that the speaker knows 
is untrue or makes with deliberate indifference as to 
the truth and makes with intent to defraud. 
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A statement or representation may be false or 
fraudulent when it’s a half truth or effectively conceals 
a material fact and is made with the intent to defraud. 

* * * 

“To act with intent to defraud” means to do some-
thing with a specific intent to deceive or cheat someone 
and to deprive someone of money or property.  The 
government does not have to prove all the details al-
leged in the indictment about the precise nature and 
purpose of the scheme.  It also does not have to prove 
that the alleged scheme actually succeeded in defraud-
ing anyone.  What must be proved beyond a reasonable 
doubt is that each defendant knowingly attempted or 
carried out a scheme substantially similar to the one 
alleged in the indictment. 

* * * 




